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We implement policies and conduct regular compliance training designed to deter wrongdoing, promote honest and ethical
conduct, and ensure the accuracy of financial statements and public communications as well as compliance with applicable
governmental laws, rules, and regulations. However, there can be no assurance that all of our directors, management, and
employees will strictly abide by these rules and policies, or that we can effectively and timely deter, detect, and remedy all
misconduct. Any gross misconduct by our directors, management, and employees, including, but not limited to those in relation
to commercial, labor, employment, financial, operational, accounting, auditing or securities matters, may lead to investigations
and / or litigation and have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and harm its
reputation. We may not have sufficient insurance coverage to cover our business risks. We maintain insurance to cover its
potential exposure for claims and losses. However, our insurance coverage may be inadequate or unavailable to protect us fully,
and we may not be able to acquire any coverage for certain types of risks such as business liability or service disruptions, and
our coverage may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur, particularly with respect to loss of business or
operations. Any business disruption, litigation, regulatory action, outbreak of epidemic disease, or natural disaster could also
expose us to substantial costs and resource diversion. There can be no assurance that our existing insurance coverage will be
sufficient to prevent us from any loss or that we will be able to successfully claim our losses on a timely basis, or at all. If we
incur any loss that is not covered by its existing insurance policies, or the amount of compensation that it receives is
significantly less than its actual loss, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected. Any failure to protect the intellectual property rights of AGBA or its subsidiaries or to ensure the continuing
right to own, use or license all intellectual property required for its or their operations could impair AGBA’ s ability to protect its
proprietary technology and its brand. Our success and ability to compete depends in part upon its intellectual property. As of the
date of this report, our portfolio of intellectual property includes, primarily, domain names and trademarks. We are currently in
the process of re- branding its business, and as part of this exercise, we #s-are in the process of obtaining domain names and
trademark registrations for its new brands, such as “ AGBA ”, “ AGBA Focus ”, “ AGBA Perform ” and “ OnePlatform. ” We
primarily rely on copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality or license agreements
with our employees, customers, partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights. The steps that we take to secure,
protect, and enforce its current and future intellectual property rights may be inadequate. We may not be able to obtain any
further trademarks (including those for “ AGBA ” and “ OnePlatform ) or patents, our current intellectual property could be
invalidated, our competitors could design their products around our current technology, or we could lose access to third party
intellectual property on which we may rely. In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend
significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights
could be costly, time consuming and distracting to our management and could result in the impairment or loss of its intellectual
property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and
countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Accordingly, we may not be able to
prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating its intellectual property. Any failure to secure, protect and enforce
its intellectual property rights could substantially harm the value of our technology, products, brand, and business. We may not
be able to prevent others from unauthorized use of our intellectual property, which could harm our business and competitive
position. We regard our trademarks, domain names, trade secrets, and other intellectual property as critical to our business.
Unauthorized use of our intellectual property by third parties may adversely affect our business and reputation. We rely on a
combination of intellectual property laws and contractual arrangements to protect our proprietary rights. It is often difficult to
register, maintain, and enforce intellectual property rights in countries or regions with less developed regulatory regimes or
inconsistent and unreliable enforcement mechanisms. Sometimes laws and regulations are subject to interpretation and
enforcement and may not be applied consistently due to the lack of clear guidance on statutory interpretation. Legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in other countries are uncertain and
may afford little or no effective protection of our proprietary technology, and the risk of intellectual property misappropriation
may be higher in these countries. Consequently, we may be unable to prevent its proprietary technology from being infringed or
exploited abroad, which could affect its ability to expand into international markets or require costly efforts to protect its
technology. We are in the process of obtaining new domain names and trademark registrations in connection with its ongoing re-
branding efforts. Failure to promptly obtain such registrations or otherwise fully project such intellectual property may expose us
to intellectual property related risks, which may materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, our contractual agreements, including IP assignment arrangements in employment contracts, may be
breached by counterparties, and there may not be adequate remedies available to us for any such breach. Accordingly, we may
not be able to effectively protect its intellectual property rights or to enforce its contractual rights in Hong Kong, China, or other
jurisdictions in which we operate. Detecting and preventing any unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and
costly, and the steps has taken may be inadequate to prevent infringement or misappropriation of its intellectual property. If we
resort to litigation to enforce or protect its intellectual property rights, such litigation could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of its managerial and financial resources. There can be no assurance that we will prevail in such litigation. In addition,
our trade secrets may be leaked or otherwise become available to, or be independently discovered by, its competitors, and, in
that case, we would have no right to prevent others’ use of them. We may be subject to intellectual property infringement



claims, which may be expensive to defend and may disrupt its business and operations. There can be no certainty that the
operations or any aspects of our business do not or would not infringe upon or otherwise violate patents, copyrights, trademarks,
or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. We may be subject to penalties, legal proceedings, and claims relating
to the intellectual property rights of others. In addition, there may be other third- party intellectual property that is infringed by
our solutions, services, or other aspects of its business. There could also be intellectual property rights that we are not aware of
that our solutions or services may inadvertently infringe. To the extent that we seek to register any new intellectual property,
there can be no assurance that such applications will be approved, that any issued intellectual property rights would adequately
protect our intellectual property, or that such intellectual properties would not be challenged by third parties or found by
competent authority to be invalid or unenforceable. There can be no assurance that holders of patents purportedly relating to
some aspect of our technology platform or business, if any such holders exist, would not seek to enforce these patents against us
in Hong Kong, China, or any other jurisdictions. Furthermore, the application and interpretation of PRC patent laws and the
procedures and standards for granting patents in the PRC are still evolving and are uncertain, and there can be no assurance that
PRC courts or regulatory authorities would agree with our analysis. If we are found to have violated the intellectual property
rights of others, it may be subject to liability for its infringement activities or may be prohibited from using such intellectual
property, and it may incur licensing fees or be forced to develop alternatives of its own. In addition, we may incur significant
expenses, and may be forced to divert management’ s time and other resources from its business and operations to defend
against these third- party infringement claims, regardless of their merits. Successful infringement or licensing claims made
against us may result in significant monetary liabilities and may materially disrupt its business and operations by restricting or
prohibiting its use of the intellectual property in question, which may materially and adversely affect its business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Additionally, registering, managing, and enforcing intellectual property rights in the PRC is
often difficult. Statutory laws and regulations may not be applied consistently due to the lack of clear interpretation guidance.
We have registered for certain trademarks in Hong Kong, China, and Taiwan. However, third parties may file applications to
register the same or similar trademarks. In addition, third parties may object its registrations, and the relevant trademark
authority may not rule in our favor in such disputes. If our trademarks are revoked or otherwise canceled, we may be prohibited
from using those trademarks in its business operations, and we may need to change certain of its products logos, which may
have an adverse effect on its business and operations. We are party to a number of related party transactions, which may result in
interdependence or potential conflicts of interest. In the ordinary course of their business, our subsidiaries enter into transactions
with related parties. Related parties may be individuals (being members of key management personnel and / or their close family
members) or other entities and include entities which are under the significant influence of related parties of the Group and the
Legacy Group. Such interdependence may mean that any material adverse changes in the operations or financial condition of
related parties could adversely affect our results of operations. We expect that it will continue to enter into transactions with
related parties. While we employ strong corporate governance provisions and related party transaction policies that require such
transaction to be conducted on an arm’ s length basis, there can be no assurance that relevant government regulators will make
the same conclusion with respect to such transactions. Further, there can be no assurance that such related party transactions, if
questioned, will not have an adverse effect on our business or results of operations. We operate in a variety of heavily regulated
industries in Hong Kong and globally, which expose its business activities to risks of noncompliance with an increasing body of
complex laws and regulations. Due to the heavily regulated nature of the industries in which we operate, primarily the insurance,
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF), asset management and money lending industries, we are required to comply with a wide
array of Hong Kong laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the manner in which they conduct their businesses,
which of our operating entities can provide certain services, and the fees that they may charge. Governmental authorities and
various Hong Kong agencies, including, among others, the Insurance Authority, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority, the
Securities and Futures Commission, and the Inland Revenue Department, have broad oversight and supervisory authority over
us. Because of the financial services that we offer and deliver, we engage in the relevant service must be licensed in Hong Kong
as well as all relevant jurisdictions that require licensure and must comply with each such jurisdiction’ s respective laws and
regulations, as well as with judicial and administrative decisions applicable to it. Presently, in Hong Kong, we maintain
Insurance Broker Licenses, HKSFC Licenses, and Money Lenders Licenses, in addition to their business registrations with the
Hong Kong Companies Registry. In addition, these companies are currently subject to a variety of, and may in the future
become subject to additional, laws that are continuously evolving and developing, including laws on advertising as well as
privacy laws. These licensing requirements and other regulations directly impact our business and require ongoing compliance,
monitoring, and internal and external audits as they continue to evolve and may result in ever- increasing public scrutiny and
escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. Subsequent changes to data protection and privacy laws, for instance, could
impact how we process personal information, and therefore limit the effectiveness of its products or services or its ability to
operate or expand its business, including limiting strategic partnerships that may involve the sharing of personal information.
Both the scope of the laws and regulations and the intensity of the supervision to which we are subject have increased over time,
in response to financial crises as well as other factors such as technological and market changes. Regulatory enforcement and
fines have also increased across the financial services sector in Hong Kong and the other markets where we operate. Our
management expects that its business will remain subject to extensive regulation and supervision. These regulatory changes
could result in an increase in our regulatory compliance burden and associated costs and place restrictions on its operations. Our
failure to comply with applicable licensing requirements and relevant laws and regulations could lead to, among other things: @
loss of its licenses and approvals to engage in its businesses; ® damage to its reputation in the industry; @ governmental
investigations and enforcement actions; ® administrative fines and penalties and litigation; e civil and criminal liability,
including class action lawsuits; ® increased costs of doing business; ® diminished ability to sell financial products; e inability to
raise capital; and e inability to execute on its business strategy, including its growth plans. As applicable licensing requirements



and laws evolve, it may be more difficult for our management to identify these developments comprehensively, to interpret
changes accurately, and to train our employees effectively with respect to these laws and regulations. These difficulties
potentially increase our exposure to the risks of noncompliance with these licensing requirements, laws, and regulations, which
could be detrimental to its business. In addition, a failure to adequately vet and supervise our clients, service providers and
vendors, to the extent they are covered by such licensing requirements, laws, and regulations, may also have these negative
results. To resolve issues raised in examinations or other governmental actions, we or certain of our subsidiaries may be required
to take various corrective actions, including changing certain business practices, making refunds or taking other actions that
could be financially or competitively detrimental to it. Our management expects to continue to incur costs to comply with
governmental regulations. In addition, certain legislative actions and judicial decisions can give rise to the initiation of lawsuits
against us for activities that it has conducted in the past. We have been, and its management expects it to continue to be, subject
to regulatory enforcement actions and private causes of action from time to time with respect to its compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. Although we have systems and procedures directed to comply with these legal and regulatory
requirements, there can be no assurance that more restrictive laws and regulations will not be adopted in the future, or that
governmental bodies or courts will not interpret existing laws or regulations in a more restrictive manner, which could render its
current business practices non- compliant or which could make compliance more difficult or expensive. Any of these, or other,
changes in laws or regulations could have a detrimental effect on us and its results of operations. We are subject to evolving
regulatory requirements, and failure to comply with these regulations or to adapt to regulatory changes could materially and
adversely affect its operations, business, and prospects. Many of our aspects, including brokerage and technology services to
individual investors, banks, and insurance companies, insurance loss adjustment services, online publication services relating to
financial product information, facilitating consumer lending products for banks and online small loan companies, managing and
distributing various asset management products, and electronic certification services are subject to supervision and regulation by
various governmental authorities in Hong Kong or in other jurisdictions where we operate. As we continue to expand its
solutions and product offerings, the group may be subject to new and more complex regulatory requirements. We are also
required to comply with applicable laws and regulations in relevant jurisdictions to protect the privacy and security of its
customers’ information. Legal and regulatory restrictions may delay, or possibly prevent, some of our solutions or services from
being offered, which may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. Violation
of laws and regulations may also result in severe penalties, confiscation of illegal income, revocation of licenses and, under
certain circumstances, criminal prosecution. For example, the regulatory framework governing financial technology services is
unclear and evolving. New laws or regulations may be promulgated, which could impose new requirements or prohibitions that
render our current operations or technologies non- compliant. In addition, due to uncertainties and complexities of the regulatory
environment, it cannot be assured that regulators will interpret laws and regulations the same way as we do, or that we will
always be in full compliance with applicable laws and regulations. To remedy any violations, we may be required to modify its
business models, solutions, and technologies in ways that render its solutions less appealing to potential customers. We may also
become subject to fines or other penalties, or, if we determine that the requirements to operate in compliance are overly
burdensome, it may elect to terminate potentially non- compliant operations. In each such case, our business, financial condition
and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. We may be adversely affected by the complexity,
uncertainties, and changes in regulation of internet- related businesses and companies, and any lack of requisite approvals,
licenses, or permits applicable to our business may have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. The
Hong Kong government extensively regulates the internet industry, including foreign ownership of, and the licensing and permit
requirements pertaining to, companies in the industry. These internet- related laws and regulations are relatively new and
evolving, and their interpretation and enforcement involve significant uncertainties. As a result, in certain circumstances it may
be difficult to determine what actions or omissions may be deemed to be in violation of applicable laws and regulations. The
interpretation and application of existing Hong Kong laws, regulations and policies, and possible new laws, regulations, or
policies, including those relating to the internet industry, have created substantial uncertainties regarding the legality of existing
and future foreign investments in, and our businesses and activities. There can be no assurance that we have obtained all the
permits or licenses required for conducting its business or that it will be able to maintain or update its existing licenses or obtain
new ones. If a government authority considers that we were operating without the proper approvals, licenses, or permits or
promulgates new laws and regulations that require additional approvals or licenses or imposes additional restrictions on the
operation of any part of its business, it may levy fines, confiscate our income, revoke its business licenses, and / or require us to
discontinue its relevant business or impose restrictions on the affected portion of its business. Any of these actions may have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of Hong
Kong laws and regulations could limit the legal protections available to us and our investors. Hong Kong laws and regulations
concerning the internet- related and financial services industries are developing and evolving. Although we have taken measures
to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to its business operations and to avoid conducting any non- compliant
activities under these laws and regulations, governmental authorities may promulgate new laws and regulations regulating the
internet- related and financial services industries. There can be no assurance that our operations would not be deemed to violate
any such new laws or regulations. Moreover, developments in the internet- related industries and financial services industry may
lead to changes in existing laws, regulations, and policies in Hong Kong, or in the interpretation and application of existing
laws, regulations, and policies, which in turn may limit or restrict us and could materially and adversely affect its business and
operations. Fluctuations in exchange rates could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and the price of the
Company’ s shares. The value of the Hong Kong dollar against the U. S. Dollar and other currencies may fluctuate and is
affected by, among other things, changes in political and economic conditions in Hong Kong and China and by Hong Kong and
China’ s foreign exchange policies. Presently, the value of the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the U. S. Dollar. However, on



July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade- old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U. S. Dollar, and
the Renminbi appreciated more than 20 % against the U. S. Dollar over the following three years. Between July 2008 and June
2010, this appreciation halted and the exchange rate between the Renminbi and the U. S. Dollar remained within a narrow band.
Since June 2010, the Renminbi has fluctuated against the U. S. Dollar, at times significantly and unpredictably. On November
30, 2015, the Executive Board of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) completed the regular five- year review of the basket
of currencies that make up its Special Drawing Rights, or the SDR, and decided that with effect from October 1, 2016, the
Renminbi is considered to be a freely usable currency and will be included in the SDR basket as a fifth currency, along with the
U. S. Dollar, the Euro, the Japanese yen and the British pound. With the development of the foreign exchange market and
progress towards interest rate liberalization and Renminbi internationalization, the PRC government may announce further
changes to its exchange rate system. Given the political uncertainty surrounding Hong Kong, there can be no assurance that the
Hong Kong dollar will remain pegged to the U. S. Dollar and that it will not appreciate or depreciate significantly in value
against the U. S. Dollar in the future. It is difficult to predict how market forces or Hong Kong, PRC, or U. S. government
policies may affect the exchange rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the U. S. Dollar in the future. Substantially all of our
revenue and costs are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Any significant revaluation of the Hong Kong dollar may have a
material and adverse effect on an investment in the Company. For example, to the extent that the Company needed to convert U.
S. Dollars received from the Business Combination or other capital markets transactions or borrowings outside Hong Kong into
Hong Kong dollars for operations, appreciation of the Hong Kong dollar against the U. S. Dollar would have an adverse effect
on the amount the Company would receive from the conversion. Conversely, if the Company decided to convert its Hong Kong
dollars into U. S. Dollars for the purpose of making payments for dividends on its ordinary shares or for other business
purposes, appreciation of the U. S. Dollar against the Hong Kong dollar would have a negative effect on the U. S. Dollar
amount available to the company. We face risks related to natural disasters, health epidemics, civil and social disruption and
other outbreaks, which could significantly disrupt its operations. We are vulnerable to natural disasters and other calamities.
Fire, floods, typhoons, earthquakes, power losses, telecommunications failures, break- ins, wars, riots, terrorist attacks, strikes,
civil or social disruption (including protests in Hong Kong in June 2019) or similar events may give rise to server or service
interruptions, breakdowns, system failures, technology platform failures, employee issues, or internet failures, which could
cause the loss or corruption of data or malfunctions of software or hardware, as well as adversely affect our ability to maintain
its financial platform and provide its solutions to customers. Our business could also be adversely affected by the effects of
COVID- 19, Ebola virus disease, Zika virus disease, various forms of influenza, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome or SARS,
or other epidemics. Our business, results of operations, financial conditions, and prospects could also be adversely affected to
the extent that any natural disasters, health epidemics, civil and social disruption and other outbreaks harm the Hong Kong,
Chinese, or global economy in general. Russia’ s invasion of Ukraine may present risks to our operations and investments.
Russia’ s recent military interventions in Ukraine have led to, and may lead to, additional sanctions being levied by the United
States, European Union and other countries against Russia. Russia’ s military incursion and the resulting sanctions could
adversely affect global energy and financial markets and thus could affect the value of our investments, even though we do not
have any direct exposure to Russia or the adjoining geographic regions. The extent and duration of the military action, sanctions,
and resulting market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could be substantial. Any such disruptions caused by Russian
military action or resulting sanctions may magnify the impact of other risks described in this section. We cannot predict the
progress or outcome of the situation in Ukraine, as the conflict and governmental reactions are rapidly developing and beyond
their control. Prolonged unrest, intensified military activities, or more extensive sanctions impacting the region could have a
material adverse effect on the global economy, and such effect could in turn have a material adverse effect on our operations,
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and business outlook. Risks Related to Our Shares Our share price has been,
and could continue to be, volatile. There has been significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of equity
securities, which may be unrelated to the financial performance of the companies issuing the securities. These broad market
fluctuations could negatively affect the market price of our stock. The market price and volume of our ordinary shares could
fluctuate, and in the past has fluctuated, more dramatically than the stock market in general. During the 12 months ended
December 31, 2022-2023 , the market price of our ordinary shares has ranged from a high of $ 45 . 65-25 per share fen
Nevember3;2022)t0 a low of $ +0 . 54-37 per share fenrPeeember30;2622)- Sharcholders may not be able to resell their
shares at or above the price they paid for them due to fluctuations in the market price of our stock caused by changes in our
operating performance or prospects or other factors. Some factors, in addition to the other risk factors identified above, that
could have a significant effect on our stock market price include, but are not limited to, the following: e actual or anticipated
fluctuations in our operating results or future prospects; ® our announcements or our competitors’ announcements of new
services; ® the public’ s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC; e strategic
actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings; ® new laws or regulations or new interpretations of
existing laws or regulations applicable to our business; ® changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or
principles; ® changes in our growth rates or our competitors’ growth rates; ® developments regarding our patents or proprietary
rights or those of our competitors; ® our inability to raise additional capital as needed; ® concerns or allegations as to the safety
or efficacy of our products; @ changes in financial markets or general economic conditions; @ sales of shares by us or members
of our management team, our significant shareholders, or certain institutional shareholders; and ® changes in stock market
analyst recommendations or earnings estimates regarding our stock, other comparable companies or our industry generally.
Shareholders could experience substantial dilution of their investment as a result of future sales of our equity, subsequent
exercises of our outstanding warrants and options, or the future grant of equity by us. We may choose to raise additional capital
from time to time, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. To the extent that we
raise additional funds through the future sale of equity or convertible securities, the issuance of such securities will result in



dilution to our stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional ordinary shares, or securities convertible or
exchangeable into ordinary shares, in future transactions may be higher or lower than the price per ordinary share paid by
investors in the offering. Investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could have rights superior to existing
stockholders. In addition, shareholders could experience substantial dilution of their investment as a result of subsequent
exercises of outstanding warrants, or the grant of future equity- based awards. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , an aggregate of
1,946-309 , 166-728 ordinary shares were reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans, and 4, 825, 000 ordinary
shares were subject to warrants at an exercise $ 11. 50 per share. To the extent that outstanding warrants are exercised, our
existing shareholders could experience dilution. We rely on equity awards to motivate current employees and to attract new
employees. The grant of future equity awards by us to our employees and other service providers could further dilute our
shareholders’ interests in the Company. Because we do not intend to pay cash dividends, our stockholders will benefit from an
investment in our ordinary shares only if it appreciates in value. We intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the
expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, the success of an
investment in our ordinary shares will depend entirely upon any future appreciation. There is no guarantee that our ordinary
shares will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our shareholders purchased their shares. If securities or
industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and
trading volume could decline. The trading market for our ordinary shares will depend on the research and reports that securities
or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. There can be no assurance
that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or
change their opinion of our stock, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of the
Company or fail to regularly publish reports on the Company, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could
cause our share price or trading volume to decline. ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS Not applicable. ITEM 1C.
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy We identify and assess material risks from cybersecurity threats to our
information systems and the information residing in our information systems by monitoring and evaluating our threat
environment on an ongoing basis using various methods including, for example, using manual and automated tools,
subscribing to reports and services that identify cybersecurity threats, analyzing reports of threats and threat actors,
conducting scans of the threat environment, and conducting risk assessments. We manage material risks from
cybersecurity threats to our information systems and the information residing in our information systems through
various processes and procedures, including, depending on the environment, risk assessments, incident detection and
response, vulnerability management, disaster recovery and business continuity plans, internal controls within our
accounting and financial reporting functions, encryption of data, network security controls, access controls, physical
security, asset management, systems monitoring, and employee training. We engage third- party service providers to
provide some of the resources used in our information systems and some third- party service providers have access to
information residing in our information systems. With respect to such third parties, we seek to engage reliable, reputable
service providers that maintain cybersecurity programs. Depending on the nature and extent of the services provided,
the sensitivity and quantity of information processed, and the identity of the service provider, our processes may include
conducting due diligence on the cybersecurity practices of such provider and contractually imposing cybersecurity
related obligations on the provider. We are not aware of any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of
any cybersecurity incidents, which have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect AGBA, including
our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. Refer to “ Part I, Item 1A — Risk Factors — Risks
Factor Relating to AGBA’ s business — Unexpected network interruptions, security breaches, cyberattack or computer
virus attacks, and failures in AGBA’ s information technology systems, could have a material adverse effect on AGBA’ s
business, financial condition, and results of operations ” in this Form 10- K for additional discussion about
cybersecurity- related risks. Cybersecurity Governance Our Board of Directors holds oversight responsibility over
AGBA’ s risk management and strategy, including material risks related to cybersecurity threats. This oversight is
executed directly by our board of directors and through its committees. Our audit committee oversees the management
of AGBA’ s major financial risk exposures, the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures, and
the process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken and handled, which would include cybersecurity
risks, in accordance with its charter. The audit committee holds regular meetings and receives periodic reports from
management regarding risk management, including major financial risk exposures from cybersecurity threats or
incidents. Within management, the Group Chief Information Officer of our business units are primarily responsible for
assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats on a day- to- day basis and keep the senior
executive officers informed on a regular basis of the identification, assessment, and management of cybersecurity risks
and of any cybersecurity incidents. Such management personnel have prior experience and training in managing
information systems and cybersecurity matters and participate in ongoing training programs. As of the date hereof, the
Company has not encountered cybersecurity incidents that the Company believes to have been material to the Company
taken as a whole. ITEM 2. PROPERTIES AGBA’ s headquarters in Hong Kong is located at AGBA Tower, 68 Johnston
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, which cover approximately 40, 000 square feet pursuant to an operating lease in a term of 6 years
that will expire in 2026. The lease agreement for the building, between Viewbest Investments Limited (Viewbest), as landlord,
and Legacy Group, was executed on June 14, 2019. While we are not the party to the AGBA Tower lease agreement, we are
currently occupying space in the building. We believe our current facility is suitable and adequate to meet our current needs.
AGBA also owns twe-an office premises located at One Island South, No. 2 Heung Yip Road, Hong Kong for rental
purpose. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we sold our office premise located at Kaiseng Commercial Centre, No

4 & 6, Hankow Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong to and-- an independent third party One-lsland-Seuth; Ne—2Heung—¥ipRoad;



HengKong-for rental-purpese-a purchase price of $ 6. 13 million . [ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS From time to time, the
Company may be subject to various legal proceedings, investigations, or claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business
activities. Except for the proceeding below, the Company is not currently a party to any other legal proceedings the outcome of
which, if determined adversely to the Company, would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on its
business, financial condition, and results of operations. Action Case: HCA702 /2018 On March 27, 2018, the writ of summons
was issued against the Company and seven related companies of the former shareholder by the Plaintiff. This action alleged the
infringement of certain registered trademarks currently registered under the Plaintiff. Subsequent to the year ended December
31,2022-2023 , in February 2023, the Court granted leave for this action be set down for trial of 13 days, which the period has
yet to be fixed. Legal counsel of the Company will continue to handle in this matter. At this stage in the proceedings, it is unable
to determine the probability of the outcome of the matter or the range of reasonably possible loss, if any. Action Case: HCA765
/2019 On April 30, 2019, the writ of summons was issued against the Company’ s subsidiary, three related companies and the
former directors, shareholders and financial consultant by the Plaintiff. This action alleged the deceit and misrepresentation
from an inducement of the fund subscription and claimed for compensatory damage of approximately $ 2 million (equal to HK $
17. 1 +mithen— million ). The case is on- going and the parties have yet to attempt mediation. Legal counsel of the Company
will continue to handle in this matter. At this stage in the proceedings, it is unable to determine the probability of the outcome of
the matter or the range of reasonably possible loss, if any. Action Case: HCA 2097 /2020 and HCA 2098 /2020 On December
15, 2020, the writs of summons were issued against the Company and the former consultant by the Plaintiff. This action alleged
the misrepresentation and conspiracy causing the loss from the investment in corporate bond and claimed for compensatory
damage of approximately $ 1. 67 million (equal to HK $ 13 million). The Company previously made $ 0. 84 million as
contingency loss for the year ended December 31, 2024-2022 . The parties participated in a mediation held on March 25, 2022
and negotiated for settlement through without prejudice correspondence, no settlement was reached. Fhere—- The case is antp-
eoming-ease-management-hearing-on - gomg Fuly25;2023-and legal counsel of the Company will continue to handle this
matter. At this stage in the proceedings, it is unable to determine the probability of the outcome of the matter or any further
potential loss, if any . Action Case: HCA 1957 / 2023 On December 15, 2023, the Company received an order from the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, demanding the Company to pay and settle the outstanding
rent / mesne profit, management fees, air- conditioning charges, additional air- conditioning charges, government rates
and interest in an aggregated amount of $ 1, 383, 424 (equivalent to HK $ 10, 799, 560) to the landlord of the office
premises in four instalments scheduled from January 15, 2024 to March 31, 2024, together with legal costs of $ 6, 405
(equivalent to HK $ 50, 000) . I[TEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Not Applicable. PART II ITEM 5. MARKET FOR
REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES We completed the Business Combination with AAL on November 14, 2022. Prior to that date, and before the
completion of the Business Combination with AAL, the units, ordinary shares, warrants, and rights of AAL traded on the
Nasdaq under the ticker symbols “ AGBAU, ” “ AGBA, ” “ AGBAW, ” and “ AGBAR, ” respectively. After the completion of
the Business Combination, the post- combination company has been renamed “ AGBA Group Holding Limited ™ and its
ordinary shares and warrants began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on November 15, 2022 under the ticker symbols
AGBA 7 and “ AGBAW, ” respectively. Holders of Record As of December 31, 2023 I-nﬂﬁedi-&tely—a—ffefgﬂﬁﬁg—effeet—te—t-he
Business-Combination—, we had 58-68 , 376-661 , 985-998 ordinary shares issued and outstanding, and 4, 825, 000 warrants
outstanding. As of March +6-26 , 2623-2024 , there were 21 appreximately+9-registered holders of record of our ordinary shares
and ene-two registered holder of record of our warrants. Such numbers do not include beneficial owners holding our securities
through nominee names. The actual number of holders of our ordinary share and warrants may be greater than our record
holders. Dividends We have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends
in the immediate future. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of our business and to potentially repay any indebtedness and, therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board, subject to compliance
with covenants in current and future agreements governing our and our subsidiaries’ indebtedness, and will depend on our
results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors that our board may deem relevant. Purchases of
Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers There were no purchases of equity securities by the issuer or affiliated
purchasers, as defined in Rule 10b- 18 (a) (3) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, during the-fourth-quarterofour fiscal year
ended December 31, 26222023 . On November 7, 2023, we entered into private placement binding term sheets with an
institutional investor, our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ng Wing Fai, and our management team pursuant to which we
will receive gross proceeds of approximately $ 5, 128, 960, in consideration of (i) 7, 349, 200 ordinary shares of our
ordinary shares, and (ii) warrants to purchase up to 1, 469, 840 ordinary shares at a purchase price of $ 0. 70 per
ordinary share and associated warrants. As of December 31, 2023, the Company received the proceeds of $ 1, 850, 310.
The Company has not completed the shares issuance as of the date of this annual report. On April 18, 2023, our Board of
Directors approved the repurchase of 1, 000, 000 ordinary shares (the “ 2023 Share Repurchase Program ). Under the
2023 Share Repurchase Program, we are authorized to re- purchase up to 1, 000, 000 ordinary shares at a maximum
price of $ 10 per share from the open market, for a term of one year, no later than April 18, 2024 . Recent Sale of
Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds There have been no other unregistered sales of equity securities during the year
ended December 31, 2822-2023 , which have not been previously disclosed on a Current Report on Form 8- K. Securities
Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans The following table provides information as of December 31, 2022
2023 with respect to the shares of the Company’ s ordinary shares that may be issued under the AGBA Group Holding Limited
Share Award Scheme. Plan Category Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights
(a) Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights (b) Number of securities remaining available for



future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (¢) Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 1 ——=5-, 729-656 , 297270 2. 47 1, 309, 728 Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — — — Total 1 =5-, 729-656 , 297-270 2. 47 1, 309, 728 Performance Graph We are a *“ smaller reporting
company, ” as defined by Item 10 (f) (1) of Regulation S- K, and therefore are not required to provide the information required
by paragraph (e) of Item 201 of Regulation S- K. ITEM 6. [ Reserved ] ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS The following discussion and analysis
provides information which our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our results of operations
and financial condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward- looking statements based upon our current
expectations, estimates and projections, and involves numerous risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially
from those contained in any forward- looking statements due to, among other considerations, the matters discussed in the
sections titled “ Risk Factors ”” and “ Special Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. ”” Overview We are a leading one-
stop financial supermarket based in Hong Kong servicing over 400, 000 individual and corporate customers. We offer the
broadest set of financial services and healthcare products in the Guangdong- Hong Kong- Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA)
through a tech- led ecosystem, enabling clients to unlock the choices that best suit their needs. We currently operate four major
areas of businesses, comprising of: 1. Distribution Business: The Group’ s powerful financial advisor business is the largest in
the market, it engages in the personal financial advisory business (including advising and sales of a full range of financial
services products including long- term life insurance, savings and mortgages), with additional internal and external channels
being developed and added. 2. Platform Business: The Group operates as a “ financial supermarket ” offering over 1, 800
financial products to a large universe of retail and corporate customers. 3. Healthcare Business: Through the Group’ s 4 % stake
in and a strategic partnership with HCMPS, operating as one of the largest healthcare management organizations in the Hong
Kong and Macau region, with over 800 doctors in its network. Established in 1979, it is one of the most reputed healthcare
brands in Hong Kong. 4. Fintech Business: The Group has an ensemble of leading FinTech assets and businesses in Europe and
Hong Kong. In addition to financial gains, the Group also derives substantial knowledge transfers from its investee companies,
supporting the development and growth of the Group’ s new business models. Distribution Business The Distribution Business
comprises a variety of captive financial services distribution channels. We have built a market leading financial advisors
distribution channel in Hong Kong. We have also built other distribution channels alongside our market leading financial
advisors business. Our combined captive distribution channels enable us to directly access one of the largest pools of customers
accessible to independent financial services providers in Hong Kong. Channel Description Financial Advisors Business (“ FA
Business ) “ Focus ” is engaged in the distribution of life insurance, asset management, property- casualty and Mandatory
Provident Fund products through its teams of independent financial advisors (brokers). Alternative Distribution Business A
collection of distribution channels, including salaried financial planners targetrng HN Wl development teams pursurng corporate
partnershrps and 1ncubat1ng ﬁnancral advtsefs— adv1s0r teams —Dig 6 g

v etstomers-. Our largest drstrrbut10n channel is the FA
Business, operatrng under the brand name F ocus. W1th its large salesforce of financial advisors, “ Focus ” provides a wide range
of financial products and independent advisory services to individual and corporate customers, primarily in connection with life
insurance products. Our FA Business has been the clear market leader in the insurance brokerage industry in Hong Kong for
decades, building up a large and highly productive salesforce. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , there were around 1, 666-231
financial advisors at “ Focus ”, organized into 32-26 sales teams. Each team is led by a *“ tree head ”, responsible for managing
the financial advisors within their teams. In addition to the FA Business, during2622;-we continued to expanded--- expand our
distribution footprint with the establishment and expansion of a number of additional distribution channels, collectively known
as our Alternative Distribution Business. These drstrrbut10n channels are targeted at spec1ﬁc customer segments and / or
capturing specific distribution opportunities. v siness he d o
distribution-ehannels-and-eapabilities—During %92%2023 we contrnued to make srgnrﬁcant investments into developrng and
expanding our financial advisors salesforce, broadening and deepening the product range, as well as upgrading the supporting
infrastructure. Our infrastructure not only supports the financial consultants in engaging with their customers, it also provides
extensive operational support in relation to the processing of transactions, associated payment flows, as well as after- sales
services. Building our infrastructure required substantial investments into technological, operational and financial systems, as
well as the development of comprehensive operational and support teams (operations support, customer services, payments,
etc.). Since many of the financial products offered to our customers are regulated, on top of the various operational
requirements, we have built significant internal capabilities in the areas of risk and internal control, as well as legal and
compliance to ensure an appropriate level of regulatory compliance and supervision. As a result of our efforts to expand our
distribution capabilities and improve our supporting infrastructure, we have successfully developed these inter- related strategic
assets: ® Vast customer base in Hong Kong and growing customer base in Mainland China. e State- of- the- art supporting
infrastructure. ® Relationships with and access to a broad range of leading global financial product providers. ® Deep market
knowledge and understanding. ® Highly productive and well- trained salesforce. We will continue to capitalize on these core
strategic assets and match them with the emerging opportunities in our three core industries (life insurance, wealth management
and healthcare). For the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company made $ 24-48 . 6-9 million from commission in the
Distribution Business. The revenue attributed to the Company during 2622-2023 only captured an insignificant portion of the
revenues actually generated by the financial advisors currently associated with Focus. We Ypen-the-re—opening-of China
Berderswe-will continue to widen our distribution footprint and actively explore further opportunities to develop partnerships
and generate customer leads on the ground in Mainland China, as well as refining our abilities to service our customer base. We
expect sales volumes to return to the levels previously recorded, prior to the pandemic period, especially with the re- opening of




the Mainland border and the ongoing integration of Hong Kong into the Greater Bay area. The Platform business, through OPH
and its subsidiaries, is a one- stop financial supermarket with a breadth of products and services that is unrivaled in Hong Kong
sourced from leading global product providers. The Platform Business was set up to take advantage of the decades- long
experience we built up in supporting the largest financial advisors salesforce in Hong Kong. We were already servicing a large
pool of customers and in the process, built up a wide library of world class financial products and constructed a state- of- the- art
technological and operational infrastructure. The Platform Business now operates this full- service platform under its
OnePlatform ” brand and has opened it up to banks, other financial institutions, family offices, brokers, and individual
independent financial advisors that are looking for support in advising and serving their retail clients. Our technology- enabled
Platform Business offers a wide range of financial products, covering life insurance, pensions, property- casualty insurance,
stock brokerage, mutual funds, money lending and real estate agency. In addition to its unrivaled product- shelf, the Platform
Business offers digital- enabled sales management and support solutions, business operations support, comprehensive customer
services, and training support. Currently, our platform financial services and investment products mainly comprise mutual fund
distributions, portfolio management, money lendlng, insurance and Mandatory Provrdent Fund (MPF) products and
mternatronal real estate referral and brokerage services ras-diseussed-below: ; 5

ﬁf—rea-l—esf&te—prejeefs— The OnePlatform brand currently covers 44-90 insurance prov1der§ %elhng 65—7—1 152 productq and 40
53 asset management fund houses with over 1, 686-137 products. FinteehBusiness-The Fintech Business has collected an
ensemble of valuable fintech assets in its investment portfolio. Fintech Business’ management team has strived to establish the
business as a leading name in the fintech investment sector. Core Fintech investments held under the Fintech Business as of
December 31, 28222023 include: 1. An investment in Tandem Money Limited, a UK digital bank. 2. An investment in
CurrencyFair Limited, a B2B and B2C payments company. 3. An investment in Oscar Health Inc., a US direct- to- consumer
digital health insurer. 4. An investment in Goxip Inc., a fashion media platform based in Hong Kong. 5. An investment in LC
Healthcare Fund I, L. P., a PRC healthcare and healthtech investment fund. Carrying amount in US $ thousands (1) December
31,2622-2023 December 31, 26242022 Tandem Money Limited 16, 880 16, 031 ++5-9H42-CurrencyFair Limited 5, 827 5, 718 5;
#96-Oscar Health Inc. (2) — 2, 443 #795-Goxip Inc. 342 513 52H-LC Healthcare Fund I, L. P. (3) 2, 152 11, 805 —Notes:
(1) Carrying amount represents Fintech’ s attributable interest in the investment portfolio asset. :Phe—F-rﬂteeh—Bmtﬂess—preﬁeﬂs
nvestmentsinelade-(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company partially sold 993, 108 shares of Oscar
Health Inc. on Nasdaq Stock Exchange with an investmentinNatmeg-average current market price of $ 4. 01 per share ,
resulting with o Bk—based-digital-wealth-managerrealized gain of $ 1. 5 million. As of December 31 feeused—2023 the
remaining fair value was less than $ 1, 000. (3) Subsequent on February 5 6 : : o
serviees—Trdune 20212024 | JPMergan-Chase-eomplete-the Company sold all of its equlty mterest in LC -}(-)(-)%aeqtnst&en
of Nutmeg—Healthcare Business-Fund I, L. P. to an independent third party for a purchase price of $ 2. 15 million. We
currently hold a 4 % equity stake in HCMPS, one of the leading healthcare management organizations in Hong Kong. Founded
in 1979 and currently operating under the Dr. Jones Fok & Associates Medical Scheme Management Limited (“ JFA ) brand,
JFA is one of the most reputed healthcare brands in Hong Kong. It has four self- operated medical centres and a network of over
700 healthcare service providers — providing healthcare schemes for more than 500 corporate clients with over 300, 000 scheme
members. JEA’ s clients include blue chip companies from various industry and leading insurers. Apart from Hong Kong, JFA
is the largest operator in Macau with around 70 clinics. JFA operates a city- wide medical network that includes 340 general
practitioners (“ GP ), 11 laboratories and imaging centers, 273 specialist doctors, 25 physiotherapy centers, 12 Chinese
medicine practitioner clinics, all based in Hong Kong, and 69 GP clinics in Macau. Over 380, 000 out- patient and in- patient
visits are recorded annually through HCMPS’ s medical network. JFA offers its patients a full range of medical services,
including general services, specialist services, physiotherapy, Chinese medicine, dental, vaccination, X- ray, laboratories and
imaging services. We believe that the future of healthcare is in “ Smart Health ”” — technology that offers improved patient- care
management and leverages data as the new tool for solving complex healthcare challenges with reduced operating costs. We
will focus on technology / digitalization and consumerization of healthcare to create an ecosystem empowering customers to
proactively manage their health and well- being and to improve their access to healthcare at a lower cost — with connectivity
across the care continuum. We believe that JFA has the captive customer base, infrastructure and product / service offerings to
optimize customer experience to further grab market share. We are currently working to transform JFA into the best medical
care institution in Asia by 2025, redefining industry standards in the Greater Bay Area and offering market- leading customer
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ﬁpef&t—teﬂ—Key Factors Affectmg Our Results of Operatlons and F uture Performance We beheve that our financial performance
has been, and in the foreseeable future will continue to be, primarily driven by multiple factors as described below, each of
which presents growth opportunities for our business. These factors also pose important challenges that we must successfully
address in order to sustain our growth and improve our results of operations. Our ability to successfully address these challenges
is subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10- K. Key Components of
Results of Operations Currently, we are operating the below business segments and generating operating revenue streams as
follows: Segments Operating Revenues from Major Business Activities Distribution Business- Facilitating the placement of
insurance, investment, real estate and other financial products and services to our customers, through licensed brokers, in
exchange for initial and ongoing commissions received from product provrders mcludmg insurance companies, fund houses and
other product specialists. Platform Business fn-exehange misston es— Providing access to
financial products and services to licensed brokers.- Pr ovrdmg oper: atronal support for the submission and processing of product
applications.- Providing supporting tools for commission calculations, customer engagement, sales team management, customer
conversion, etc.- Providing training resources and materials.- Facilitating the placement of investment products for the fund and
/ or product provider, in exchange for the fund management services- Providing the lending services whereby the Company
makes secured and / or unsecured loans to creditworthy customers- Solicitation of real estate sales for the developers, in
exchange for commissions Fintech Business- Managing an ensemble of fintech investments Healthcare Business- Managing
healthcare investmentAll of the Company’ s revenues were generated in Hong Kong. Operating Revenue and Other GainLoss
¥We have disaggregated our operating revenue from contracts with customers into categories based on the nature of the
revenue, as well as other gairs-losses 3-from our investment portfolio. The following table presents the revenue streams by
segments, with the presentation of revenue categories presented on the consohdated statements of operatrons for the years
mdrcated For the year ended December 31 %92%2023 tstrib nrBusiness# P atformBus A ssHealthea

Business Platform Busmess F mtech Busmess Healthcare Busmess Total lnterest income Loans $ $ 96-1—157 52—2—190 $-3-%
961157 , 522-190 Non- interest incomes: Commissions 929-48 .| 886 5554-, 238-928 1 . 182 678—5-, +68-008-- 50 , 233-068,
936 Recurring asset management service fee-fees - 5-3 , 338-963 , 848-061 -- 5-3 , 338-963 , 848-061--- Total revenues $ 929;
555516539048 48 $—$-—$1H-, 468-886 , 603-928 $ 5, 302, 259 $- $- $ 54, 189, 187 Investment loss, net $- $- $ (6, 878,
869) $- $ (6, 878, 869) For the year ended December 31, 2022 Distribution Business Platform Business Fintech Business
Healthcare Business Total Interest income Loans $- $ 176, 175 $- $- $ 176, 175 Non- interest incomes: Commissions 24,
610, 309 1, 951, 382-- 26, 561, 691 Recurring asset management service fees- 4, 342, 361-- 4, 342, 361--- Total revenues $
24, 610, 309 $ 6, 469 918 $-$-$ 31 080 227 Investment loss net $ $ $ -1-39—(8 255—937 2—32—431) $ $ -1-39—(8 255—937

a&ﬂh&tﬁb-le—te—t-he—]:egaey@feﬂp—()peratmg Costs Commrssron Expense Commrssron expense fepfesent—represents the portron

of premiums from insurance or investment products retained by financial consultants, pursuant to the terms of their respective
contracts. Commission rates vary by market due to local practice, competition and regulations. Commissions fluctuate directly in
relation to sales volume. Sales and Marketing Expense Sales and Marketing Expense primarily eensist-consists of personnel-
related costs attributable to our sales and marketing personnel, marketing expense for brand promotion and spending on
marketing programs to launch the insurance and investments products distributed by consultants. Technology Expense
Technology expense primarily relude-includes personnel- related costs attributable to our IT team, technology contractors,
server facilities expenses, telecommunications expenses, software and hardware expenses to support and maintain the Platform
Business infrastructure. Personnel and Benefit Expense Personnel and benefit expense primarily eenstst-consists of personnel-
related costs and benefits, stock- based compensation costs for employees in our executive, accounting and finance, project
management, corporate development, office administration, legal and human resources functions . Legal and Professional Fees
Legal and Professional fees primarily consist of certain professional consulting services in legal, audit, accounting and
taxation, and others . Other General and Administrative Expenses Other general and administrative expenses primarily consist
of rent and facilities expenses allocated based upon total direct costs, as well as ;-professional-serviees-fees;sueh-as-consulting;
andit-tax-anddegal-fees-, general corporate costs and allocated overhead expenses. We expect that our general and
administrative expenses will continue to increase in future periods, primarily due to increased headcount to support anticipated
growth in our Distribution and Platform Businesses, and due to incremental costs associated with operating as a public company,
including costs to comply with the rules and regulations applicable to companies listed on a securities exchange and costs related
to compliance and reporting obligations pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC and stock exchange listing standards,
public relations, insurance and professional services. Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the years presented in U. S. dollars (in thousands): Years ended
December 31, 2023 2022 2021-Variance (US § in thousands) $ % Revenues: Interest income: Loans $ 157 $ 176 962-( 786-19 )
(8+10 . 76-80 ) Total interest income 157 176 962+ #86-19 ) ( 8+10 . 76-80 ) Non- interest income: Commissions 50, 069 26,
562523 , 507 88 16824394443~ 9750 Recurring asset management service fees 2, 993 3, 372 4392+ 379 +5-0626-) (23-11 .
22-24 ) Recurring asset management service fees, related party 970 970 — — Total non- interest income 29-54 , 934-95-032
30, 904 56626;374213— 23 —, +2-128 74. 84 Total revenues 54 ffem—et-hefs—}()- -1—1-9—1-9%2—2—1—9—189 31, 080 588—1—86—1—6—Nen-
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, 0861H546919-109 74 -61HH176-. 99-35 Operating eest-and-expenses: Interest expense ( 784) ( 141) 643 456 (48434376~
03 §H-Commission expense ( 37, 288) (18, 823) 18 {3-, 465 98 866)14;957386-. 89-10 Sales and marketing expense ( 3, 709)
(11, 142) (7 266)10-, 936-5;:-308-433) (66 . 74-71) Technology expense ( 4, 557) (1, 209) ¢44+4)3-795-3, 348 276. 192-- 92 63
Personnel and benefit expense (27,218) (21, 928) 5 {5-, +533-290 24. 12 -775-Legal and professional fees (1+39-- 13, 601) (1,
266) 12, 335 974 . 57-33 Legal and professional fees, related party (333) — 333 N / A Allowance for expected credit losses
on financial instruments (1, 077) (16) 1, 061 6, 631. 25 Other general and administrative expenses (69 , 188467 ) (54 , 793
906 ) 395-6-4, 561 92 . 82-97 Total operating eestand-expenses ( 98, 034) (59, 431) 38 49-, 603 64 4639515498~ 4+-95
Loss from operations ( 43, 845) (28, 351) 15 8-, 494 54 44719904235 63-65 Other income (expense): Bankinterestineome
9948541406625 Interest income 384 99 285 287. 88 ;related-party—204-264-166)-Foreign exchange gain (loss ), net 909
(2, 643) 3 51, 728188552 134 . 39 85Lessenequitymethodinvestments—559H-5-59H-H00)-Investment ¢loss ¥
teeme-, nct (6, 879) (8, 937) 436;255-( 4392 , 492058 ) ( $86;-86-23. 03 ) Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 5§ 9 —9
N-+A-(4) (44. 44) Change in fair value of forward share purchase liability ( 82) (5, 393) (5, 311) (98. 48) Loss on settlement of
forward share purchase liability (379) — 5;393-(379) N / A Gain on disposal of property and equipment 665 — 665 N / A
Rental income 239 315 —345-N-+A-(76) (24. 13) Sundry income 64 505 424+-8419-(441) (87 . 95-33) Total other fexpense ¥
teeme-, nct (5, 074) (16, 045) 428,446 44410 , 461971 ) (H2-68 . 49-38 ) £ 0ss Hneeme-before income taxes ( 48, 919) (
44,396) 4, 523 10. H9-- 19 ;9691643651370 Income tax expense ( 287) ( 125) 162 129 2356523386399~ 60 4D
NET €LOSS $ (49, 206 ) INCOME-$ (44, 521) 96-4 , 685 464-(140- 10 7985146~ 52 +5)-The following table summarizes the
major operating revenues from the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to the corresponding year ended
December 31, 2624-2022 : Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2024-Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Business segment
Distribution Business $ 48, 887 $ 24, 610 930-23;-6862,546-24 , 277 98. 65 Platform Business 5, 302 6, 470 +8;-539-( 41 , 669
168 ) (3818 . 6+-05 ) Fintech Business — — — — Healthcare Business — — — — TOTAL $ 54, 189 $ 31, 080 H-23 , 469
49-109 74 .-6HH176-. 99-35 The Distribution Business contributed 90. 22 % and 79. 18 %-and-8—- of the total revenue for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-, respectively. Income from the Distribution Business mainly related to
commissions earned, which significantly increased by US $ 23-24 . 73 million, or 98 2;-546-. 24-65 %, from US $ 6-24. 6
million in 2022 to US $ 48 . 9 million in 20242023 to- US-$24—-6-milenin20622- The largest segment of the Distribution
Busmess is our FA Busmess opeldted under the Focus ” brand name. Pﬂeﬁte—the—eeﬁstﬂﬁfﬂﬁ&eﬁ—ef—Bﬁsmess—@embm&ﬁeﬂ—

resultsfor-the-DistributionBusiness-for2022-and-202+—-Summarized revenue breakdown by product and type of contracts:
Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2024-Variance (US § in thousands) $ % By product: Life insurance $ 46,174 $ 23, 849
22 $76723- 325 93 +42-3;273- 2761 Property- casualty insurance 1, 796 205 25-1, 591 776. 480 10 726-89-Mandatory
provident fund and related revenues 917 556 361 64 +98-358180-. 81-93 § 48, 887 $ 24, 610 $930-23-6802,546-24 ,277 98.
65 By the type of contracts: — New and or current year $ 48, 661 $ 23, 597 $-25, 064 106. 262— 22 23335890649
Recurring 226 1, 013 668-345-51(787) (77. 69) $ 48, 887 $ 24, 610 24, 277 98 . 65 $24-616-936-23,6802,546-24-The
Platform Business contributed 9. 78 % and 20. 82 %rand-H—89-% of the total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 and-2024-, respectively. Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2624-Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Commissions
$ 1,182 81, 951 4:(769) (239 39 2288353~ 9742 ) Recurring asset management service fees 3, 963 4, 343 (380) (8. 75)
Loans 157 176 (19) (10. 80) TOTAL $ 5, 339-302 $ 6, 470 ( 996-1, 168 ) (18. 05 6630ans+76-96HHF85-(8+69-$-6;470-$
+6;-539(4;-66938-61) Operating Expenses Interest Expense Interest expense increased by US $ 0. 6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was mainly attributed to the
increase in short- term borrowings during the year. Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2624+Variance (US § in
thousands) $§ % Distribution Business $ 35, 885 $ 16, 840 19 332146~ 045 113 598—4,—9—7’—2—. 20-09 Platform Business 1, 403 1,
083 3;534-( 580 +55+) (4329 . 89-25 ) Fintech Business are Business — — — — Fetak TOTAL $ 37,
288 $ 18, 823 18 $3-, 465 98 86614957386~ 89-10 The Distribution Business contributed 96. 24 % and 89. 47 %-and-8—59
% of the total commission expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-, respectively. Commission
expense for the Distribution Business increased by US § 46-19 . 5-0 million, or 113 45972~ 29-09 %, from US $ 6-3-mithen-in
202t JS-$-16. 8 million in 2022 to US $ 35. 9 million in 2023 . As a result of the increase in revenue associated with the
Distribution Business, commission expense significantly increased. Sales and Marketing-marketing expense tnereased
decreased by US § +6-7 . 9-4 million for the year ended December 31, 20222023 , as compared to the year ended December 31,
20242022 . The inerease-decrease in sales and marketing expense is mainly refleets-attributed to lower spending associated
with “ AGBA cmpor'lte br"mdmg and associated produd Cdmpdlons —for celebmtmé -rt—s—the successful listing in last year
hpub e e e-vid AP arke dve ments- Technology expense
mcre'lsed by US$ 9—3 $3 1n11110r1 f01 the year ended Decembel 31, %922—2023 as comp"lred to the year ended December 31,
20212022 . The increase was primarily due to increased headcount to support anticipated growth in the business and pldtform
expansion and the purchase of software system . Yecars ended December 31, 2023 2022 262+Variance (US § in thousands) $
% Personnel and benefit $ 23,926 $ 19, 839 4 $9-, 087 20 +5310,686-1H6-. 75-60 Compensation to employees (-Skare-share -
based eempensatienrrelated) 3,292 2, 089 1 —2-, 8891400-203 57 . 60-Fetal-59 TOTAL $ 27,218 § 21, 928 5 $9-, +53-290
24. 12 ;77#5439-5FPersonnel and benefit cost increased by US § +8-4 . -1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023
, as compared to the year ended December 31, 26242022 . The increase was primarily due to the increased headcount to support
the continuing ;Drowth of the Platform Busmess and DlStl‘lbUthH Busmess Share- Bﬂsed-based Geﬁapeﬂs&t—teﬂ—compensatlon




ok average-grant—datefa e-shares—gran ing-the year ended December 31, 2022 . The increase was
prlmarlly due to the settlement of accrued salarles to certain dlrectors and employees of the Company and the
amortization of the fair value of the restricted share units. The fair value of the restricted share units is recognized over
the period based on the derived service period (usually the vesting period), on a straight- line basis. Years ended
December 31, 2023 2022 Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Legal and other professional fees $ 5,090 S 1 , 266 3, 824 302
. 9tper-05S Consulting fees (share - based related) 8, 511 — 8,511 N/ A TOTAL $ 13, 601 $ 1, 266 12, 335 974 . Buring-33
Legal and professmnal fees mcreased by US$12.3 mllllon, or 974 33 %, for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 | the
miie R-expense was— as compared to ne-steh-expense
&ttﬂ-ﬂg—t he year ended Dcumbu 31 %92—1—2022 The increase was prlmarlly attributed to the increase in the US legal
counsel fees and the consulting fees incurred during the year. Consulting fees under share- based compensation for the
year ended December 31, 2023 was mainly related to the corporate strategic consultancy and business marketing service
rendered by certain third party consultants, equal to 4, 900, 000 ordinary shares at the market price ranging from US $§
0.417 to US $ 2. 158 per share. Legal and Professional Fees, Related Party Legal and professional fees, related party
increased by US $ 0. 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.
The increase was primarily from the advisory services rendered by a related company which owned by the Chairman of
the Company. Allowance For Expected Credit Losses on Financial Instruments In accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification (“ ASC ”) Topic 326 “ Credit Losses — Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ”
(ASC Topic 326), the Company utilizes the current expected credit losses (“ CECL ) model to determine an allowance
that reflects its best estimate of the expected credit losses on accounts receivable, loans receivable, notes receivable, and
deposits, prepayments and others receivable which is recorded as a liability to offset the receivables. For the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the aggregated allowance for expected credit losses on accounts receivable, loans
receivable, notes receivable, and other receivables was US § 1. 1 million and US § 0. 02 million, respectively . Years ended
December 31, 2023 2022 202+Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Depreciation $ 1,307 $ 393 914 232 $45348773-. 33-57
Financial data subscription expense 499 532 244-3481448-(33) (6 . 66-Legal-20) Office rental and pfefess-teﬂ&l-operatmg ees +
6, 330 2662657793845 Managementfee-expense-3, 190 2-3 , 140 98 464-726-29-. 43
Other operating expenses 1-88735844912542 Fetal-$6- 331 791 540 68 188-$-5,7933956- 8227
TOTAL $ 9, 467 $ 4,906 4, 561 92. 97 Total other general and administrative expenses increased by US $ 84 . 6 million, or &
92 . 8297 %, for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2624-2022 . The net
increase was mdmly due to the increase in finanetat-data-subseription-depreciation of US $ 0. 9 million, and office rental and
operating fees of US $ 3. 1 million. Upon the consummation of Business Combination, the post- combination entity has
expensed more as a listed company, with a significant increase in the office rental and operating fees increased were
primarily attributed to the office and administrative cxpenses pay to the holding company for the use of HS-$-0--3-mitlion
office premises in Trust Tower and Hopewell Centre , including building management fees, government rates and rent,
office rent, lease- related interest, and depreciation actually incurred efUS-$-63-mithen;, managementfeeexpenseof US$
9—7—mﬂ+xeﬁ—e+hefs—ef—U-S—$—9—4—ﬁn-lheﬁ—effset—by the holdmg company, with the mcreased occupancy from busmess

expansion a-dee

. Loss

[10m Operations Loss [mm operations increased by US $ -1-9-15 95 mllllon or 2—35—54 63-65 % for 1hc year mdui December
31, 20222023 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2624-2022 . The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
operating expenses of US $ 39-38 . 5-6 million. Other Income (Expense), net BandeInterest Income Bankinterest-Interest

mu)mc 1nucdscd by US$ 0. 95—3 million for the year ended December 31 %92—2—2023 —I-ﬂfefes-t—l-ﬂeefﬁe—Re}afed—P&H-y—Ne

Foreign exchange galn (loss), net mamly 1cplcscnlcd Ihc umcalucd net foreign cxchangc galn ( loss ) Tom the udnslallon of
long- term investments which are mostly denominated in Sterling. The net foreign exchange foss-gain increased by US $+3 .
#3-6 million or +88-134 . 85-39 % for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to the net foreign exchange loss

for the year cndcd Dcumbu 31 %92—1—2022 due to the stronger Slulmg exchange rate —oss-onEquity Method-Hnvestments

Nufmeg—wlﬁeh—was—ftﬁy—se-}d—rrrSep%efﬁbeﬁe%l— ln\ estment (Loss) lncomc Net Years mdui Dcccmbu 31, 2023 2022 202+
Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Unrealized loss in marketable equity securities $ — $ (5, 331) $(42-5,399-331 ) (100 7

86857 00) YUnrealized-Realized gain irnen—from sale of marketable equity xm11111cs2—1—3—7—3%—32—€ 39553950544 —
1, 544 N / A Unrealized fess-gain in non- marketable equity securities — 2, 137 (2, 137) (100. 00) Unrealized loss in non-
marketable equity securities (10, 093) (6, 898) —6;-898N-+ARealized-gain—391422-( 439-3 , 122-195 ) (16646 . 66-32 )
Dividend income 1, 670 1, 155 —-515 44. 59 TOTAL $ (6 , 879) 155 N-+ATFetal-$ (8, 937) -$—1-39€§§—( 1392, 492058 ) (
466-23 . 8603 ) Investment loss iereased-decreased by US $ 4392 . 1 million, or +66-23 . 86-03 %, for the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2024-2022 , mainly as a 1Lsull of the increase in



realized gain from enthe-sale of enr-investmentinto-Nutmeg-marketable equity securities of $ 1. 5 million, increase in
dividend income of US $ 439-0. 5 million, decrease in unrealized loss in marketable equity securities of US $ 5. 3 million,
decrease in unrealized gain in non- marketable equity securities of US $ 2 . | million during-, offset by increase in
unrealized loss in non- marketable equity securities of US $ 3. 2 million for the year ended December 31 ,2624+-2023 . Loss
on settlement Change-in-fair-value-of forward share purchase liability Fe-Loss on settlement of forward share purchase
habﬁrty—(iF—SP—habﬂ-rty—)—undefagreement was resulted from the early termmatlon of the Meteora Backstop Agreement s
: sing-a-Blae v 0 rent-on areeurring-basis-June 29,
2023 F or the year ended December 31 26222023 , the loss on settlement eha-nge—rn—fa—rwa-lue—of habiity-forward share
purchase agreement was $ 5-0 . 4 million yasrecognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss. Gain on disposal of property and equipment was resulted from the sale of office premises to an independent third
party on July 20, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the gain on disposal of property and equipment was $ 0. 7
million recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss . Rental Income Rental income
tnereased-by US-$-0-was earned from the leasing of our owned office premises . For 3-mithenfor-the year ended December
31,2622-2023 , the rental income decreased by US $ 0. 08 million, or 24. 13 % , as compared to the year ended December
31, 26242022 ,—whieh—was earned-resulted from the leasing-sale of eur-owned—- one of the office premises during the year .
Income Tax Expense Income tax expense deereased-increased by US § 23-0 . 4-2 million, or 99-129 . 4760 %, for the year
ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to the year ended December 31 %92—1—2022 prlmanly attrlbutable to petentiat
the provision of income tax for prov satn :
Beeember3+2624-. Net ¢Loss )—I-nee-me—Net loss mcreased by US $ -1-4-1—4 9—7 mllhon or -1-46-10 -15—52 % for the year ended
December 31, 20222023 , as compared to December 31, 26242022 , primarily duc primarity—to the increase in operating
expenses of US $ 38. 6 million, offset by the i increase in revenues of US $ 23 1 mllllon and decrease in the-other expense,

net realized-gain-on-the-sate-of US $ 11. 0 million o

Liquidity and Capltal Resources Sources of L1qu1d1ty We have a h1story of operatmg Tosses and negatlve cash ﬂow For the year

million and reported a negatlve operatmg Cash ﬂow of US $ -1-9-42 36-1 mllhon As ofDecember 31, %92—2—2023 our Cash
balance was US $ 6-1 . 45-9 million for working capital use. Our management estimates that currently available cash will not be
able to provide sufficient funds to meet the planned obligations for the next 12 months starting-DPeeember31+;2622-. Our ability
to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to successfully implement our plans. Our management believes that it
will be able to continue to grow our revenue base and control expenditures. In parallel, AGBA continually monitors its capital
structure and operating plans and evaluates various potential funding alternatives that may be needed in order to finance our
business development activities, general and administrative expenses, and growth strategy. These alternatives include external
borrowings, raising funds through public equity, or tapping debt markets. Although there is no assurance that, if needed, we will
be able to pursue these fundraising initiatives and have access to the capital markets going forward. The consolidated financial
statements attached to this Form 10- K do not mclude any ad)ustments that might result from the outcome of these uncerta1nt1es -

the primary future Cash needs of the Company will be focused on operatmg activities, Workmg capital, capital expendltures
investment, regulatory and compliance costs. The ability of the Company to fund these needs will depend, in part, on its ability
to generate or raise cash in the future, which is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, regulatory, and other factors
that are beyond its control. Following the completion of Business Combination, we will independently manage the capital
structure of the Company and our sources of liquidity. The ability to fund our operating needs will depend on its future ability to
continue to generate positive cash flow from operations and raise capital in the capital markets. Our management believe that
we will meet known or reasonably likely future cash requirements through the combination of cash flows from operating
activities, available cash balances, and external borrowings and fund raising. Our management expects that the primary cash
requirements in 2023-2024 will be to fund capital expenditures for (i) expansion of the Distribution Business and (ii) Platform
Business and-i-finteelinvestments-. [f our sources of liquidity need to be augmented, additional cash requirements would
likely need to be financed through the issuance of debt or equity securities; however, there can be no assurances that we will be
able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on acceptable terms, or at all, in the future. We expect that operating losses
could continue into the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in growing our businesses. Based upon our current operating
plans, our management believes that cash and equivalents will not be able to provide sufficient funds to its operations for at least
the next 12 months from the date of its consolidated financial statements provided with this Form 10- K. However, these
forecasts involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially. Our management has based this estimate on
assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could deplete our capital resources sooner than we expect. See “ — Liquidity
and Going Concern ” below. Our future capital requirements may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend
on many factors, including our rate of revenues growth, the timing and extent of spending on sales and marketing, the expansion
of sales and marketing activities, the timing of new product introductions, market acceptance of our brand, and overall economic
conditions. We may also seek additional capital to fund our operations, including through the sale of equity or debt financings.



To the extent that we raise additional capital through the future sale of equity, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our
existing shareholders. The incurrence of debt financing would result in debt service obligations and the instruments governing
such debt could provide for operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations. Cash Flows As of December
31,2622-2023 , we had cash and cash equivalents tetaling—- totaling $ 6-1 . 4-9 million, and $ 44-16 . § million in restricted
cash. As of December 31, 26242022 , we had cash and cash equivalents tetating—- totaling $ 386 . 4 million, and $ 34-44 . 5-8
million in restricted cash. Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2624+-The following table
summarizes our cash flows for the years presented: Year ended December 31, 2023 2()22 %92—1—(US S in thousands) Net cash
used in operating activities ( 42, 282) ( 19, 304) {2; p v
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 10, 792 (14 189) Net cash (used 1n) prov1ded by rmdncms_ aetl\ 1t1es {,
040) 12, 135 (63872 -Effect on exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents ( 86) (429 3¥355-) Net change in cash,
cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 32, 616) (21, 787) H5343-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the beginning 51,
294 73, 081 6+-+68-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the end 18, 678 51, 294 #3;-88+Representing as:- Cash and
cash equivalents 1, 861 6, 450 38;-595-Restricted cash — forward share purchase agreement — 15, 356 —Restricted cash — fund
held in escrow 16, 817 29, 488 34-18 ., 486-678 51, 294 73;-68+The following table sets forth a summary of our working capital:
Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 Beeember3+-2024+Variance (US $ in thousands) $ % Total Current Assets $ 25, 619 $
55,756 $83;7799-$( 2830 , 923-137 ) (33-54 . 45-05 ) Total Current Liabilitics $97-47, 840 74 , 021 $61-(26 , 364-$-181) ( 35
65758 H-37) Working G&pﬁa-l—&Dehcrt)—S—( 41+-22,221) (18, 265) 3 $22-, 956 21 4-1§—$—€63—6'89)—€-84— 66 +6)-The working
deficit as of December 31, 2022-2023 amounted to approximately US $ 4422 . 2722 million, as compared to werking-eapital-of
approxrmately US $ 2—2—18 42—27 m11110r1 at December 31, %92—1—2022 an increase 0f US $ 3 96 mllllon or 21. 66 % The
: e h storr. Cash Flows
from Operdtmo Acm ities Net Cdsh used in operating activities was US $49-42 . %9—28 million for the year ended December 31,
2622-2023 , as compared to net cash used in operating activities of US $ 2-19 . +45-30 million for the year ended December 31,
20212022 . Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 was primarily the result of a—the
net loss of US § 4449 . 52-21 million, aﬂieefease—ﬁr}e&ns—feeew&b-}e—ef—U-S%%Q—mﬁheﬂ—aﬂd—an increase in accounts payable
receivable of US $ 1. 19 million, increase in deposits, prepayments, and aeersed-others receivable of US $ 2. 50 million,
decrease in escrow liabilities of US § 4+6-12 . 88-67 million, and decrease in lease liabilities of US $ 1. 13 million. These
amounts were pdltld]ly offset by the 1 increase in aecounts feeew&b-}e—payable and accrued liabilities of US $ +-6 . 95-89 million,
5 a% 5 increase in eserowHabilities-of US-$-5-00-millien;
income tdx pdyable of UsS ‘{> 0.2854 m11110r1 and non- Cdsh ad]ustments consisting of unrealized-investmenttoss-share- based
compensation expense of US § &-11 . 94-24 mllllon, non- cash lease expense of US $ 1. 50 million, depreciation of property
and equipment of US $ 0. 26 million, interest income on notes receivable of US $ 0. 03 million, interest expense on
borrowings of US § 0. 78 million, net foreign exchange gain of US $ 0. 91 million, net investment loss of US § 2-6 . 64-88
million, share-based-eompensation-allowance for expected credit losses on financial instruments of US § 2-1 . §9-08 million,
ehange-in-fair-vatae-gain on disposal of property and equipment of US $ 0. 66 million, loss on settlement of forward share
purchase Hability-agreement of US $ 5-0 . 39-38 million , and depreetationreversal of preperty-and-equipment-over- accruals
in prior year of US $ 6-3 . 35-60 million. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 26242022 was
primarily the result of the-a net ineeme-loss of US $ 96-44 . 46-52 million, a deereases— decrease in ﬁeeeﬂﬂ-ts—reeewab-}e—e-f—U-S—S
+—F4-mithen;-loans receivable of US § +6-2 . #3-32 million, and an increase in accounts neeme-tax-payable and accrued
llabllltles of US S 22—10 93—88 mllhon These amounts were partially offset by the increase in accounts receivable non—eash
0 d 6 fatmeg-of US § 439-1 . +6-95 million, toss-en-equity methodinvestments
deposits, prepayments, and other recelvable of US $ 40 . 66-20 million, decrease in escrow liabilities of US $ 5. 00 million,
1ncome tax payable of US $ 0 28 million, unreahzed investment loss of US § 8. 794 million, net foreign exchange loss an
6 yren vables-of US § +2 . 98-64 million, share based compensation a-deerease-itt
aeeeﬂﬁts—pay&b-}e—aﬂd—&eefued—}iabi-}mes—of US § 2. 09 million, change in fair value of forward share purchase liability of US
$ 5. 39 million and depreciation of property and equipment of US $ 0. 39 43-million-and-a-deerease-ireserow tabilitiesof
BS-$9-86-million. Cash Flows from Investing Activities Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2023 of US $ 10. 79 million was primarily due to proceeds from sale of investments of US $ 3. 98 million,
dividend received from long- term investments of US $ 1. 67 million, proceeds from sale of property and equipment of
US $ 6. 13 million, offset by the purchase of notes receivable of US $ 0. 59 million, purchase of long- term investments of
US $ 0. 29 million, and purchase of property and equipment of US $ 0. 10 million. Net cash used in investing activities for
the year ended December 31, 2022 of US $ 14. 19 million was primarily due to proceeds from sale of investments of US § 1. 85
million, and dividend receiv ed from long- term investments of $ 1. 15 million, offset by the addition in long- term investments of

US ‘{> 16 23 million, and the purehase of property and eqmpment of US S 0.97 1111111011—Net—eash—pfeﬂded-by—rﬂ¥es{-mg

.C dSh Flows hom Fmancmo Acm ities Net Cdsh used in financing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 of US § 1. 04 million was primarily due to advances from the holding
company of US $ 9. 34 million, proceeds from borrowings of US $ 7. 75 million, proceeds from private placement of US $
1. 85 million, offset by the settlement of forward share purchase agreement of US $ 13. 95 million, and repayments of
borrowings of US $ 6. 03 million. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 of US $ 12.
14 million was primarily due to advances from the shareholder of US § 9. 75 million, proceeds from borrowings of US $ 4. 46



mllhon cash ploueeds hom reverse IeCdpltdllZdthIl of US§ 15.36 mllllon oﬁset by the dividend distribution of US § 17. 44

Consohddted flllanudl statements ha\ e been prepared on a going concern basls which contemplates contmmty of opemtlons
realization of assets, and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. The management of the Company estimates
that currently available cash will not be able to provide sufficient funds to meet the Company’ s planned obligations for the next
12 months from the date that these consolidated financial statements were made available to be issued. For the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 , we reported a net loss of approximately US § 44-49 . 52-21 million. With a significant increase in our
operating costs, described in the paragraph below, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately US § 39-65 . 46-60 million as
of December 31, 2822-2023 . However, coupled with its business expansion, we reported significant sales growth with annual
revenue of approximately US § 3454 . 88-19 million during 2023 (2022 624 US $ H-31 . 4708 million), and resulting with
an operating loss of approximately US § 28-43 . 35-8S million (26242022 : US § §-28 . 45-35 million). We expect to continue
our business growth, while closely monitoring our future spending. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on
the management’ s ability to successfully implement its plans. Our management team believes that we will be able to continue to
grow our revenue base and control our expenditures. In parallel, our management team will continually monitor our capital
structure and operating plans and evaluate-vartous-search for potential funding alternatives that-may-beneeded-in order to
finance our business development activities ;-general-and administrative-operating cxpenses and-growthstrategy-. We-intend-to
raise-additional-eapital- These alternatives may include borrowings, raising funds through private-placements-efpublic
equity or debt and-equity-seenritiesmarkets. However , but-we cannot predict there—- the ean-beno-assuranee-that-exact
amount or timing of the alternatives, or guarantee these-those funds-alternatives will be avaitable-favorable to our
shareholders. Any failure to obtain financing when required will have a material adverse impact on terms-aceeptable;or
our er-l—be—stl-fﬁeteﬁt—te-eﬂ&b-}e—bumness, operatlon and ﬁnanclal result Certam funding alternatives have been carried by
us , as follows: 1 com a ots- H-On September 7, 2023, we entered into
an equity purchase agreement with Wllllamsburg, an 1ndependent thlrd party to are-agree tnable-to raise-suffietent
additional-funds-invest up to $ 50 million over a 36- month period. 2. On November 7 , 2023, we entered into private
placement binding term sheets with an institutional investor, our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ng Wing Fai, and our
management team pursuant to which we will have-to-develop-receive gross proceeds of approximately $ 5, 128, 960, in
consideration of (i) 7, 349, 200 ordinary shares of our ordinary shares, and implement(ii) warrants to purchase up to 1,
469, 840 ordinary shares at a planto-furtherextend-payables-purchase price of $ 0. 70 per ordinary share and associated
warrants. As of December 31 , 2023 reduee-overhead-, orseate-back-the Company received the proceeds of $ 1, 850, 310.
Wlth these fundlng 1n1t1at1ves, our management believes that we would eurrent-business-plan-unti-suffietentadditionat

P e-ean-be no-assuranee-thatsueh-a-plan-witl-be-sueeessful-able to strengthen

our financial posmon, improve our llquldlty, and enhance our ability to navigate the challenging market conditions .
Material Cash Requirements We reported a net loss during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . However, we expect to
generate profitable operating results within the foreseeable future, after a full recovery from the anti- pandemic policy in Hong
Kong and getting access to the collective sales capabilities force of the sale channels associated with our distribution business.
Our management expects sales volumes to return to levels previously recorded at the predecessor company prior to the
pandemic, especially with the re- opening of the Mainland border and the ongoing integration of Hong Kong into the Greater
Bay area. As a result, management expects our net cash position to expand in 2623-2024 and to be in excess of 262+2022 . As
of December 31, 2822-2023 , we had an accumulated deficit of US § 39-65 . 48-60 million. Our material cash requirements are
highly dependent upon additional financial support associated with our its business operations for the next 12 — 18 months.
Capital commitments Notes Receivable Agreement — Pursuant to the Agreements, subject to demand, the Company is
committed to subscribe the notes of Investment A with an aggregate amount of $ 1, 673, 525, in batches, which are
payable on or before January 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , thete—- the were-remaining committed
subscription amount was $ 1, 084, 439. Sale and Purchase Agreement — Pursuant to the Agreement entered with Sony
Life Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“ SLS ”), the Company is committed to purchase 100 % equity interest in Sony Life Financial
Adyvisers Pte. Ltd. for a cash consideration of SGD2, 500, 000 (equivalent to $ 1, 882, 000). On December 28, 2023, the
Company and SLS entered a second supplementary agreement to extend the closing date of the transaction from
December 31, 2023 to March 31, 2024. Nasdaq Compliance — On September 20, 2023, the Company received written
notice (the “ Notice ) from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market (“ Nasdaq ) notifying
the Company that, based on the closing bid price of the Company’ s ordinary shares, par value $ 0. 001 per share (the «
Ordinary Shares ”), for the last 30 consecutive trading days, the Company no longer complies with the minimum bid
price requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq eapital-Capital eemmitments-Market. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550
(a) (2) requires listed securities to maintain a minimum bid price of $ 1. 00 per share (the “ Minimum Bid Price
Requirement ), and Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810 (c) (3) (A) provides that a failure to meet the Minimum Bid Price
Requirement exists if the deficiency continues for a period of 30 consecutive trading days. On March 20, 2024, the
Company was granted by Nasdaq an additional 180 calendar days period or until September 16, 2024, to regain the
compliance . Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements We are not party to any off- balance sheet transactions. We have no guarantees
or obligations other than those which arise out of normal business operations. We have not engaged in any off- balance sheet
financial arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition,
Chanﬂes in financial condition, net revenue or expenses, results of Opel‘dtIOIlS llqmdlty Capltdl expendltmes or Capltdl




= any-de 0 0 or-ptrehased Repurchase Program any
ﬁeﬁ-—ﬁnaﬁeta-l—assets—Crlncal Accountlng POllCl€§ Judgements and Estimates Our audited consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods and the related disclosures in the
audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes. Out of our significant accounting policies, which are
described in *“ Note 2-3 — Summary of significant accounting policies ” of our audited consolidated financial statements
included under Item 8 of Part II in this Annual Report, certain accounting policies are deemed “ critical, ” as they require our
management’ s highest degree of judgment, estimates and assumptions. While our management believes our judgments,
estimates and assumptions are reasonable, they are based on information presently available and actual results may differ

qlgnlﬁcantly from tho%e estimates under dlfferent a%sumptlon@ and conditions. e Basis-efPresentationThe-aceompanying

s’f&tenaeﬁts—O—U%e of E%tlmate% and AssumptionsThe preparatlon of consohdated ﬁnan01a1 statements in conformlty with U S
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the years presented. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Company’ s consolidated
financial statements include the useful lives of property and equipment, impairment of long- lived assets, allowance for deubtfat
aeeounts-expected credit losses, notes receivable , share- based compensation, warrant liabilities, forward share purchase
liability, provision for contingent liabilities, revenue recognition, leases, income tax provision, deferred taxes and uncertain tax
position, and allocation of expenses from the sharehelder-holding company . The inputs into the management’ s judgments and
estimates consider the economic implications of COVID- 19 on the Company’ s critical and significant accounting estimates.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. ® Long- Term Investments, netThe Company invests in debt-seetrtttes;equity
%ecurme% with readlly determinable fair Valueq sand equlty %ecurme% that do not have readily determinable fair values —a-nd

determinable fair Valueq are carried at fair value with any unreahzed gains or losses reported in earnings. Equ1ty securities that
do not have readily determinable fair values mainly consist of investments in prlvately held companies. They are accounted for,
at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from obqervable prlce changes in orderly transactions for the
identical or similar investment of the same issuer. 11 v W ores af

each reporting perlod the Company make% a qualitative assessment considering 1mpa1rment 1ndlcat01§ to evaluate Whether the
investment is impaired. @ Warrant LiabilitiesThe Company accounts for warrants as either equity- classified or liability-
classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’ s specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC
Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ ASC 480 ) and ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ ASC 815 ™).
The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition
of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC
815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’ s own ordinary shares and whether the warrant holders could
potentially require ““ net cash settlement ” in a circumstance outside of the Company’ s control, among other conditions for
equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant
issuance and as of each subsequent quarterly period end date while the warrants are outstanding. For issued or modified
warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of equity



at the time of issuance. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are
required to be recorded as liabilities at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter.
Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non- cash gain or loss on the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company accounts for its Public Warrants as equity and the Private Warrants as liabilities. ® Revenue
RecognitionThe Company earns and receives most eettatrportionof its non- interest income from contracts with customers,
which are accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ) No. 2014- 09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Topic 606) (“ ASC 606 *). ASC Topic 606 provided the following overview of how revenue is recognized
from the Company’ s contracts with customers: The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Step 1: Identify the contract (s) with a customer. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract. Step 3: Determine the transaction price — The transaction price is the amount of consideration in a contract to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. Step 4: Allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract — Any entity typically allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on the basis of the relative standalone selling prices of each distinct good or service promised in the
contract. Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation — An entity recognizes revenue
when (or as) it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customer (which is when the
customer obtains control of that good or service). The amount of revenue recognized is the amount allocated to the satisfied
performance obligation. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time (typically for promises to transfer goods to
a customer) or over time (typically for promises to transfer service to a customer). Certain portion of the Company’ s income is
derived from contracts with customers, and as such, the revenue recognized depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to
its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. The Company considers the terms of the contract and all relevant facts and circumstances when applying this
guidance. The Company’ s revenue recognition policies are in compliance with ASC 606, as follows: The Company earns
commissions from the sale of investment products to customers. The Company enters into commission agreements with
customers which specify the key terms and conditions of the arrangement. Commissions are separately negotiated for each
transaction and generally do not include rights of return, credits or discounts, rebates, price protection or other similar privileges,
and typically paid on or shortly after the transaction is completed. Upon the purchase of an investment product, the Company
earns commission from customers, calculated as a fixed percentage of the investment products acquired by its customers. The
Company defines the “ purchase of an investment product ” for its revenue recognition purpose as the time when the customers
referred by the Company has entered into a subscription contract with the relevant product provider and, if required, the
customer has transferred a deposit to an escrow account designated by the Company to complete the purchase of the investment
products. After the contract is established, there are no significant judgments made when determining the commission price.
Therefore, commissions are recorded at point in time when the investment product is purchased. The Company also facilitates
the arrangement between insurance providers and individuals or businesses by providing insurance placement services to the
insured and is compensated in the form of commission from the respective insurance providers. The Company primarily
facilitates the placement of life, general and MPF insurance products. The Company determines that insurance providers are the
customers. The Company primarily earns commission income arising from the facilitation of the placement of an effective
insurance policy, which is recognized at a point in time when the performance obligation has been satisfied upon execution of
the insurance policy as the Company has no future or ongoing obligation with respect to such policies. The commission fee rate,
which is paid by the insurance providers, based on the terms specified in the service contract which are agreed between the
Company and insurance providers for each insurance product being facilitated through the Company. The commission earned is
equal to a percentage of the premium paid to the insurance provider. Commission from renewed policies is variable
consideration and is recognized in subsequent periods when the uncertainty around variable consideration is subsequently
resolved (e. g., when customer renews the policy). In accordance with ASC 606, Revenue Recognition: Principal Agent
Considerations, the Company evaluates the terms in the agreements with its channels and independent contractors to determine
whether or not the Company acts as the principal or as an agent in the arrangement with each party respectively. The
determination of whether to record the revenue in a gross or net basis depends upon whether the Company has control over the
services prior to transferring it. Control is demonstrated by the Company which is primarily responsible for fulfilling the
provision of placement services through the Company’ s licensed insurance brokers to provide agency services. The
commissions from insurance providers are recorded on a gross basis and commission paid to independent contractors or channel
costs are recorded as commission expense in the statements of operations. The Company also offers the sale solicitation of real
estate property to the final customers and is compensated in the form of commissions from the corresponding property
developers pursuant to the service contracts. Commission income is recognized at a point of time upon the sale contracts of real
estate property is signed and executed. Recurring Asset Management Service Fees The Company provides asset management
services to investment funds or investment product providers in exchange for recurring asset management service fees.
Recurring asset management service fees are determined based on the types of investment products the Company distributes
and are calculated as a fixed percentage of the fair value of the total investment of the investment products, calculated daily.
These customer contracts require the Company to provide investment management services, which represents a performance
obligation that the Company satisfies over time. After the contract is established, there are no significant judgments made when
determining the transaction price. As the Company provides these services throughout the contract term, for the method of
calculating recurring asset management service fees, revenue is calculated on a daily basis over the contract term, quarterly
billed and recognized. Recurring service agreements do not include rights of return, credits or discounts, rebates, price
protection, performance component or other similar privileges and the circumstances under which the fixed percentage fees,



before determined, could be not subject to clawback. Payment of recurring asset management service fees are normally on a
regular basis (typically monthly or quarterly). The Company offers money lending services from loan origination in form of
mortgage and personal loans. Interest income is recognized monthly in accordance with their contractual terms and recorded as
interest income in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company does not charge prepayment penalties from its
customers. Interest income on mortgage and personal loans is recognized as it accrued using the effective interest method.
Accrual of interest income on mortgage loans is suspended at the earlier of the time at which collection of an account becomes
doubtful or the account becomes 180 days delinquent. ® Share- Based CompensationThe Company accounts for share- based
compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provision of ASC Topic 718, Stock Compensation. The Company
grants share awards, including ordinary shares and restricted share units, to eligible participants. Share- based compensation
expense for share awards is measured at fair value on the grant date. The fair value of restricted stock with either solely a
service requirement or with the combination of service and performance requirements is based on the closing fair market value
of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Share- based compensation expense is recognized over the awards requisite service
period. For awards with graded vesting that are subject only to a service condition, the expense is recognized on a straight- line
basis over the service period for the entire award. ® Fair Value MeasurementThe Company follows the guidance of the ASC
Topic 820- 10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ ASC 820- 10 ), with respect to financial assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value. ASC 820- 10 establishes a three- tier fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value as follows: @ Level 1: Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active
markets; ® Level 2: Inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model- based valuation techniques (e. g. Black- Scholes Option- Pricing
model) for which all significant inputs are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Where applicable, these models project future cash flows and discount the
future amounts to a present value using market- based observable inputs; and @ Level 3: Inputs are generally unobservable and
typically reflect management’ s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The
fair values are therefore determined using model- based techniques, including option pricing models and discounted cash flow
models. The carrying value of the Company’ s financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable, consideration receivable, deposits, prepayments and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
escrow liabilities, borrowings approximate at their fair values because of the short- term nature of these financial instruments.
Management believes, based on the current market prices or interest rates for similar debt instruments, the fair value of loans
receivable approximates the carrying amount. The Company accounts for loans receivable at cost, subject to impairment testing.
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information about the financial instruments.
These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. ® Recently Issued Accounting
PronouncementsFrom time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“
FASB ”) or other standard setting bodies and adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise
discussed, the Company believes that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material
impact on its financial position or results of operations upon adoption. Recently adopted accounting standards [n June 2622
2016 , the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016- 13, Financial
Instruments- Credit Losses ( Topic 326): Measurement of Credlt Losses on F1nanc1al Instruments (“ ASU 2016 )—No—
2622 13 ” 63-Fair-Value-Measurements(Topie-820-) +Fa § i
SaleRestrietions-. These-amendments-elarify-ASU 2016- 13 added a new 1mpa1rment model (known as the CECL model)
that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity recognizes as an allowance
its estimate of expected credit losses. The CECL model applies to most debt instruments, accounts receivables, notes
receivables, loans receivable, financial guarantee contracts, and other loan commitments. The CECL model does not
have a eontractaatrestrietton-minimum threshold for recognition of impairment losses and entities will need to measure
expected credlt losses on t-he—sa%e—assets that have a low risk of loss. As an emerging growth company eqtity-seetrity-is-not
s ; the Company was permltted to adopt the new standard

b for fiscal years
begmmng after December 15, 2022 mcludmg mterun perlods within those fiscal years . The Company has adopted the new
standard effective January 1 , 2023, which didn’ t have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. New
accounting standards not yet adopted In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ) No.
2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The purpose of the update
was to improve financial reporting by requiring disclosures of incremental segment information on an annual and
interim basis for all public entities to enable investors to develop more decision- useful financial analyses. The
amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 -, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with Early-early adoption permitted and requires retrospective
appllcatlon to all perlods presented in the consolidated financlal statements. Management 18 evaluatmg pefm-rtted—’l:he

sa%e—debt—seeuﬂ&es—In—Febﬁlafy%G'z‘G-ZOZS the FASB 1ssued ASU %9%9—2023 92—09 Income Taxes F—rnaﬁeia-l—l-nstf&ments-
Gfedrt—I:esses—(Toplc 3%6—740 ) Improvements and—I:eases—eTepte—S%—Amend-ments—to Income Tax Dlsclosures SE€E




Aceounting-Standards-Update No—26+6—02;Feases( Fopie-842-ASU 2023- 09 ), which amendsrequires disclosure of
incremental income tax information within the effeeﬁve—&a-te—rate reconc1hat10n and expanded dlsclosures of'income
taxes paid, among the-other disclosure requirements origis . ASU 2646

2023 - 09 +3-and-ts— is amendments-witkbe-cffective for fhe—Gefﬁp&ny—fe%rr&eﬂm—&ﬂd-&ﬁﬂua-l—peﬂe&s—r& 1scal years beginning
altur December 15, 2622-2024 . Early adoptlon is permltted Tt e C ompany s management beheves—t-he—adq&ﬁeﬁ—wﬂ-}

hawe-on its consolidated financial statements and dlsclosures Excq)t for 1hc above- mentioned plonounucmults there are no
new recent issued accounting standards that will have a material impact on the consolidated balance sheets, statements of
operations and cash flows. ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK As
a smaller reporting company, we are not required to make disclosures under this Item. ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA Our financial statements and the notes thereto begin on page F- 1 of this Annual Report.
ITEM 9 ( HANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH A((OUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANC IAL




CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management, with the participation
of our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10- K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2822-2023 , our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of such date are effective at the reasonable assurance level. The term “
disclosure controls and procedures, ” as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “ Exchange Act ), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act are recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Management’ s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. As of
December 31, 26222023 , our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal eentrel-controls over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2622-2023 . Additionally, our independent registered public accounting firm will not
be required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until we are no
longer an “ emerging growth company  as defined in the JOBS Act. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d-
15 (f) of the Exchange Act) during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION Nere—ITEM 9C.
DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS PART III ITEM 10.
DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE The following table sets forth information
about our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report. Name Age Title Mr. Robert E. Diamond, Jr.
Chairman of the Board Mr. Ng Wing Fai €hatrman;-Group Chief Executive Officer -and Executive Director Mr. Shu Pei
Huang, Desmond Acting Group Chief Financial Officer Ms. Wong Suet Fai, Almond Group Chief Operating Officer /#Exeeutive
Bireetor-Mr. Jeroen Nieuwkoop Group Chief Strategy Officer Mr. Richard Kong Deputy Group Chief Financial Officer /
Company Secretary Mr. Brian Chan Independent Director (1) (2) (3) Mr. Thomas Ng Independent Director (1) (2) (3) Mr. Felix
Yun Pun Wong Independent Director (1) (2) (3) Note: (1) Member of the remuneration committee (2) Member of the
nomination committee. (3) Member of the audit committee. Biographical Information Mr. Robert E. Diamond is Founding
Partner and Chief Executive Officer of Atlas Merchant Capital and has been since its inception in 2013. Until 2012, Mr.
Diamond was Chief Executive of Barclays, having previously held the position of President of Barclays and was
responsible for Barclays Capital and Barclays Global Investors (“ BGI ”). He became an executive director of Barclays
in 2005 and was a member of the Barclays Executive Committee. Prior to Barclays, Mr. Diamond held senior executive
positions at Credit Suisse First Boston and Morgan Stanley in the United States, Europe and Asia. Mr. Diamond worked
at Credit Suisse First Boston from 1992 to 1996, where his roles included Vice Chairman and Head of Global Fixed
Income and Foreign Exchange in New York, as well as Chairman, President and CEO of Credit Suisse First Boston
Pacific. Mr. Diamond worked at Morgan Stanley from 1979 to 1992, including as the Head of European and Asian Fixed
Income Trading. Mr. Ng Wing Fai Mr. Ng has been served as Group Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the board of
AGBA and as an executive director of the board of AGBA, since November 2022. Prior to joining AGBA, Mr. Ng was the
Managing Partner and Founding Partner of Primus Pacific Partners, an Asian private equity fund with a focus on financial
services. He was also previously the Managing Director of Fubon Financial Holding, the largest financial conglomerate in
Taiwan, where he oversaw its overall strategy, capital markets, merger and acquisition activities and major change programs. He
has previously served as the Managing Director and Head of the Asia- Pacific Financial Institutions Group at Salomon Smith
Barney. Mr. Ng graduated from the University of Cambridge and obtained a master’ s degree in business administration from
Harvard University in 1994. Mr. Shu Pei Huang, Desmond Mr. Shu Pei Huang, Desmond currently serves as the Acting Group
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) since November 2022. Mr. Shu also presently serves as a director of both
B2B and Fintech. He was also a director of OnePlatform Holdings Limited prior to the OnePlatform Holdings Limited merger.
Prior to joining AGBA, Mr. Shu was the Vice President of Primus Holdings (H. K.) Ltd, an Asia investment holding company
with a focus on the financial services industry. Prior to that, he was the corporate development manager of DRB- HICOM
Berhad, one of the largest diverse conglomerates in Malaysia with business across banking, insurance, automobile, and services.
Mr. Shu has over 20 years of experience in the investment banking and financial services industry and has gained all- round
experience through working with MIMB Investment Bank, SIBB Investment Bank, and KPMG Corporate Services. Mr. Shu
graduated from University of Kentucky with a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and Bachelor of Science in
Accounting; Master of Science in Finance from Golden Gate University, USA. Ms. Wong Suet Fai, Almond Ms. Wong has
served as an executive director of the board of AGBA since November 2022. She has over the past 20 years of related



experience, encompassing organizational and talent development, compensations and benefits management, staff training and
engagement, organizational efficiency. Prior to joining AGBA, Ms. Wong held different positions in AXA, Sun Life Financial,
Hutchison Ports, CSL Telecommunications and Wyeth. Ms. Wong graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 1995 and obtained a Master of Business Administration from University of Leicester in 2003.
She completed the Advanced Management Program offered by Harvard Business School in 2018. Mr. Jeroen Nieuwkoop Mr.
Jeroen Nieuwkoop currently serves as the Group Chief Strategy Officer of the Company, since November 2022. Mr.
Nieuwkoop previously worked at Fubon Financial and Primus Pacific Partners and has over 20 years’ experience in private
equity, funds set- up, investments and divestments, mergers and acquisitions, as well as general corporate finance across the
financial services industry in Asia. Mr. Nieuwkoop started his career as an investment banker in the Financial Institutions Group
at Salomon Smith Barney (now known as Citigroup) in New York. Mr. Nieuwkoop obtained his Master of Science (MSc) in
Business Administration and Management, General from Erasmus University Rotterdam. Mr. Richard Kong Mr. Richard Kong
is the Company”’ s Deputy Group Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, since November 2022. Mr. Kong has over 25
years of experience in the finance and accounting fields. Prior to joining AGBA, he was the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of a company listed in Hong Kong for over 14 years where he gained extensive experience in corporate
exercises, corporate governance, and compliance- related matters. Previously, he was a manager at Ernst & Young Hong Kong.
Mr. Kong holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA) in Accounting from Hong Kong Baptist University and Master
of Business Administration (MBA) from University of South Australia. He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Brian Chan Mr. Chan has served as a
member of the board of directors of AGBA as an independent director since November 2022. Mr. Chan has over 23 years of
experience handling litigations for civil claims, intellectual property rights protection and enforcement. Since September 2007 to
present, Mr. Chan has been a Senior Partner at Chan, Tang & Kwok Solicitors, a member of the International Trademark
Attorneys Association. From September 1995 to August 2007 he was an Associate at Baker & McKenzie, Associate at
Stephenson Harwood & Lo, Partner at Stevenson, Wong & Co., Solicitors and Consultant at Benny Kong & Peter Tang.
Additionally, Mr. Chan has acted as a Counsel to various Hong Kong and cross- border mergers and acquisitions and
commercial matters since August 1999. Mr. Chan is also a frequent speaker on legal issues for intellectual property rights for
the Hong Kong Productivity council. Mr. Chan graduated with a Bachelor of Laws Degree and passed the Solicitors’ Finals of
the Law Society of England and Wales in 1993. Thomas Ng Mr. Ng has served as a member of the board of directors of AGBA
as an independent director since November 2022. Thomas Ng has 30 years of broad experience engaging in the fields of
Education, Media, Retailing Marketing and Finance. He is a pioneer of IT in education and he was the author of *“ Digital
English Lab, ” one of the first series of digital books in Hong Kong. Since September 2018, he has been the Chief Executive
Officer of e- chat, an IPFS block chain social media focused company. From March 2017 to April 2018, Mr. Ng was the Chief
Financial Officer of Duofu Holdings Group Co. Limited. In February 2016, Mr. Ng founded Shang Finance Limited and was
the Chief Executive Officer until February 2017. From March 2015 to November 2015, Mr. Ng was the Chief Financial Officer
of World Unionpay Group Shares Limited. In August 2003, Mr. Ng established Fuji (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd. and was the Chief
Executive Officer until December 2014. Mr. Ng obtained a Certificate of Education majoring in English from the University of
Hong Kong in 2000. Felix Yun Pun Wong Mr. Wong has served as a member of the board of directors of AGBA as an
independent director since November 2022. Mr. Wong currently acts as the Chief Financial Officer of Inception Growth
Acquisition Limited, a publicly listed special purpose acquisition corporation (NASDAQ: IGTA). He has acted in this capacity
since April 9, 2021. He has years of executive experience with multiple leadership positions and a track record in helping private
companies enter the public market. He has been the principal of Ascent Partners Advisory Service Limited, a finance advisory
firm, since March 2020. From November 2017 to December 2020, Mr. Wong held the position of Chief Financial Officer at
Tottenham Acquisition I Limited, a publicly listed special purpose acquisition corporation, which merged with Clene
Nanomedicine Inc. (NASDAQ: CLNN) in December 2020. From August 2015 to September 2017, he served as Chief Financial
Officer at Raytron Technologies Limited, a leading Chinese national high- tech enterprise. His main responsibilities in these
rules have included overseeing the financial functions of the firms, assisting in establishing corporate ventures for investment,
and working on deal origination of new businesses in the corporate groups. Prior to these efforts, he was Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Director of Tsing Capital from January 2012 to July 2015, where he managed four funds with a total investment
amount of US $ 600 million and focused on environmental and clean technology investments. Mr. Wong also served as senior
director and chief financial officer of Spring Capital, a US $ 250 million fund, from October 2008 until June 2011. Additionally,
Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of Natixis Private Equity Asia from November 2006 till October 2008 and an associate
director of JAFCO Asia from March 2002 to October 2006. Mr. Wong was a finance manager for Icon Medialab from July 2000
to December 2001, a senior finance manager of Nielsen from August 1998 to July 2000, Planning- Free Shopper from April
1992 to August 1998, and an auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers from August 1989 until March 2000. Mr. Wong earned his
Masters of Business degree in 2003 from Curtin University in Australia and a Professional Diploma in Company Secretaryship
and Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1989. Board Committees of the Company Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been established in accordance with Section 3 (a) (58) (A) of the Exchange Act. The principal
functions of the Audit Committee of the Company will include, among other things: e appointing, compensating, retaining,
replacing, and overseeing the work of the independent registered public accounting firm engaged by the Company; e pre-
approving all audit and permitted non- audit services to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm
engaged by the Company, and establishing pre- approval policies and procedures; ® reviewing and discussing with the
independent auditors regarding all relationships the auditors have with the Company in order to evaluate their continued
independence; @ setting clear hiring policies for employees or former employees of the independent registered public accounting
firm, including but not limited to, as required by applicable laws and regulations; e setting clear policies for audit partner



rotation in compliance with applicable laws and regulations; @ obtaining and reviewing a report, at least annually, from the
independent registered public accounting firm describing (i) the independent registered public accounting firm’ s internal
quality- control procedures, (ii) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality- control review, or peer review, of
the audit firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities within the preceding five years
respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm and any steps taken to deal with such issues, and (iii) all
relationships between the independent registered public accounting firm and the Company to assess the independent registered
public accounting firm’ s independence; ® reviewing and approving any related party transaction required to be disclosed
pursuant to SEC regulations prior to the Company entering into such transaction; and e reviewing with management, the
independent registered public accounting firm, and the Company’ s legal advisors, as appropriate, of any legal, regulatory or
compliance matters, including any correspondence with regulators or government agencies and any employee complaints or
published reports that raise material issues regarding the financial statements or accounting policies of the Company and any
significant changes in accounting standards or rules promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC, or
other regulatory authorities. The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Brian Chan, Mr. Thomas Ng, and Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong,
each of whom qualifies as an independent director according to the rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq with respect to
Audit Committee membership. We have also determined that Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong qualifies as an “ audit committee
financial expert. ” The chair of our Audit Committee is Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong. In addition, all of the Audit Committee
members meet the requirements for financial literacy under applicable SEC and Nasdaq rules. The board of directors of AGBA
has adopted a new written charter for the Audit Committee, which is available on the Company’ s website after adoption. The
reference to AGBA’ s website address in this annual report does not include or incorporate by reference the information on the
AGBA’ s website into this annual report. Remuneration Committee The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company include, among other things: @ reviewing and approving on an annual basis the corporate goals and objectives
relevant to the compensation of our executive officers, evaluating their performance in light of such goals and objectives and
determining, and approving the remuneration of our executive officers based on such evaluation; ® reviewing, evaluating, and
recommending changes, if appropriate, to the remuneration of our non- employee directors; ® administering the Company’ s
equity compensation plans and agreements with the Company executive officers and directors; ® reviewing and approving
policies and procedures relating to perquisites and expense accounts of the executive officers of the Company; e assisting
management in complying with registration statement and annual report disclosure requirements; @ if required, producing a
report on executive compensation to be included in the Company’ s annual proxy statement; and e reviewing and approving the
Company’ s overall compensation philosophy. Our Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Brian Chan, Mr. Thomas Ng, and
Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong. The board of directors has adopted a new written charter for the Remuneration Committee, which
will be available on the Company’ s website after adoption. The reference to the AGBA website address in this annual report
does not include or incorporate by reference the information on the Company’ s website into this annual report. Nomination
Committee The principal functions of the Nomination Committee of AGBA include, among other things: e considering
qualified candidates for positions on the board of directors of the Company; @ creating and maintaining an evaluation process to
ensure that all directors to be nominated to the board of directors during the annual shareholders’ meeting are appropriately
qualified in accordance with the company’ s organizational documents and applicable law and regulations; ® making
recommendations to the board of directors regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the board; ® making recommendations to
the board, regarding the size and composition of the board; and e reviewing the membership of the various committees of the
board of directors and making recommendations for future appointments. AGBA” s Nomination Committee consists of Mr.
Brian Chan, Mr. Thomas Ng, and Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong. AGBA” s board of directors has adopted a new written charter for
the Nomination Committee, which is available on the Company’ s website after adoption. The reference to the AGBA” s
website address in this annual report does not include or incorporate by reference the information on AGBA’ s website into this
annual report. Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers The Fifth Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association, has been effective upon consummation of the Business Combination, limits the
Company’ s directors’ liability in accordance with BVI law. Subject to BVI law, the Fifth Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association, which has been effective on November 14, 2022, provide that the Company will, in certain
situations, indemnify every director, secretary, or other officer of the Company (but not including the company’ s auditors) and
the personal representatives of the same against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages, or liabilities
incurred or sustained by such indemnified person, including legal fees, other than by reason of such person’ s own dishonesty or
fraud, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, in or about the conduct of the company’ s business or affairs
(including as a result of any mistake of judgment) or in the execution or discharge of their duties, powers, authorities or
discretions, including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or liabilities incurred by
such person in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any proceedings concerning the company or its affairs in any court
whether in the British Virgin Islands or elsewhere. The Company plans to maintain a directors” and officers’ insurance policy
pursuant to which the Company’ s directors and officers are insured against liability for actions taken in their capacities as
directors and officers. We believe that these provisions in the Fifth Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association, which has been effective on November 14, 2022, and these indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and
retain qualified persons as directors and officers. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may
be permitted to directors, officers, or control persons, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable. Family Relationships No family relationships exist among any of
our directors or executive officers. Code of Ethics The Company’ s board of directors has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to
its directors, executive officers, and team members that complies with the rules and regulations of Nasdaq and the SEC. The
Code of Ethics is available on AGBA’ s website. In addition, AGBA intends to post on the Corporate Governance section of



AGBA” s website all disclosures that are required by law or Nasdaq listing standards concerning any amendments to, or waivers
from, any provision of the Code of Ethics. The reference to AGBA’ s website address in this annual report does not include or
incorporate by reference the information on the Company’ s website into this annual report. Section 16 (a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance Section 16 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
requires our executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10 % of a registered class of our equity
securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership
of our shares of ordinary share and other equity securities. These executive officers, directors, and greater than 10 % beneficial
owners are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16 (a) forms filed by such reporting persons.
Based solely on our review of such forms furnished to us and written representations from certain reporting persons, we believe
that, during 2022-2023 , our directors, executive officers, and ten percent stockholders complied with all Section 16 (a) filing
requirements. ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION This section provides an overview of our executive compensation
programs. We are considered an “ emerging growth company ” within the meaning of the Securities Act for purposes of the
SEC’ s executive compensation disclosure rules. Accordingly, our reporting obligations with respect to our “ named executive
officers ” extend only to the individuals who serve as the principal executive officer and the next two most highly compensated
executive officers as of the end of the prior fiscal year, as well as up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would
have been provided based on their compensation levels but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive officer
at the end of the prior fiscal year. The Named Executive Officers for 2822-2023 fiscal year are Mr. Ng Wing Fai (Group Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. Shu Pei Huang Desmond (Acting Group Chief Financial Officer), Ms. Wong Suet Fai Almond (Group
Chief Operating Officer), Mr. Jeroen Nieuwkoop (Group Chief Strategy Officer), Mr. Richard Kong (Deputy Group Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary). Summary Compensation Table The following table summarizes information
concerning the compensation awarded to, earned by and paid to the named executive officers and directors for services rendered
to us for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2021- Name and Principal Position Fiscal Year Salary ($) Bonus ($)
Equity Awards ($) (2) All Other Compensation ($) Total ($) Robert E. Diamond, Jr. 2023 286, 110--- 286, 110 Chairman of
the Board 2022----- NG Wing Fai 2622-2023 1, 3+6-367 , 676—988-305- 268 , 666—=2-323- 1 , 364-635 , 676-628 Group
Chief Executive Officer -Chairmanand Executive Director 20242022 1, 282-316 , 076- 988 652—— 1 282-000 2 , 652
304, 076 SHU Pei Huang, Desmond 2622-2023 338-351 , 477—382-455- 139 , 666—726-734- 491 , 477-189 Acting Group
Chief Financial Officer 26242022 348-338 , 6651+64-477- 382 , 000 720 769———483-, 374477 WONG Suet Fai, Almond
2622-2023 462479 , 37—382-624- 139 , 660—=-844-734 321 619 , 137679 Group Chief Operating Officer 26242022 446
462 , 137- 382 569———326-446-, 889-000- 844, 137 Jeroen Nicuwkoop 2622-2023 446-457 , 433- 139 755———446-, 755
734- 597, 167 Group Chief Strategy Officer 2024-2022 273-440 , 334-68-755--- 440 , 755 923——34225FRichard Kong
2022-2023 294-309 , 352—17949- 27 , +96—31+1-218 641 337 , 542-808 Deputy Group Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary 2624-2022 269-294 | 705-78-352-17 , 190- 311 856————348-, 564542 Brian Chan (3) 2023 46, 154-- 46,

154 Independent Director 2022 5, 897 ————--- 5, 897 Thomas Ng (3) 2023 46, 154--- 46, 154 Independent Director 202+
————  Fhomas Ng{(3)-2022 5, 897 ————-=- 5, 897 IndependentDireetor 202+———————Fclix Yun Pun Wong
(3) 2023 46, 154--- 46, 154 Independent Director 2022 5, 897 ————--- 5, 897 IndependentPireetor 262+—————

(1) Represents all amounts earned as salary during the applicable fiscal year. For fiscal year 2022-2023 , the salary amounts
have been converted to U. S. Dollars (USD) from Hong Kong Dollars (HKD) using the exchange rate of USD1 to HKD?7. 8 as
of December 31, 2022-2023 . (2) For the fiscal year of 2023, These-these share awards were immediately-granted in
December 2022 and vested in en-the-date-ofgrant-December 42;2022-2023 . and-Deeember29;2022-(3) Directors began
receiving cash fees under our director compensation program following the Closing. Executive Compensation Following the
Closing of the Business Combination, we have deployed an executive compensation program that is consistent with our existing
compensation policies and philosophies, which are designed to align compensation with business objectives and the creation of
shareholder value, while enabling us to attract, motivate, and retain individuals who contribute to long- term success. We also
note that decisions on the executive compensation program will be made by the Remuneration Committee. The following
discussion is based on the present expectations as to the executive compensation program to be adopted by the Remuneration
Committee. The executive compensation program actually adopted will depend on the judgment of the members of the
Remuneration Committee and may differ from that set forth in the following discussion. We anticipate, however, that
compensation for the Named Executive Officers will reflect their current compensation in both form and amount. Employment
Agreements Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, we entered into employment agreements with each of the
Named Executive Officers and directors. The Named Executive Officers’ base salaries is set pursuant to the employment
agreements. We anticipate that the salaries of the Named Executive Officers will be reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committee based upon advice and counsel of its advisors. Equity- Based Awards We have granted the equity- based awards to
reward past or long- term performance of the Named Executive Officers and other high- performing employees. We believe that
providing a meaningful portion of the total compensation package in the form of equity- based awards will align the incentives
of our executive officers with the interests of our shareholders and serve to motivate and retain the individual executives. By
extending the same incentives to all of our employees, we believe that we will be able to reward exceptional employees for their
contributions to AGBA and promote continued loyalty. Equity- based awards will be awarded under the Share Award Scheme.
We continue to maintain various employee benefit plans, including health and retirement plans, comparable to those already in
place in which the Named Executive Officers will participate. ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS The following table sets
forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our voting securities by (i) each person who is known by us
to be the beneficial owner of more than 5 % of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares, (ii) each of our officers and directors,
and (iii) all of our officers and directors as a group as of December 31, 2822-2023 . Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that



all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all ordinary shares beneficially owned by
them. The following table does not reflect record of beneficial ownership of any ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the
warrants or conversion of rights, as the warrants are not exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2622-2023 and the rights
are not convertible within 60 days of December 31, 2622-2023 . Subject to the paragraph above, the percentage ownership of
issued shares is based on 59-70 , 576-38S , 985-742 shares of the Company’ s ordinary shares issued and outstanding as of
February 29 as-efMareh10-, 2023-2024 . The business address for each of the following entities or individuals is AGBA
Tower, 68 Johnston Road Wan Chai, Hong Kong SAR. Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares % Five
Percent Beneficial Owners of AGBA TAG Holdings Limited (1) $3-55 , €35-500 , 000 96-78 . 4-9 % Directors and Named

Executive Officers of AGBA Robert E. Diamond, Jr. — — Ng Wing Fai 857, 606 1. 22 % Shu Pei Huang, Desmond —
—313, 780 * Jeroen Nieuwkoop —140, 080 — Richard Kong 97, 857 * Wong Suet Fai, Almond 345, 680 * Brian

Chan 18, 000 * Thomas Ng 18, 000 * Felix Wong — — All Directors and Named Executive Officers of the Company as a
group (8 individuals) 36-845 , 866-600 * * Less than 1 %. (1) TAG has undertaken not to make any such distribution to its
ultimate beneficial shareholders. Nothing in this undertaking, however, shall prevent TAG, subject to compliance with
applicable law, from pledging or encumbering its AGBA shares or selling or otherwise disposing of any or all of the AGBA
shares to any other person or persons for value consideration. ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE Related Party Transaction Policy On November 10, 2022, our Board
adopted a written policy regarding the review and approval or disapproval by our Audit Committee of transactions between us,
or any of our subsidiaries, and any related person (defined to include our executive officers, directors or director nominees, any
stockholder beneficially owning in excess of 5 % of our ordinary shares or securities exchangeable for our ordinary share, and
any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons) (the ““ Related Person Transaction Policy ). In reviewing related
person transactions, our Audit Committee considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including the extent of the related
person’ s direct or indirect interest in the transaction. Any member of the Audit Committee who is a related person with respect
to a transaction under review will not be permitted to participate in the deliberations or to vote on the transaction. Certain related
person transactions described below were consummated prior to our adoption of the formal, written policy described above, and,
accordingly, the foregoing policies and procedures were not followed with respect to these transactions. However, we believe
that the terms obtained and consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described
below were comp"lr'lble to terms available or amounts that would be pdld or recelved as dpphcable 1n arm’ s- length




Admlmstratlve Services Agreements TAG Fmancml Holdings Service Agreements On June 24, 2021, each of OnePlatform
Wealth Management Limited (“ OWM ”), OnePlatform International Property Limited (“ OIP *’), OnePlatform Asset
Management Limited (“ OAM ), and Hong Kong Credit Corporation Limited (“ HKCC ”) entered into separate, but
substantially similar, Service Agreements with TAG Financial Holdings Limited (“ TAG Financial Holdings ’), a member of the
Legacy Group. As the members of the Legacy Group presently share office space in the AGBA Tower (see “ Information about
AGBA — Property ” for additional information about the office space used by AGBA), TAG Financial Holdings, pursuant to
these four agreements, agreed to provide certain premises and administrative services to each of OWM, OIP, OAM, and HKCC.
With respect to premises services, TAG Financial Holdings agreed to pay for, among other things, building management fees,
government rates and rent, office rent, and lease- related interest and depreciation for OWM, OIP, OAM, and HKCC, subject to
reimbursement. With respect to administrative services, TAG Financial Holdings agreed to pay for, among other things, office
consumables, cleaning fees, A / C, electricity, and water for OWM, OIP, OAM, and HKCC, subject to reimbursement. The
service fees are charged in accordance with a standard formula included in each of the contracts, corresponding to their office
space occupancy and employee headcount respectively. Pursuant to these service agreements and their predecessor
arrangements, AGBA, collectively, paid TAG Financial Holdings US $ 6, 039, 520 and US $ 3, 190, 064 and5S-$2,463:553
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, respectively, for premises and administrative expenses. The
management of AGBA anticipates that these Service Agreements will continue after the Business Combination and until either
party thereto pr0v1des one month written notice of termination, to ensure contmued smooth operation on a stdnd dlone bzms -

ew&mg—S—}P%requﬁy—mtemst—ef—G&ﬁeﬂeyF&rr— Fund Asset Mamgement Serwce JFA ( apltal is a closed ended 1nvestment

vehicle incorporated in the Cayman Islands and a member of the Legacy Group. Upon its incorporation JFA Capital engaged a
third- party fund manager who, in turn, engaged OnePlatform Asset Management (“ OAM ) as a sub- manager. On May 7,
2018, JFA Capital and OAM agreed for JFA Capital to terminate its existing management arrangement and appoint OAM as its
sole manager. OAM is licensed by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission under type 1 (Dealing in securities), type
4 (Advising on securities), and type 9 (asset management). OAM is also a “ professional investor ” as defined under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong. OAM, accordingly, provides management of JFA Capital’ s portfolio assets
for a management fee and a performance fee, as dictated by the management agreement. For the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022 and202+-, JFA Capital paid OAM US $ 666-900, 993 and US $ 900 , 778 andTS-$8FFH425-, respectively. The



arrangement is non- exclusive, and OAM is permitted to invest in or advise other investment funds. OAM is also permitted to
delegate its functions, powers, and duties to any person, subject to remaining liable for the actions of its delegate. The term of
this management arrangement is indefinite, subject to 90 days’ notice by either party, and the management of AGBA anticipates
that OAM will continue to provide fund management services to JFA Capital following the Business Combination. In addition
to JFA Capital, OAM also provides management services for other funds, including NSD Capital, a third- party Cayman-
incorporated fund. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, NSD Capital paid OAM US $ 69, 150 and US
$ 69, 134 and-HBS-$-69;,-650-, respectively, for management services. The management of AGBA anticipate that OAM will
contmue to provrde fund management services to N SD Capltal followmg the Business Comblnatlon —I:GHea-l-t-heafe—F&nd—I—Ir

-I:l-m-r-ted—l-n—September%@Q—l— Effectrve 1mmedrately upon the consummatlon of the Busmess Combmatron the Company will
enter into customary indemnification arrangements with each of the newly elected directors and newly appointed executive
officers of the Company. Pursuant to these indemnification agreements the Company will indemnify such directors and
executive officers under the circumstances and to the extent provided for therein, from and against all losses, claims, etc., to the
fullest extent permitted under BVI law and the Fifth Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association. Director
Independence Our board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of each director. Mr. Brian Chan, Mr.
Thomas Ng, and Mr. Felix Yun Pun Wong are all non- employee directors, all of whom our Board has determined to be
independent pursuant to Nasdaq rules. All of the members of our Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee are independent pursuant to Nasdaq rules. ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES Public
Accounting Fees The following table sets forth fees billed by our auditors during the last two fiscal years for services rendered
for the audit of our annual financial statements and the review of our quarterly financial statements, services by our auditors that
are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and that are not reported as audit
fees, services rendered in connection with tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning, and all other fees for services rendered.
The following table shows the aggregate fees from our current principal accounting firm, WWC., P. C. and the former principal
accounting firm, Friedman LLP for the fiscal years as shown. (US Dollars) Years Ended December 31, Category 2023 2022
2024+ WWC, P. C.: Audit Fees $ 630, 000 $ 460, 000 $—Audit Related Fees — Tax Fees — All Other Fees —
6,000 — $ 636, 000 S 460, 000 $—Marcum LLP (Formerly Friedman LLP): Audit Fees $ — $ 114, 450 $-64-597Audit
Related Fees — Tax Fees — All Other Fees — $—$ 114, 450 $-64-Audit fees for the fiscal years ended
December 31 , 5972023 and 2022 rendered by WWC., P. C. relate to professional services rendered for the audit of our
consolidated financial statements, quarterly rev1ews, and issuance of consents. Audit fees for the fiscal year ended
December 31,2022 rend w 0

(formerly Frredman LLP) relate to professional services rendered for the audlts of our predecessor’ s financial statements,
quarterly reviews, issuance of consents, the Business Combination and review of documents filed with the SEC. PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) Financial Statements: (1) The financial statements
required to be included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K are included in Item 8 herein. (2) All supplemental schedules have
been omitted since the information is either included in the financial statements or the notes thereto or they are not required or
are not applicable. (3) See attached Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10- K (b) ExhibitsThe following documents
are filed as exhibits to this annual report, including those exhibits incorporated herein by reference to one of our prior filings
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Exhibit No. Description 2. 1 Business Combination Agreement, dated November
3,2021, by and among AGBA Acquisition Limited, AGBA Merger Sub I Limited, AGBA Merger Sub II Limited, TAG
International Limited, TAG Asset Partners Limited, OnePlatform International Limited, OnePlatform Holdings Limited, TAG
Asia Capital Holdings Limited, and TAG Holdings Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 1 to AGBA’ s 8- K filed
with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 2. 2 Amendment No. 1 to the Business Combination Agreement, dated November 18,
2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 2 to AGBA’ s 8- K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 2. 3 Amendment
No. 2 to the Business Combination Agreement, dated January 4, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 3 to AGBA” s §-
K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 2. 4 Amendment No. 3 to the Business Combination Agreement, dated May 4,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 4 to AGBA” s 8- K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 2. 5 Business
Combination Agreement Waiver and Amendment, dated October 21, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 5 to AGBA’
s 8- K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 3. 1 Fifth Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to AGBA” s 8- K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 4-3 . +Form-2
Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association Ordinary-Share-eertifteate
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit4-3 . 1 to AGBA’ s 8- K filed with the SEC on Nevember+8-January 3 , 26222024 ) 4. 2
1 Form of WarrantOrdinary Share certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2-1 to AGBA” s 8- K ﬁled with the SEC
on November 18, 2022) 4. 2 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to AGBA’ s 8- K filed with the
SEC on November 18, 2022) 4. 3 Description of Registrant’ s Securities (incorporated by reference to AGBA’ s 10- K filed
with the SEC on April 3, 2023) 4. 4 Warrant Agreement dated May 14, 2019, by and between Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 5 to AGBA” s 8- K filed with the SEC on May 17,
2019) 10. 2 Share Award Scheme (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to AGBA”’ s 8- K filed with the SEC on November



18, 2022) 10. 3 Letter of Appointment and Transfer (Ng Wing Fai) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to AGBA’ s 8- K
filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 10. 4 Letter of Appointment and Transfer (Wong Suet Fai Almond) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to AGBA’ s 8- K filed with the SEC on November 18, 2022) 21. 1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant 23. 1
Consent of WWC, P. C. Purchases 23-—2-Censentof FriedmantEP-Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated
Purchasers 31. 1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a- 14 (a), as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act 0f2002. 31. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities
Exchange Act Rule 13a- 14 (a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 1 Certification of
Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002. 32. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 97. 1 Clawback Policy 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document. 101. SCH Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. 101. CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. 101.
DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. 101. LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
Linkbase Document. 101. PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. Cover Page Interactive
Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101). ITEM 16. FORM 10- K SUMMARY SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. AGBA GROUP HOLDING LIMITED Dated: Apri-3-March 28 ,
2623-2024 By: / s / Wing Fai NG Name: Wing Fai NG Title: Group Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
AGBA GROUP HOLDING LIMITED Dated: Apri+3-March 28 , 2023-2024 By: / s / Shu Pei Huang, Desmond Name: Shu Pei
Huang, Desmond Title: Acting Group Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) Pursuant to the
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Name Position Date / s / Robert E. Diamond, Jr. Chairman of
the Board March 28, 2024 Robert E. Diamond, Jr. /s / Wing Fai NG Group Chief Executive Officer (Principal executive

officer) and Executive Director Aprit3-March 28 | 2623-2024 /s+Weng Wing Suet-Fai NG ;Almond-Exeeutive DireetorAprit

32023 Woeng-SuetFat;Admend-/ s / Brian Chan Independent Director Aprit-3-March 28 , 2623-2024 Brian Chan /s / Thomas
Ng Independent Director Aprt-3-March 28 | 2623-2024 Thomas Ng /s / Felix Yun Pun Wong Independent Director Apri-3

March 28 , 2623-2024 Felix Yun Pun Wong AGBA GROUP HOLDING LIMITED {Fermetly-known-asAGBAAeqtisition
Eimited)- INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Page Report of Independent Regr%tered Pubhc
Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 1171) F-2 R A M
Consolidated Balance Sheets F- 4-3 Consolidated Statement% of Operatlon% and Cornprehemrve Loss )—I-nee-me—F 5—4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity F-6-5 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F- -6 Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements F- 8—7 to - 4RERORT4IREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRMTo: The Board of Directors and Shareholders of AGBA Group Holding LimitedOpinion on the
Consolidated Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet-sheets of AGBA Group
Holding Limited and subsidiaries (collectively the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive €loss Hreeme-, ehanges-n-cash flows, shareholders’ equity, and eash
-ﬂews—fer—t-he—ye&r—ended—Beeembeﬁ-l—E@Q%—the related notes and-finanetal-statementsehedute-(collectively referred to as the
“ consolidated financial statements ). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows in each of the years for the two- year period ended December 31, 20222023 , in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America. Substantial Doubt aboutE—m-phasts—ef—M&ﬁer—Revefse—Reeapﬁahﬁrﬁeﬁ
As—diseussed—m—Nefe-4—the Company entefed—mte— s Ablhty to Contmue as a feyefse-ree&pﬁahz&&on—tf&nsaeﬁeﬂ%efeby—the

accompanying Congohdated ﬁnancral statements have been prepared a%summg that the Company will continue as a going
concern. As deseribed-discussed in Note 3-4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has-incurred substantial aet
toss-losses and-during the year ended December 31, 2023 As of December 31 2023, the Company had a workmg capltal

deficit and net cash outflows from operating activities duaring

defieit-as-atDeeember3+2622-. These conditions etretuﬁs’f&nees—gwe-ﬂse-ralse ’fo—@ubqtantral doubt t-hat—about the Company
s’ s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’ s plans in regards— regard to these matters are also described in
Note 4 3—to-the-eonsolidated-finanetal-statements- The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this deubtand-uncertainty. Our-opinton-Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated
Financial Statements As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated is-its net
medifted-with-respeet-consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 to this-matter-correct certain
misstatements . Basis for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s consolidated financial statements based on our audit
audits . We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)



(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit
audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the atdit-audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audit-audits , we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Our audit-audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We
believe that our audit-audits pfeiﬂdes» provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. /s / WWC, P. C. PCAOB ID No. 1171 We
hu e serv ed as the ( ompany s auditor since 2022. San Mateo C allforma RE—P@H@F—I—N—DE—P—E—N-BENT—REGI—S%ERE—D

(C urrency explessed n Umted Stdtes Dollars (“ US $’ )) As of December 31 2023 2022 202+-ASSETS (restated) Current
assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 1, 861, 223 $ 6, 449, 876 -$—3-8%95—6-1—9—Rest11cted cash 16, 816, 842 44, 844, 196 34:485;
F97-Accounts receivable, net 2, 970, 636 2, 822, 162 968;-727-Accounts receivable, net, related parties 1, 094, 225 272, 546
238;-892-1 oans reeetvables— receivable , net 549, 461 517, 479 423-Notes receivable , net 557 61HHFEarnest-depeosit, 003 the
shareholder-— #182,131-Considerationreeetvable—1;8614348-Income tax recov erable — 260, 120 —Deposit,
prepayments, and other receivables , net 1, 769, 582 589, 786 383;-399-Total current assets 25, 618, 972 55, 756, 165 3;779%;
S545-Non- current assets: Rental deposit, net 961, 253 — [ oans reeetvables— receivable , nct 1, 054, 841 1, 072, 392 3;785;
3+4-Property and equipment, net 1, 721, 284 7, 359, 416 +Right- of- use asset . 653-net 11 , 458508, 153 — Long- term
investments, net 3725 , 633-201 , 366-33-933 36 , 292-510 , 643-803 Long- term investments, net, related party 522, 531
522, 557 Total non- current assets 40, 969, 995 45, 465, 168 38-730-F85-TOTAL ASSETS $ 66,588,967 $ 101,221,333 $
122-516,300-LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY Current liabilities: Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $
19, 754, 041 $ 20, 274, 429 $3-850,-845-Escrow liabilities 16, 816, 842 29, 487, 616 34;485:797-Borrowings 1, 804, 950 4,
477, 254 Borrowings, related party 5, 000, 000 — AmountAmounts duc to shareholder-the holding company 2, 906, 261 6,
289, 743 Income tax payable 328 720 — Lease llabllltles 1, 229, 329 — Forward share purchase liability — 13, 491, 606 —
6-1otal current liabilities 9747, 840, 143 74 , 020, 648 6—1—364—7%8
Lono term 114b111t1es Lease llabllltles 10, 646, 053 — Warrant liabilities — 4, 548 —Deferred tax liabilities — 45, 858 —




Total long- term liabilities 10, 646, 053 50, 406 —TOTAL LIABILITIES 9758, 486, 196 74 , 071, 054 615364728
Commitments and contingencies (Note 2424 ) Shareholders’ equity: Ordinary shares, $ 0. 001 par value; 200, 000, 000
shares authorized, 68, 661, 998 and 58, 376, 985 and-53;-835;000-shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
2022 and2024-, respectively (468, 662 58, 377 53;-835-Ordinary shares to be issued +4 , 665-854 1, 665 Additional paid- in
capital 74, 103, 494 43, 870, 308 Hé%é%eeewab*e—&em—ﬂ%eﬂ%mre%w}der—%%%Accumulated other
comprehensive loss ( 473, 087) ( 384, 938) 479-46H-Accumulated deficit yretained-earntngs( 39-65, 601, 152) (16 , 395,
133) 52,425;-562-Total shareholders’ equity 4-8, 102, 771 27 , 150, 279 65+45;-572-TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’® EQUITY $ 66, 588,967 $ 101, 221, sz%%ﬁeaemﬁefeﬁa{ed—feﬁhe—reverse

reeapttalizationas-deseribedHinNote4—See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE ¢LOSS YINEOME-For the Years-years ended December 31,

2023 2022 2024+-Revenues: Interest income: Loans $ 157,190 $ 176, 175 $964-522-Total interest income 157, 190 176, 175
96+-522-Non- interest income: Commissions 50, 068, 936 26, 561, 691 5:3+68;233-Recurring asset management service fees
2,992,918 3, 372, 449 4-Recurring asset management service fees , 39+related party 970 , 773-143 969, 912 Total non-
mterest 1ncome %9—54 934—031 -1-49—9—997 30 569—904 996—052 Total revenues from others -39—54 -1—1-9—189 187 -3-16—1-9—

fFe’fa-l—reveﬂttes—zl 080, 227 -1—1—468—693—Opemt1no ees{—&ﬂd-expenses lnterest expense ( 784 479)( 14() 644 )—(484—9%9—)
Commission expense ( 37, 287, 519) ( 18, 823, 458 3H35-866;25+) Sales and marketing expense ( 3, 708, 557) (11, 141, 672)
Research and development 265543 )yFeehnologycxpense ( 4, 557, 196) (1, 209, 035) (4+4;:236)Persennel-Personal and
benefit expense ( 27,217, 822) (21, 928, 504) Legal and professional fees ( 9-13 . +52-601 , 522-274) (1, 265, 866) Legal and
professional fees, related party (333, 332) — Allowance for expected credit losses on financial instruments (1, 077, 184)
(16, 509 ) Other general and administrative expenses (69 , 488467 , 6434146 ) ( 5-4 , 793-905 , +66-636 ) Total operating eest
and-expenses ( 98, 034, 509) (59, 431, 324 )—61-9—9—15—7%6—) Loss from operations ( 43 845, 322) (28,351, 097 8447123
Other income (expense): -Bﬂ-ﬁ-lerﬁtefes{—rneefﬁe—99—l-32—47—7-37—lnt61est income 383 , 720 99 feia-ted-parﬁy%@%— 632-132
Foreign exchange gain (loss ) , net 909, 227 (2, 643, 261) %Gé%w&e&eqt&fyhmefhed—ﬁrves{meﬂt—%%
Investment €loss Hnreeme-, net ( 6, 878, 869) (8, 937, 431) 436;255;232-Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 4, 548 8,
952 —Change in fair value of forward share purchase liability ( 82, 182) (5, 392, 293) Loss on settlement of forward share
purchase agreement (378, 895) — Gain on disposal of property and equipment 664, 816 — Rental income 239,239 315,
233 —Sundry income 64, 237 504, 735 42453467 Total other fexpense Yreome-, net (5, 074, 159) ( 16, 044, 933) 128;:4+6;
B oss Hreeme-before income taxes (48, 919, 481) (44, 396, 030) H;968;968-Income tax expense ( 286, 538) (124,
605) 23:565;445-NET £LOSS $ (49, 206, 019 ) ENCOME-$ (44, 520, 635) $96;463;-523-Other comprehensive loss: Foreign
currency translation adjustment ( 88, 149) (205, 477) 393;-66-COMPREHENSIVE €LOSS $ (49, 294, 168 ) INCOME-S (44,
726, 112) $96;-669;922-Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding {)-Basic and diluted 65, 265, 397 56, 084,
858 55;-506;,-000-Diluted56,-084;-858-55;-506;,-000-Net loss Hneome-per ordinary share {H—Basic and diluted $ (0. 75) $ (0.
79) $+-See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements . 74-—Biluted-$(0-—79-$+-F4-CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Currency expressed in United States Dollars (“ US § ),
except for number of shares) For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 Ordinary shares Ordinary shares to be issued
Additional patd=—rReceivable from the Accumulated other eomprehenstve-toss){ Accumulated deficit) retairred-Total Note
sharehotders>No. of share Amount No. of share Amount paid- in capital sharehetder-holding company comprehensive (loss)
income retained carnings shareholders’ cquity Balance as of January 1, 2024-2022 53, 835, 000 $ 53, 835 1, 665, 000 § 1, 665
$ 38, 706, 226 § —$244:340-$-( 44-29 . 338562 , 624195 ) § (5-179 , 461 362,155-) Advanees-to-theshareholder-$ 52, 125,

502 $ 61, 145, 572 Restatement 2) — — — — — 295621495 — 23, 000, 000 23, 000, 000 Balance as of January 1,
2022 (restated) (17) (1) 53 835 000 $ 53 835 1 665 000 $ 1, 665 $ 38 706 226 $ (7() 562, 195) 8;308;754)-Shares-and

af 2 h A ed;1 712 —— 6,282,184 —
——6, 284 ,896 Specml d1\ 1dend to the shareholder he%d-mg—eefﬂp&ﬂ-yL ————29, 562 195 — (47,000,000)
(17,437,805) Share- based compensation (Note 15) — — — — 2,088,725 — — — 2,088,725 Initial measurement of forward
share purchase liability — — ——(8,099,313) — ——(8,099,313) Forgiveness of ameunts— amount duc to shareholder the
heldingeompany— — — — 0, ,000, 000 Net loss for the year —— — — — — — (44,520,635)
(44,520,635) Net nreerte-loss for the yeat —— — — —— — 56-(44 . 463-520 , 523-96-635) (44 , 463-520 ., 523-635) Foreign
currency translation adjustment — — — — — — (393205 ,66+477 ) — (393-205 , 664477 ) Balance as of December 31,

26242022 53-(restated) 58 . $35-376, 985 58, 377 1, 665 . 000 $53-835-1, 665 43 | 870999—$—1— 665538308 — -766;226-%

(384, 938) (16, 395, 133) 27 150, 29-279 Issuance%%%%@%—é&—HE%ﬁeﬁmﬁeﬁfm
of publie-and-privaterightsinto-ordinary shares to settle finder fee ( Nete-17) (ii) 2, 173, 913 2, +4-174 3482560483~ 3,
997, 826 — — — 4, 000, 000 Issuance of holdback shares ( 483-17 ) (iv) 1, 665, 000 1, 665 (1, 665, 000) (1, 665) — — — —

— Issuance of ordinary shares to-settle-payables-for private placement ( 17 Nete+4-) (vii) 792;334-792-— — 72, 262643 ,
278-300 2, 643 1, 847, 667 — — — 71 , 203-850 , 870-310 [ssuance of ordinary shares for commitment to-settle-finder-fce (
17 Nete+4-) 555-(v) 600 , 000 555600 — — 275, 400 — — — 276, 000 Share- based compensation ( 555-17 ) (iii), (vi),
(viii) 5, 846, 100 5, 846 2, 210, 984 2, 211 11 518 909 ———11, 526 966 Forglveness of amounts due to the holding
compan AseHOR-Cos clated-to-Busties No — e —8;308 54—

4}%—7—12—~ 12,593 -15—1—2— 384 712 = 6 282,...... (44 520 635) Forel,g_n currency tmnslatlon ad]ustment —————— (

206588 ,47—7—149 ) — (265-88 , 477-149) Net loss for the year — — — — — — — (49, 206, 019) (49, 206, 019 ) Balance as of
December 31, 2622-2023 58-68 , 376-661 , 985-998 $ 58-68 , 3771662 4 , 665-854 , 666-284 $ +4 , 665-854 $ 43-74 , $76-103 ,

368494 5 — $ (384473 ., 938-087 ) § (39-65 ,395-601 , +33-152 ) $ 4-8 , +56-102 , 279-771 CONSOLIDATED



STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS For the Years-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 202+Cash flows from operating
activities: Net Closs $ (49, 206, 019 ) freome-$ (44, 520, 635) $96;463;-523-Adjustments to reconcile net Floss Hreeme-to net
cash used in operating activities Share- based compensation expense 11, 235, 026 2, 088, 725 Non- cash lease expense 1, 496,
286 — Depreciation of property and equipment 261, 323 392, 873 Interest income 45;:-383-F0ss-0n dispesal-ofproperty-and
equipment-notes receivable (34, 665) — F3-Aeereted-nterest-Interest expense on borrowings 784, 479 — 203;-632)
Provistonforlegal-eontingeneytoss—=836;368-Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net (909, 227) 2, 643, 261 484,74+ Investment
loss tineeme)-, net 6, 878, 869 &, 937, 431 Allowance for expected credit losses 61—39—255—2—32—)—1:@93—011 financial equity
method-investment-—- instruments 1, 077, 184 — +;-596;:555-Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 4, 548) (8, 952) —
Change in fair value of forward share purchase liability 82,182 5, 392, 293 Gain on disposal of property and equipment
(664, 816) — Loss on settlement of forward share purchase agreement 378, 895 — Reversal of over- accruals staff bonus
(3, 595, 028) — Change in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable (1, 187, 628) (1, 947, 089) +;735;H3-Loans
receivable (15, 656) 2, 319, 054 +6:728;359-Deposits, prepayments, and other receivables ( 2, 495, 082) ( 198, 512 H+979;
B45-) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6, 894, 066 10, 877, 792 (4329703 -Escrow liabilities ( 12, 670, 774) (4, 998,
181) Lease liabilities ( 9-1 , 866-130 , 663-008 ) — Income tax payable 542, 982 (282, 459) 22;-92F492-Net cash used in
operating activities ( 42, 282, 159) ( 19, 304, 399 32;-154;-659-) Cash flows from investing activities: Proceeds from sale of
investments 3, 976, 657 1, 853, 473 Purchase 186;-826;-950-Rayment-of earnest-deposit-notes receivable (589 , the-shareheolder
086) — Purchase of (—7—1—82—1—3—19—1*dd-rﬁeﬂ—m—10ng— telm investments —fe}a’eed-p&ﬁy—( -1-6—288 581 228;-690-) — (523;26%
Addition in long- term investments § p bonds-, related party — +(16 , 286
228 . 628-690) Dividend received from long term inv estments 1,670,045 1, 154 749 Proceeds from sale of property and
equipment 6, 127, 576 — Purchase of property and equipment ( 104, 846) ( 968, 367 H3;603-) Net cash fased-m)-provided by
(used in) investing activities 10, 791, 765 (14, 188, 835) +#74494;-653-Cash flows from financing activities: Advances from
{repaymentto)-the shareholder-holding company 9, 342, 972 9, 752, 275 Settlement of forward share purchase agreement (
+63-- 13 , 798952 , H5-683 ) — Proceeds from borrowings 7, 746, 414 4, 464, 391 Repayments of borrowings (6, 026, 937)
— Proceeds from private placement 1, 850, 310 — Dividend paid to the sharehetder-holding company — (17, 437, 805) —
Cash proceeds from reverse recapitalization, net of redemption — 15, 356, 580 —Repayment-of-bankborrowings—(73:59)
Net cash (used in) provided by fused4m)-financing activities (1, 039, 924) 12, 135, 441 +63;-8H5706)-Effect on exchange rate
change on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 85, 689) (429, 542 )—6155—154—) Net change in cash, cash equivalent and
restricted cash ( 32, 616, 007) (21, 787, 335) H5343434-BEGINNING OF YEAR 51, 294, 072 73, 081, 407 645768273
END OF YEAR $ 18, 678,065 $ 51, 294, 072 $93;-68+467SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION: Cash
received from income tax reeeverable-refund $ 427,363 $ 125, 353 $—Cash paid for income taxes $ 172,334 $ 531, 592
Cash received from interest $ —349, 055 $ 99, 132 Cash paid for interest § 784, 479 $§ 140, 644 SUPPLEMENTAL
DISCLOSURE OF NON- CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES Initial recognition of operating lease
liabilities related to right- of- use asset $ +12 . 266-512, 585 $ — Forgiveness of amounts due to the holding company $
12,593, 384 $ 6, 000, 000 Issuance of ordinary shares to settle finder fee $ 4, 000, 000 $ — Issuance of ordinary shares to
settle payables $ — $ 7, 203, 070 Purchase of property and equipment, through earnest deposit $ — $ 7, 182, 131 Special
dividend to the holding company offset with amount due from the holding company § — $ 29, 562, 195 Transaction costs
in related to Business Combination $ — $ 8, 308, 754 Liability assumed related to forward share purchase agreement $
— $ 13,491, 606 As of December 31, 2023 2022 Reconciliation to amounts on consolidated balance sheets: Cash and cash
equivalents $ 1, 861, 223 $ 6, 449, 876 $38;5956140-Restricted cash 16, 816, 842 44, 844, 196 34,485 797 Total cash, cash
equw"llents and restrlcted cash S 18 678 065 $ 51, 294, 072 -$—7-3—984—497—SUP—PI:EMEN%*EDISGL@S-URE—GF—N@N-

CON SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ofshares)y NOTE | NATURE OF BUSINESS 9¥E—R—\LI-E-WLAND BASIS OF PRESENTATION AGBA Group Holdmé

Limited (“ AGBA ” or the “ C ompany )ffeﬂﬁef}y—lﬂ&ewn—as-was AGBA—Aeqtﬂst&eﬂ—]:rmrted)—ls—mcorpomted on October 8
2018 in British Virgin Islands. OnNe : sedts .

%BA—Gfeﬁp—I-Ie-}dmg—I:rmﬁedLThe Comp"my, throu,ﬂch its subudmrles is opemtmg a Wedlth dnd hedlth eﬂep*at—fefm»
platform , offering a wide range of financial service and products, covering life insurance, pensions, property- casualty
insurance, stock brokerage, mutual funds, lending, and real estate in overseas. AGBA is also engaged in financial technology
business and financial investments, managing an ensemble of fintech investments and healthcare investment and operating a
health and wealth management platform with a broad spectrum of services and value- added information in health, insurance,
investments and social sharing. On November 14, 2022 (*“ Closing Date ”’), AGBA, AGBA Merger Sub I Limited, AGBA
Merger Sub II Limited, TAG International Limited, TAG Asset Partners Limited, OnePlatform International Limited,
OnePlatform Holdings Limited, TAG Asia Capital Holdings Limited, and TAG Holdings Limited (“ TAG ) completed the
business combination transaction and AGBA became the 100 % beneficial owner of all of the issued and outstanding shares and
other equity interest of TAG International Limited and TAG Asia Capital Holdings Limited. The transaction was accounted for
as a “ reverse recapitalization ” and AGBA was treated as the “ acquired ” company for accounting purposes (see Note 4-5). The
accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“ US $ ” or “ $ ) and have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“ U. S. GAAP ”)
and pursuant to the accounting and disclosure rules and regulations of the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission




(the “ SEC ” ). Certain prior yeat-period amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year-period
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements reflect the activities of AGBA and each of the subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and202+:
Name Background Ownership TAG International Limited (“ TIL ) @ ® @ @ British Virgin Islands company -e-Incorporated on
October 25, 2021 #-Issued and outstanding 1 ordinary share at § 1 par value ®-Investment holding 100 % owned by AGBA
TAG Asset Partners Limited (“ TAP ) @ ® @ @ British Virgin Islands company -e-Incorporated on October 25, 2021 e-Issued
and outstanding 1 ordrnary share at $ 1 par value O—Inveitment holdrng 100 % owned by TIL OnePlatform International Limited
(“OIL ") @ ® @ {amalgamated o oy ot e Hong Kong company &
Incorporated on November 2, 2021 O—I%ued and outqtandrng 100 ordlnary ihare@ for HK $ 100 ($ 13) O—Inveitment holdrng 100
% owned by TAP TAG Asia Capital Holdings Limited (“TAC ") ® @ ®
e British Virgin Islands company -e-Incorporated on October 26, 2015 -#-Issued and outstanding +50, 000 ordinary share
shares at § | par value e-Investment holding 100 % owned by AGBA-OnePlatfermmrAGBAAGBA GROUP HOLDING
LIMITED NOTES TO THE CON SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOnePlatform Wealth Management Limited
(“OWM ") e @ @ A ) it g mited)-@ Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on
February 5, 2003 -e-Issued and outqtandrng 240 764 705 ordlnary ihare@ for HK $ 120, 851, 790 ($ 15, 493, 819) e-Provision
of insurance and mandatory provident fund schemes brokerage services 99. 89 % owned by OIL GH:GﬁeP-l-at-fen%
OnePlatform International Property Limited (“ OIP ) @ @ o {form OWH attonal-Prope o
Eimitedy-e Hong Kong company -e-Incorporated on May 21, 2014 O—I%sued and outqtandrng 30, 001 200 ordlnary ihare@ for
HK $ 30, 001, 200 ($ 3, 846, 308) e-Provision of overseas real estate brokerage services 100 % owned by OIL OnePlatform
Asset Management Limited (“OAM ") e @ ® ® A STaRRE ‘ :
company e-Incorporated on November 24, 1999 0—l§iued and outitandrng 264 160, 000 ordrnary shares for HK $ 272, 000 000
($ 34, 871, 795) e-Licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong -e-Provision of investment advisory, funds
dealing, introdueing broker, and asset management services 100 % owned by OIL Kerberos (Nominee) Limited (“ KNL ) @ ®
e e Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on April 20, 2007 #-Issued and outstanding 1 ordinary share for HK § 1 e Registered
ttnder—’Phe—Heﬂg—Keﬂg—"Prus-te&@fd-maﬁee—o—Provrsron of escrow services 100 % owned by OAM Maxthree Limited (“ Maxthree
”) @ ® ® @ British Virgin Islands company e-Incorporated on April 12, 2006 e-Issued and outstanding 1 ordinary share at $ 1
par value e-Investment holding 100 % owned by OIL OnePlatform Credit Limited ( formerlyknown-as-ArteyFinanee-HKS
Eimited)-“ OCL ”) @ @ ® ® @ Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on August 6, 1982 e-Issued and outstanding 169, 107, 379
ordinary shares for HK $ 169, 107, 379 ($ 21, 680, 433) #Registered under the Hong Kong Money Lenders Ordinance &
Provision of money lending services 100 % owned by Maxthree Hong Kong Credit Corporation Limited (“HKCC ”) e @ @ ® ®
Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on March 16, 1982 e-Issued and outstanding 139, 007, 381 ordinary shares for HK $ 139,
007, 381 ($ 17, 821, 459) #-Registered under the Hong Kong Money Lenders Ordinance #-Provision of money lending services
100 % owned by OCLF- 9Frendy8Trendy Reach Holdings Limited (“ TRHL ) @ ® @ e British Virgin Islands company -
Incorporated on October 5, 2015 e-Issued and outstanding 1 ordinary share at HK § 1 -e-Investment holding 100 % owned by
Maxthree Profit Vision Limited (“ PVL ") @ @ ® ® Hong Kong company -e-Incorporated on October 9, 2015 #-Issued and
outstanding 1 ordinary shares— share for HK $ 1 e-Property investment holding 100 % owned by TRHL TAG Technologies
Limited (“ TAGTL ”) @ o o {formerlyknown-as-ConvoyTechnologiesimited)-o British Virgin [slands company e
Incorporated on October 23, 2015 #-Issued and outstanding 1 ordinary share at $ 1 par value -e-Investment in hnancral
technology business 100 % owned by TAC AGBA Group Limited ( forss v g §
“AGL ") @ ® ® @ Hong Kong company -e-Incorporated on November 28, 2019 0—l§iued and outitandrng 10, 000 ordrnary
shares for HK $ 10, 000 ($ 1, 282) #-Operating as cost center for the Company 100 % owned by TAGTL Tandem Fintech
Limited (“TFL”)® ® ® ffeﬂﬁefbhlﬂ&ewn—as—Hrt—Fm’éeeh—Se-}tmeﬁs—I:mtedi—o Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on October
6, 2017 #-Issued and outstanding 9, 000, 000 ordinary shares for HK $ 9, 000, 000 ($ 1, 153, 846) e-Operating an online
insurance comparison platform 100 % owned by TAC AGBA Innovation Limited (“ AGBA Innovation ) ® e e {formerly
known-as-OnePlatformFinBiz-SelutionsEimited)-o Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on February 26, 2016 e-Issued and
outstanding 1 ordinary share for HK § 1 #-No operations since inception 100 % owned by OIL FinLiving Limited (* FLL ) @
® o o Hong Kong company e-Incorporated on September 14, 2021 -Issued and outstanding 100 ordinary share-shares for HK
$ 100 ($ 13)-e-No operations since inception 100 % owned by AGBA InnovationAGBA and its subsidiaries are hereinafter
referred to as ¢the “ Company ” 3. F- 9 NOTE 2 RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS The Company has restated the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
related disclosure for the year ended December 31, 2022 that were previously included in the Form 10- K filed with the
SEC on April 3, 2023. Restatement Background In June 2021, the Company received the offer from JP Morgan Chase
Holdings LLC to purchase all its equity interest in Nutmeg Saving and Investment Limited (“ Nutmeg ). Nutmeg is
incorporated in the United Kingdom and engaged in the provision of online discretionary investment management
services. The cash consideration was approximately $ 187 million (equivalent to approximately GBP 135 million) and
fully received in September 2021, resulting in a realized gain of approximately $ 139 million (equivalent to
approximately GBP 101 million). As of December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an income tax payable of $ 23 million
based on the Hong Kong profit tax rate of 16. 5 %. The Company corrected its previous conclusion of provision of
income tax liabilities of $§ 23 million related to the disposal of Nutmeg. The Company had previously believed that the
gain from the sale of Nutmeg should have been taxed at the 16. S % profit tax rate in Hong Kong during the year of
disposal, resulting in a recorded income tax liability of $ 23 million. After reassessing whether income tax should be
provided, the Company reviewed that there was an error resulting from the improper application of US tax law and
Hong Kong tax law due to the mistaken omission of the consideration of Hong Kong tax law, and came to the conclusion




that there should be no income tax applied when selling a long- term investment in Hong Kong. The impact of
restatement The impact of the accounting errors was a cumulative reduction in the income tax provision of $ 23 million
and a cumulative decrease in the accumulated deficit of $ 23 million, and it had no impact on the consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2022. The following table summarized the effect of the restatement on each financial statement line items as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2022, as indicated: Summary of restatement — consolidated balance sheet As of December
31, 2022 As Previously Reported Adjustment As Restated Income tax payable $ 23, 000, 000 $ (23, 000, 000) $ — Total
current liabilities $ 97, 020, 648 $ (23, 000, 000) $ 74, 020, 648 Total liabilities $ 97, 071, 054 $ (23, 000, 000) $ 74, 071, 054
Accumulated deficit $ (39, 395, 133) $ 23, 000, 000 $ (16, 395, 133) Total shareholders’ equity $ 4, 150, 279 $ 23, 000, 000
$ 27,150, 279 Summary of restatement — consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity For the year
December 31, 2022 As Previously Reported Adjustment As Restated Balance as of January 1, 2022 Accumulated (deficit)
retained earnings $ 52, 125, 502 $ 23, 000, 000 $ 75, 125, 502 Balance as of December 31, 2022 Accumulated (deficit)
retained earnings $ (39, 395, 133) §$ 23, 000, 000 $ (16, 395, 133) F- 10 NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES These accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the application of certain significant
accounting pOllCleS as descrlbed in this note and elsewhere in the accompanymg consolidated financial statements and notes.

ConsohdatlonThe T—he—accomp"mylng consohdated hnancml statementi 1nclude the hnancml statements of AGBA and its
subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. All intercompany transactions and balances between AGBA and its subsidiaries are eliminated upon consolidation. e
Emerging Growth €empany-CompanyThe Fhe-Company is an © emerging growth company, ” as defined in Section 2 (a) of the
Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “ JOBS Act ™), and it may take advantage
of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the independent registered public accounting
firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding
advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
Further, Section 102 (b) (1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or
revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration
statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with
the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non- emerging growth companies but any such election to opt
out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period , which means that when a
standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging
growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This
may make comparison of the Company’ s consolidated financial statements with another public company , which is neither an
emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period
difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used. F-e Use of Estimates and
Assumptions The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the years presented. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Company’ s consolidated financial
statements include the useful lives of property and equipment, impairment of long - H-lived assets, allowance for
expected credit losses, notes receivable, share- based compensation, warrant liabilities, forward share purchase liability,
provision for contingent liabilities, revenue recognition, leases, income tax provision, deferred taxes and uncertain tax
position, and allocation of expenses from the holding company. The inputs into the management’ s judgments and
estimates consider the geopolitical tension, inflationary and high interest rate environment and other macroeconomic
factors on the Company’ s critical and significant accounting estimates. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
e Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency using the
applicable exchange rates at the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are recorded in the statements of
operations and comprehensive loss . F- 11 The reporting currency of the Company is US $ and the accompanying consolidated
financial statements have been expressed in US $. In addition, the Company and subsidiaries are operating in Hong Kong
maintain their books and record in their local currency, Hong Kong dollars (“ HK $ ), which is a functional currency as being
the primary currency of the economic environment in which their operations are conducted. In general, for consolidation
purposes, assets and liabilities of its subsidiaries whose functional currency is not US §$ are translated into US $, in accordance
with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ) Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) Topic 830- 30,
Translation of Financial Statement, using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at
average rates prevailing during the year. The gains and losses resulting from translation of financial statements of foreign



subsidiaries are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within the statements of changes in
shareholders’ equity. Translation of amounts from HK § into US $ has been made at the following exchange rates for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024—: December 31, 2622-2023 December 31, 20242022 Year- end HK $: US $
exchange rate 0. 1281 0. 4283-1281 Annual average HK $: US § exchange rate 0. 1277 0. 4287 1277 e Cash and Cash
Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash in readily available checking and saving accounts. They consist
of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash and that mature within three months or less from the date of
purchase. The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments. The Company maintains
most of its bank accounts in Hong Kong and Hong Kong is not protected by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“
FDIC ”) insurance. However, management does not believe there is a significant risk of loss . ® Restricted Cash Restricted
cash consist of funds held in escrow accounts reflecting (i) the restricted cash and cash equivalents maintained in certain bank
accounts that are held for the exclusive interest of the Company’ s customers and (ii) the full obligation to an investor in
connection with the Meteora Backstop Agreement (see Note 4-5 for the details of the Meteora Backstop Agreement ). The
Company restricts the use of the assets underlying the funds held in escrow to meet with regulatory or contractual requirements
and classifies the assets as current based on their purpose and availability to fulfill its direct obligation under current liabilities. ®
Accounts Receivable, net Accounts receivable , net include trade accounts due from customers in insurance brokerage and asset
management businesses , less the allowance for expected credit losses . F—2-Accounts receivable , net are recorded at the
invoiced amount and do not bear interest, which are due within contractual payment terms. The normal settlement terms of
accounts receivable from insurance companies in the provision of brokerage agency services are within 30 days upon the
execution of the insurance policies. Credit terms with the products providers of investment, unit and mutual funds and asset
portfolio are mainly 90 days or a credit period mutually agreed between the contracting parties. The Company seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
mamgement Mandgement reviews its receivables on a regular basis to detenn1ne if the bad-debt-allowance for expected credlt

-1-Pnecessary The Company does not hold any collateral or other cred1t enhancements Overs— over its accounts receivable
balances. F- 12 e Loans Receivable, net Loans reeetvables— receivable, net are related to residential mortgage loans that arc
arrled at unpald prmmpal and interest bahnces less the allowance for -lean—expected credit losses on loans receivable and

nonaccmdl status when they are past due 180 days or more as to contractual obhganons or When other circumstances indicate
that collection is not probable. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, any interest accrued but not received is reversed
against interest income. Payments received on a nonaccrual loan are either applied to protective advances, the outstanding
principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on an assessment of the ability to collect the loan. A nonaccrual
loan may be restored to accrual status when principal and interest payments have been brought current and the loan has
performed in accordance with its contractual terms for a reasonable period (generally six months). If the Company determines
that a loan is impaired, the Company next determines the amount of the impairment. The amount of impairment on collateral
dependent loans is charged off within the given fiscal quarter. Generally the amount of the loan and negative escrow in excess
of the appraised value less estimated selling costs, for the fair value of collateral valuation method, is charged off. For all other
loans impairment is measured as described below in * Allowance for Eeanr-Expected Credit Losses on Financial Instruments
. @ Allowance for Lean-Expected Credit Losses on Financial Instruments In (“AEE"-The-adequaey-of the-Company™—s
Ablrls—eletefmtﬂed—m—accmdance with ASC Topic 456-26-326 « Credit Foss-Losses — Measurement Contingenetes-inetades
management—steview-of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ” (ASC Topic 326), the Company utilizes ~stoan
portfolio;inelading-the tdentifieation-current expected credit losses (“ CECL ”) model to determine and- an allowance
review-of individual-problem-sitaations-that may-affeetreflects its best estimate of the expected credit losses on accounts

receivable, loans receivable, notes receivable, and deposits, prepayments and others receivable which is recorded as a

borrowers-ability-liability to offset fepay—ln—aéd-r&eﬁ—managemeﬂt—reﬁews—the recelvables. The CECL model is prepared

after considering historical experience ov
data-estimates-of the-value-of underlying-eolateral-, cu1rent eharge-—condltlons, and reasonable and supportable economic
forecasts to estimate expected credit losses. Accounts receivable, loans receivable, notes receivable, and deposits,
prepayments, and others receivable are written offs— off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of receivables previously
written off are recorded as a reduction of bad debt expense. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
aggregated allowance for expected credit losses on accounts receivable, loans receivable, notes receivable, and other
receivables was § 1 faetors-thatmay-affeetthe-portfolio-, 077 neluding-areview of regulatory-examinations-, 184 an-and
assessment-of$ 16, 509, respectively. ® Deposit, prepayments, and other receivables, netDeposit, prepayments, and other
receivables, net represented the deposit paid for technology systems and services, prepayments for various consultancy
services and other operatlng expenses such as 1nsurance premlum less the allowance for expected credlt losses. Itis

: ; ates-s : : based on the expected collection date. ®
Rental dep0s1t net Rental deposit, net represented the dep051t paid for the long- term office leases, less the allowance for

expected credit losses. It is presented under the non- current assets environment—Further;-any-change-inthesize-of the tean



portfelio-consolidated balance sheet based on the expected collection date. erFor a-ny—e-ﬁrts—eeﬂapeﬂeﬂfs—eet&d—neeessﬁ&te

-rnd-tea-te—t-hat—the Company has evaluated the probable losses on abﬁtw—t&exefets‘e-sigr&ﬁearﬁ—ﬁrﬂueﬂee-eifeethe eper&tlﬁg
rental deposits and made finaneingpolietes-of-an allowance entity;-are-aceounted-for using-the-equity-method-in-aceordanee
Wﬁh—A—S&"Fepte—Zv%—expected credlt losses of $ 14, 833 and ml respectlvely ° Long- Term Investments —Eq&rtyMefhod

Plopelty and equipment , net are stated at cost 1ess ucumuldted deplecmtlon and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight- line basis over the following expected useful lives from the date on which they
become fully operational and after taking into account their estimated residual values , if any : Expected useful life Land and
building Shorter of 50 years or lease term Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years Computer equipment 3 years Motor vehicle
3 yearsE—xpeﬂd-rtures— yearsExpendlture for repairs and maintenance is expensed a&d—reparrs—are—eharged—te—eaﬂﬂﬂgs—
incurred svwhi W v d

When assets hdve retlred or sold, the cost md reldted ucumuldted deplecmtlon are remov ed from the dccounts dnd any resultmo
gain or loss is recognized in the results of operations. ® Impairment of Long- Lived Assets In accordance with the provisions of
ASC Topic 360, Impairment or Disposal of Long- Lived Assets, all long- lived assets such as property and equipment owned
and held by the Company are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is evaluated by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to its estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets
are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amounts of the
assets exceed the fair value of the assets. No impairment losses were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 and2024-. @ Accounts Payable Accounts payable represent commission payable to the Company’ s financial advisors for
the sale of investment funds, investment products, or insurance products. The carrying amount approximates fair value because
of the short- term maturity. F—4-e Borrowings Borrowings are aitiaHyrecognized at fair value and repayable in the next

twelve months —Subseguentlythey-atre-measured-at-amortized-eost-. [nterest expense is recognized on a fixed interest rate on
the COHSOllddted statements of opemtlons . Fer—rssued—er—med-rﬁed—waﬁaﬂts—Warrants t-hat—meet—a-H—ef—t-he—eﬂteﬂa—fer—eqtﬁty

A eation; ATra a gttred-to-b orded-as-a-compo ofeq a 0 A 0 Hed-or-mod

accounts for rts—Pub-l-re—Wafraﬁts—warrants as e1ther equlty class1f1ed or llablllty- class1ﬁed 1nstruments based on a&d» an
assessment of the Private-warrant’ s specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC Topic 480,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ ASC 480 ) and ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ ASC 815 ). The
assessment considers whether the Warrants-warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet
the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity
classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’ s own ordinary shares and
whether the warrant holders could potentially require “ net cash settlement ” in a circumstance outside of the Company’
s control, among other conditions for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional
judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant issuance and as habilities-of each subsequent quarterly period end date
while the warrants are outstanding . F- 14 e Revenue Recognition The Company earns and receives most eettaitrportion-of
its non- interest income from contracts with customers, which are accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU ) No. 2014- 09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (* ASC Topic 606 7). Certain portion of

-Step—Z—I-deﬂt-l—fy—the perfermane&ebl-rgat—teﬂs-m—t-he—Company s 1ncome is derlved from eeﬂt-raet—contracts w1th customers,

3 3 v revenue recoomzed deplcts the transfer of promlsed goods
or serv1ces to is-its t-he—customers in an amount a-l-}eeated—te-that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to

7-be entitled satisfied-at-a-peintin exchange time-(typieatly-for
those pfeﬂatses—te—t-raﬂsfeiwoods teaeustemeﬁ—or ever—&me—&yptea&rfer—prormseﬁe—traﬁsfer—sewwe-serwces to-a-eustomer)-.

+—15-The Company considers the terms of the contract and all relevant facts and circumstances when applying this
guidance. The Company’ s revenue recognition policies are in compliance with ASC Topic 606, as follows: The Company
earns commissions from the sale of investment products to customers , who are insurance companies and fund houses . The
Company enters into commission agreements with customers which specify the key terms and conditions of the arrangement.
Commissions are separately negotiated for each transaction and generally do not include rights of return, credits or discounts,
rebates, price protection or other similar privileges, and typically paid on or shortly after the transaction is completed. Upon the
purchase of an investment product by customer , the Company earns a commission from customers, calculated as a fixed
percentage of the investment products acquired by its customers. The Company defines the “ purchase of an investment product



” for its revenue recognition purpose as the time when the customers referred by the Company has entered into a subscription
contract with the relevant product provider and, if required, the customer has transferred a deposit to an escrow account
designated by the Company to complete the purchase of the investment products. After the contract is established, there are no
significant judgments made when determining the commission prlce Therefore comnn%qrons are recorded at point in trme
when the investment product is purcha%ed F- 15 4 : ; artstn ;

W y—In accordance Wrth ASC Toplc 606 Revenue
Recognition: Principal Agent Con%lderatlons the Company evaluates the terms in the agreements with its channels and
independent contractors to determine whether or not the Company acts as the principal or as an agent in the arrangement with
each party respectively. The determination of whether to record the revenue in a gross or net basis depends upon whether the
Company has control over the services prior to transferring it. Control is demonstrated by the Company which is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the provision of placement services through the Company” s licensed insurance brokers to provide
agency services. The commissions from insurance providers are recorded on a gross basis and commission paid to independent
contractors or channel costs are recorded as commission expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss . Recurring Asset Management Service Fees The Company provides asset management services to
investment funds or investment product providers in exchange for recurring asset management service fees. Recurring asset
management service fees are determined based on the types of investment products the Company distributes and are calculated
as a fixed percentage of the fair value of the total investment of the investment products, calculated daily. These customer
contracts require the Company to provide investment management services, which represents a performance obligation that the
Company satisfies over time. After the contract is established, there are no significant judgments made when determining the
transaction price. As the Company provides these services throughout the contract term, for the method of calculating recurring
asset management service fees, revenue is calculated on a daily basis over the contract term, quarterly billed and recognized.
Recurring service agreements do not include rights of return, credits or discounts, rebates, price protection, performance
component or other similar privileges and the circumstances under which the fixed percentage fees, before determined, could be
not subject to clawback. Payment of recurring asset management service fees are normally on a regular basis (typically
monthly or quarterly). F- 16 Interestdreome-Disaggregation of Revenue The Company has disaggregated its revenue from
contracts with customers into categories based on the nature of the revenue. The following table presents the revenue streams by
segments, with the presentation of revenue categories presented on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the years ;as-indicated: For the year ended December 31, 2023 Distribution Business Platform
Business Insurance brokerage service Asset management service Money lending service Real estate agency service Total
Interest income: Loans $ — $ — $ 157,190 $ — $ 157, 190 Non- interest income: Commissions 48, 886, 928 1, 138, 432 —
43, 576 50, 068, 936 Recurring asset management service fees — 3, 963, 061 — — 3, 963, 061 $ 48, 886, 928 $ 5, 101, 493 $
157,190 $ 43, 576 $ 54, 189, 187 For the year ended December 31, 2022 Distribution Business Platform Business Insurance
brokerage service Asset management service Money lending service Real estate agency service Total Interest income: Loans $ -
—$-—8176, 175 $—3$ 176, 175 Non- interest income: Commissions 24, 610, 309 1, 764, 310 — 187, 072 26, 561, 691
Recurring asset management service fees —— 4, 342, 361 —4 342 361 $ 24 610, 309 $ 6,106, 671 $ 176,175 $ 187
072 $ 31, 080, 227 rear-ended-Deeembe 1Strth ressPlatformBusinessInsuranee-brokerage-sery

%HM%%@—%F&S%%%WS—WO Rental Income Rental income representq
monthly rental received from the Company’ s tenants. The Company recognizes rental income on a straight- line basis over the
lease term in accordance with the lease agreement. ® Cost AHeeation-AllocationCost €ost-allocation includes allocation of
certain general and administrative, sales and marketing expenses and other operating costs paid by the sharekolder-holding
company . General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and related expenses of senior management and the
Company’ s employees, shared management expenses, including accounting, consulting, legal support services, rent, and other
expenses to provide operating support to the related businesses. Allocated sales and marketing expense was mainly marketing
expenses. These allocations are made using a proportional cost allocation method by considering the proportion of revenues,
headcounts as well as estimates of time spent on the provision of services attributable to the Company. ® Sales and
MarketingSales matketing-Sales-and marketing expenses include the costs of advertising, promotions, seminars, and other
programs. In accordance with ASC Topic 720- 35, Advertising Costs, advertising costs are expensed as incurred. ® Research
and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses include the costs of developing software for business purpose and
costs to improve the business operation flow. All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. F- 17 o
Comprehensive LossASC dessHnreome-ASE-Topic 220, Comprehensive Income, establishes standards for reporting and
display of comprehensive income, its components and accumulated balances. Comprehensive (loss) income as defined includes
all changes in equity during a period from non- owner sources. Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, as presented in
the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in sharecholders’ equity, consists of changes in unrealized gains and losses
on foreign currency translation. This comprehensive (loss) income is not included in the computation of income tax expense or
benefit. « Employee BenefitsFull time employees of the Hong Kong subsidiaries participate in a defined contribution



Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. Contributions are made by both the employer and the employee at the rate of S % on the employee’ s
relevant salary, subject to a salary cap of $ 3, 846 (HK $ 30, 000). ® Income TaxesIncome Faxestreome-taxes are
determined in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ ASC Topic 740 ). Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. Any effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. ASC Topic 740 prescribes a comprehensive model for how companies
should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in their financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken on a tax return. Under ASC Topic 740, tax positions must initially be recognized in the financial statements when it is
more likely than not the position will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions must initially and
subsequently be measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50 % likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with the tax authority assuming full knowledge of the position and relevant facts. For the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-20824, the Company did not have any interest and penalties associated with tax positions. As
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2082+, the Company did not have any significant unrecognized uncertain tax positions. The
Company is subject to tax in local and foreign jurisdiction. As a result of its business activities, the Company files tax returns
that are subject to examination by the relevant tax authorities. ® Share- Based Compensation The Company accounts for
share- based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provision of ASC Topic 718, Stock Compensation. The
Company grants share awards, including ordinary shares and restricted share units, to eligible participants. Share- based
compensation expense for share awards is measured at fair value on the grant date. The fair value of restricted stock with either
solely a service requirement or with the combination of service and performance requirements is based on the closing fair market
value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Share- based compensation expense is recognized over the awards requisite
service period. For awards with graded vesting that are subject only to a service condition, the expense is recognized on a
straight- line basis over the service period for the entire award. F=—48-e Net Loss Hneome-Per Share The Company computes
earnings per share (“ EPS ) in accordance with ASC Topic 260, Earnings per Share (“ ASC Topic 260 ). ASC Topic 260
requires companies to present basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured as net loss yreeme-divided by the weighted
average ordinary share outstanding for the year. Diluted EPS presents the dilutive effect on a per share basis of the potential
ordinary shares (e. g., convertible securities, options and warrants) as if they had been converted at the beginning of the periods
presented, or issuance date, if later. Potential ordinary shares that have an anti- dilutive effect (i. e., those that increase income
per share or decrease loss per share) are excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS . For the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, there were no dilution impact . ® Segment Reporting ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, establishes
standards for reporting information about operating segments on a basis consistent with the Company’ s internal organizational
structure as well as information about geographical areas, business segments and major customers in financial statements for
details on the Company’ s business segments. F- 18 The Company uses the management approach to determine reportable
operating segments. The management approach considers the internal organization and reporting used by the Company’ s chief
operating decision maker (“ CODM ”) for making decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance. The Company’ s
CODM has been identified as the CEO, who reviews consolidated results when making decisions about allocating resources and
assessing performance of the Company. Based on management’ s assessment, the Company determined that it has the following
operating segments: Segments Scope of Service Business Activities Distribution Business Insurance Brokerage Service
Facilitating the placement of insurance, investment, real estate and other financial products and services to our customers,
through licensed brokers, in exchange for initial and ongoing commissions received from product providers, including insurance
companies, fund houses and other product specialists . Platform Business- Asset Management Service - Providing access to
financial products and services to licensed brokers. = Providing operational support for the submission and processing of product
applications. = Providing supporting tools for commission calculations, customer engagement, sales team management, customer
conversion, etc. = Providing training resources and materials. = Facilitating the placement of investment products for the fund
and / or product provider, in exchange for the fund management services- Money Lending Service Providing the lending
services whereby the Company makes secured and / or unsecured loans to creditworthy customers- Real Estate Agency Service
Solicitation of real estate sales for the developers, in exchange for commissions Fintech Business Investment helding-Holding
Managing an ensemble of fintech investments Healthcare Business Investment hetding-Holding Managing an ensemble of
healthcare- related investments All of the Company’ s revenues were generated in Hong Kong for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 and all of the Company’ s non- current assets were located in Hong Kong as of December 31, 2023 and
2022. e Leases The Company follows ASC Topic 842, Leases (“ ASC Topic 842 ”), utilizing the modified retrospective
transition method with no adjustments to comparative periods presented. On February 25, 2016, the FASB issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2016- 02, Leases (ASC Topic 842), to increase transparency and comparability among
organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about
leasing transactions. ASC Topic 842 requires that lessees recognize right- of- use asset and lease liabilities calculated
based on the present value of lease payments for all lease agreements with terms that are greater than twelve months. It
requires for leases longer than one year, a lessee to recognize in the statement of financial condition a right- of- use asset,
representing the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, and a lease liability, representing the liability to
make lease payments. ASC Topic 842 distinguishes leases as either a finance lease or an operating lease that affects how
the leases are measured and presented in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and
statements of cash flows. ASC Topic 842 supersedes nearly all existing lease accounting guidance under GAAP issued by



the FASB including ASC Topic 840, Leases . ['- 19 When determining the lease term, the Company includes options to
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise that option, if any. As the Company’ s
leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company used an incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company has elected to adopt
the following lease policies in conjunction with the adoption of ASU 2016- 02: (i) for leases that have lease terms of 12
months or less and does not include a purchase option that is reasonably certain to exercise, the Company elected not to
apply ASC 842 recognition requirements; and (ii) the Company elected to apply the package of practical expedients for
existing arrangements entered into prior to January 1, 2021 to not reassess (a) whether an arrangement is or contains a
lease, (b) the lease classification applied to existing leases, and (c) initial direct costs. The Company has not entered any
lease agreements with lease terms of 12 months or less during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
Company elected not to separate non- lease components from lease components; therefore, it will account for lease
component and the non- lease components as a single lease component when there is only one vendor in the lease
contract for the office leases. Lease payments are fixed. The accounting update also requires that for operating leases, a
lessee recognize interest expense on the lease liability and the amortization of the right- of- use asset as a combined
expense. In addition, this accounting update requires expanded disclosures about the nature and terms of lease
agreements. ® Related Parties The Company follows the ASC Topic 850- 10, Related Party £-ASE-856-5-for the identification
of related parties and disclosure of related party transactions. Pursuant to AS€-section 850 - 10- 20 , the related parties include:
a) affiliates of the Company; b) entities for which investments in their equity securities would be required, absent the election of
the fair value option under the Fair Value Option Subsection of section ASE€Fopie-825 — 10 — 15, to be accounted for by the
equity method by the investing entity; c) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and income- sharing trusts that are
managed by or under the trusteeship of management; d) principal owners of the Company; ¢) management of the Company; f)
other parties with which the Company may deal if one party controls or can significantly influence the management or operating
policies of the other to an extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate
interests; and g) other parties that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or
that have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an extent that one or
more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. The consolidated financial
statements shall include disclosures of material related party transactions, other than compensation arrangements, expense
allowances, and other similar items in the ordinary course of business. However, disclosure of transactions that are eliminated in
the preparation of consolidated financial statements is not required in those statements. The disclosures shall include: a) the
nature of the relationship (s) involved; b) a description of the transactions, including transactions to which no amounts or
nominal amounts were ascribed, for each of the periods for which statements of operations are presented, and such other
information deemed necessary to an understanding of the effects of the transactions on the consolidated financial statements; c)
the dollar amounts of transactions for each of the periods for which statements of operations are presented and the effects of any
change in the method of establishing the terms from that used in the preceding period; and d) amount due from or to related
parties as of the date of each balance sheet presented and, if not otherwise apparent, the terms and manner of settlement. F-20
Commitments and ContingenciesThe Company follows the ASC Topic 450- 20, Commitments to report accounting for
contingencies. Certain conditions may exist as of the date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which may result in
a loss to the Company but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The Company
assesses such contingent liabilities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing loss
contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against the Company or un- asserted claims that may result in such
proceedings, the Company evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or un- asserted claims as well as the
perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein. If the assessment of a contingency indicates
that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be estimated, then the estimated
liability would be accrued in the Company’ s consolidated financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potentially
material loss contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of
the contingent liability, and an estimate of the range of possible losses, if determinable and material, would be disclosed. Loss
contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case the guarantees would
be disclosed. Management does not believe, based upon information available at this time that these matters will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’ s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, there is no assurance that
such matters will not materially and adversely affect the Company’ s business, financial position, and results of operations or
cash flows. ¥—e Fair Value MeasurementThe Company follows the guidance of the ASC Topic 26-820 - 10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (“ ASC Topic 820- 10 ), with respect to financial assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value. ASC Topic 820- 10 establishes a three- tier fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows: e Level 1: Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in

3 abitty—Thefair-values-are-therefored ined-tsing del—based eaes; nding-eptiono g-models-and
diseeunted-eash-flow-medels—The carrying value of the Company’ s financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, accounts receivable, eonstderationrloans and notes receivable, deposits, prepayments and other receivables, accounts



payable and accrued liabilities, escrow liabilities, borrowings and ameunt-amounts duc to shareholder-and-borrowings-the
holding company approximate at their fair values because of the short- term nature of these financial instruments.
Management believes, based on the current market prices or interest rates for similar debt instruments, the fair value of
loans receivable approximates the carrying amount. The Company accounts for loans receivable at cost, subject to
expected credit losses assessment. F- 21 The following table presents information about the Company” s financial assets and
liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2082+-and indicates the
fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques the Company utilized to determine such fair value. As of December 31, Quoted
Prices in Active Markets Significant Other Observable Inputs Significant Other Unobservable Inputs Description 2023
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Assets: Marketable equity securities $ 595 $ 595 $ — $ — As of December 31, Quoted Prices
in Active Markets Significant Other Observable Inputs Significant Other Unobservable Inputs Description 2022 (Level 1)
(Level 2) (Level 3) Assets: Marketable equity securities $ 2, 443, 593 § 2, 443, 593 § —— § — —Nen—marketable-equity
seetrities $34,-589,767-$-$-$34,-589, 767 Liabilities: Fom ard share lethdSL ldbl ny % ? 491, 606 $ -— S -_— $ 13. 491,

606 Warrant liabil 111es-$—4 548 ——-$-4$-—$-4 548 Total P
- bser A Q 4 . haoer I lnahocarcals
equtt—y—seettrrt—res—% 134—795—449—$449§—449—$-—$—Nen—m&rketab+&eqw&yhseeﬁr&ws—$—2§— 496, 5%4—154 %-——S-—— %25—13 ,

496, 534214154 o Recently Issued Accounting PronouncementsFrom time to time, new accounting pronouncements
are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies and adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date.
Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective
will not have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations upon adoption. Recently adopted
accounting standards [n June 2622-2016 , the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016- 13, Financial
Instruments- Credit Losses ( Topic 326): Measurement of Credlt Losses on Flnanclal Instruments (“ ASU 2016 )—Ne—
2622-- 13 ” 93Fair-Value-Measurements{(Topte-826-) +Fa ot ¢ G
SaleRestrietions-. These-amendments-elarify-ASU 2016- 13 added a new 1mpa1rment model (known as the CECL model)
that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity recognizes as an allowance
its estimate of expected credit losses. The CECL model applies to most debt instruments, accounts receivables, notes
receivables, loans receivable, financial guarantee contracts, and other loan commitments. The CECL model does not
have a eontractaatrestrietton-minimum threshold for recognition of impairment losses and entities will need to measure
expected credlt losses on fhe—sa}e—assets that have a low risk of loss. As an emerging growth company equity-seetrity-isnot

beglnmng after December 15, 2022 meludlm mtenm pulods within lhosc fiscal years . The Company has adopted the new
standard effective January 1 , 2023, which didn’ t have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. New
accounting standards not yet adopted In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ) No.
2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The purpose of the update
was to improve financial reporting by requiring disclosures of incremental segment information on an annual and
interim basis for all public entities to enable investors to develop more decision- useful financial analyses. The
amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 —, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with Early-early adoption permitted and requires retrospective
appllcatlon to all perlods presented in the consolidated ﬁnanclal statements Management 1s evaluatlng permftted—’l:he

eeﬂse-l-td&ted—ﬁﬁarmﬁ-l-sf&teﬁ&eﬁts—[xcepl 101 1hc above- mcnuoncd plonounecmems there are no new recent 1ssued accounting
standards that will have a material impact on the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations and comprehensive loss
and cash flows. NOTE 3-4 — LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN CONSIDERATION The accompanying consolidated
financial statements were prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of
operations, realization of assets, and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. They do not include any
adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. For the year ended
December 31, 2822-2023 , the Company reported $44—S5-mithennct loss and-of $ 49, 206,49-019 and —3-milttennct cash
outflows from operating activities of $ 42, 282, 159 . As of December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company had a working capital
deficit of $ 22, 221, 171, an accumulated tesses-deficit of $§ 394-millien-65, 601, 152 and cash and cash equivalents of § 6-1,
861, 223 . 4-mittterr The Company has determined that the prevailing conditions and ongoing liquidity risks encountered
by the Company raise substantial doubt about the ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year following
the date these consolidated financial statements are issued . The ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the
Company’ s ability to successfully implement vartous-its current operating plans— plan and fund- raising exercises . The



Company believes that it will be able to eentintete-grow its the-Cempany>—s-revenue base and control expenditures. In parallel,
the Company eentintaly-will mentters— monitor its capital structure and operating plans and evaluates-various-search for
potential funding alternatives that-in order to finance the development activities and operating expenses. These alternatives
may include borrowings, raising funds through public equity or debt markets. However, the Company cannot predict the
exact amount or timing of the alternatives, or guarantee those alternatives will be favorable neededin-orderto its
shareholders. Any failure to obtain finanee-financing when required will have a material adverse impact on the Company’
s business development-aetivities-, general-operation and financial result administrative-expenses-and-growth-strategy-. These
Certain funding alternatives inelude-external-borrewings-have been carried by the Company, as follows: 1. On September
7,2023, the Company entered into and- an eentinte-equity purchase agreement with Williamsburg Venture Holdings,
LLC (“ Williamsburg ), an independent third party to pursue-fundraising-in-the-next-twelve-agree to invest up to $ 50
million over a 36- months-- month period (see Note 17) . Adtheugh2. On November 7, 2023, there—- the is-no-assurance-that
Company entered into private placement binding term sheets with an institutional investor , ifneeded-the Company’ s
Chief Executive Officer , Mr. Ng Wing Fai, and the Company’ s management team pursuant to which the Company will
be-sueeessful-with-itsreceive gross proceeds of approximately $ 5, 128, 960, in consideration of (i) 7, 349, 200 ordinary
shares of the Company, and (ii) warrants to purchase up to 1, 469, 840 Ordinary Shares at a purchase price of $ 0. 70 per
ordinary share and associated warrants. As of December 31, 2023, the Company received the proceeds of $ 1, 850, 310
(see Note 17). The above fundraising—--- funding alternatives were not enforceable and were subject to being exercised the
rights by the counterparties. With these funding initiatives, the Company believes that the-business-combination-transaetion
stg&rﬁeaﬂt-}y—rnefeases-lt would be able to strengthen its financlal posmon, 1mprove 1ts llquldlty, and enhance its ab111ty to
navigate aeee apttal-gotngtorward—The€o1so 6 F-aehts
fesa-l-t—ffeﬁa—t-he—euteeme-ef—t-hese——— the tu&eeﬁatn&es—challenglng market condltlons F- 23 Hrthettefe*&hﬁmeﬁ—eﬁaddmeﬁa}

— REVERSE RECAPITALIZATION WITH AGBA ACQUISITION LlMlTED On the Closlng Date pursuant to the Business
Combination Agreement, the following share transactions were completed: 4, 825, 000 public and private rights were
automatically converted to 482, 500 ordinary shares of AGBA. @ 792, 334 ordinary Shares of AGBA were issued to settle the
outstanding payables. ® 555, 000 ordinary shares of AGBA were issued to Apex Twinkle Limited as the finder fee in connection
with the Business Combination. @ 53, 835, 000 ordinary shares of AGBA were issued to TAG as consideration for the Business
Combination and 1, 665, 000 ordinary shares, representing as 3 % holdback shares for indemnification purpose were reserved.
All the holdback shares will be released to TAG in six months following the Closing. Immediately after giving effect to the
Business Combination, AGBA has 58, 376, 985 ordinary shares issued and outstanding, and 4, 825, 000 warrants outstanding.
TAG became a major sharecholder of the Company. Preceding to the Closing, on November 9, 2022, AGBA entered into the
Forward Share Purchase Agreement (the “ Meteora Backstop Agreement ) with Meteora Special Opportunity Fund I, L. P., a
Delaware limited partnership, Meteora Select Trading Opportunities Master, L. P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership, and
Meteora Capital Partners, L. P., a Delaware limited partnership (collectively “ Meteora ). Pursuant to the Meteora Backstop
Agreement, Meteora has agreed to purchase up to 2, 500, 000 AGBA ordinary shares in the open market at prices no higher than
the redemption price, including from other AGBA sharcholders that elected to redeem and subsequently revoked their prior
elections to redeem their shares, following the expiration of AGBA” s redemption offer. AGBA has agreed to purchase those
shares from Meteora on a forward basis, up to the lessor of (i) that number of AGBA shares then held by Meteora, and (ii) the
difference of (x) the number of shares held by Meteora at Closing (which shall be no more than 2, 500, 000 Ordinary Shares in
the aggregate) minus (y) that number of shares equal to (I) the product of (A) $ 0. 12, multiplied by (B) the number of shares
held by the Meteora at Closing (such product, the “ Commitment Share Value ™), divided by (II) the value weighted average
price for the preceding 30 trading days ending on the day that is 30 days following the Closing (the number of shares derived in
(y), the ©“ Commitment Shares ”, and the lesser of (1) and (2), the ““ Puttable Shares ), unless otherwise agreed to in writing by
all parties, at a price per Share equal to the sum of (i) the redemption price as contemplated by the Definitive Proxy Statement
(the “ Redemption Price ”), plus (ii) $ 0. 45 (the sum of (i) and (ii), the “ Base Price ), plus (iii) the result of (X) the Base Price,
multiplied by (Y) the number of Commitment Shares, divided by (Z) the number of Puttable Shares (such sum of (i), (ii) and
(iii), the “ Shares Purchase Price ”); provided that the Shares Purchase Price will be reduced by $ 0. 15 for the first full calendar
quarter after 90 days following the Closing sooner than the Put Date that the Put occurs if the Put does so occur, plus an
additional reduction of $ 0. 10 if the Put occurs before 90 days following the Closing. The purchase price payable by AGBA
will be escrowed in the amount of the redemption price per share. At the election of AGBA, $ 0. 45 of the Shares Purchase Price
can be paid using Ordinary Shares rather than cash. The Meteora Backqtop Agreement matures nine months after the closing of
the Busmeqs Combmamon F-23-The tranqactlon was accounted for as a ““ reverse recapitalization ” in accordance with
nting-prineiplesgenera n-the Unite ates(“U. S. GAAP Zbecause the primary assets of AGBA would be
nommal followmg the close of the Busmeqs Combmamon Under this method of accounting, AGBA was treated as the
acquired ” company for financial reporting purposes and both of TIL and TAC were determined to be the accounting acquirer
based on the terms of the Business Combination and other factors including: (i) TIL and TAC’ s sharecholders have a majority of
the voting power of the combined company, (ii) TIL and TAC comprises a majority of the governing body of the combined
company, and TIL and TAC’ s senior management comprises all of the senior management of the combined company, and (iii)
TIL and TAC comprises all of the ongoing operations of the combined entity. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, this
transaction was treated as the equivalent of the Company issuing shares for the net assets of AGBA, accompanied by a
recapitalization. The shares and net loss per ordinary share, prior to the Reverse Recapitalization, have been retroactively




restated. The net assets of AGBA were recorded at historical carrying amount, with no goodwill or other intangible assets
recorded. Operations prior to the Reverse Recapitalization are those of TIL and TAC. F-24 NOTE 5-6 — RESTRICTED
CASH As-efDeeember3+Pursuant to the Meteora Backstop Agreement dated November 9 , 2022, the fund held in the
escrow account for the forward share purchase is restricted to the Company had-$44—8-mittter-for the nine months
following the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2022, unless the investors (“ Meteora ) sell the
shares in the market or redeems the shares Notw1thstand1ng the sale of shares by Meteora, the restricted cash w1ll be
used to settle any ;-of-wh —5n A A e bra
Company’ s repurchase obhgatlons eﬁsfefnefs—aﬂd-én?%—lé— 3—n=n-1-heﬂ—60n June 29, %92—1—2023 —er)—was—he}d—rn- the
Company and Meteora entered into an agreement to early terminate eserow-aceountitreonneetionwith-the Meteora
Backstop Agreement. Prior to the termination, Meteora sold 1, 191, 016 shares in the open market at a price ranging from
$1.51to$ 1. 61 per share. Pursuant to the early termination clauses of Meteora Backstop Agreement, the Company
released $ 14. 0 million from restricted cash to settle the obligation to Meteora. Pursuant to the termination agreement,
the Company is not obligated to purchase the remaining 124, 949 shares (the “ Shares ) from Meteora and they shall
have no obligation to sell the Shares to the Company. In addition, they may dispose the Shares at its discretion in the
open market not less than $ 2 per share before September 29, 2023 and no conditions For- or restrictions thereafter. As a
result, the Company released the remaining $ 1. 5 million from restricted cash to settle the obligation to Meteora. With
the early termination and sale of shares by Meteora, the forward share purchase liability (“ FSP liability ”’) was fully
settled and a loss on settlement of $ 378, 895 was recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, restricted cash included the funds
held on behalf of the customers, the Company is acted as a custodian to manage the assets and investment portfolio on behalf of
its customers under the terms of certain contractual agreements, which the Company does not have the right to use for any
pu1poses other than mdnaomg the pmtfoho Upon receiving escrow funds the (ompany records a Corlespondmg eSCrow

—7— AC( OUNTS RE( EIVABLE NET Accounts receivable, net Conslsted of the 1‘0110\& ing: As 01‘ Deeember 31 2023
2022 2624-Accounts receivable $ 3,283,118 $ 2, 916, 609 $4-003;303-Accounts receivable — related parties 1, 094, 225 272,
546 238;-892-Less: allowance for doubtful-aceounts-expected credit losses (312, 482) (94, 447 394;-576-) Accounts receivable,
net $ 4, 064, 861 $ 3, 094, 708 $H1+47-619-The accounts receivable due from related parties represented the management
service rendered to the portfolio assets of related companies, which are controlled by the sharehelder-holding company . for a
compensation of asset management service fee income at the predetermined rate based on the respective portfolio of asset
values invested by the final customers. The amount is unsecured, interest- free and with a credit term mutually agreed. F- 25
The following table presents the activity in the allowance for deubtfil-aceounts-expected credit losses : As of December 31,
2023 2022 2824-Balance at beginning of year $ 94, 447 $ 94, 576 $95-Allowance for expected credit losses 217 , 124475 —

Fmewn tmnslatlon ddjustment 560 (129 9—645—) Balance at end of yeal ‘{> 312 482 $ 94, 447 -$—94%—7’-6—Fer—t-he—ye&fs—eﬂded

busmess w 1th Cl’edlt\\ orthy third partles The Company detelmmes ona eeﬂ-t—mﬂ-mg—quarterly delS the plobable losses dnd an
allowance for deubtful-aceounts-expected credit losses determined in accordance with the CECL model , based on severat
faetors-ineluding-internat-historical losses, current economic conditions, forecasted future economic and market
considerations, and in some cases, evaluating speclfic customer accounts for 11%1 fatrmgs,—eﬁsfemer—efedﬁ—qﬁahw—paymeﬂt
history;historieal-bad-debt-+write—off- of loss exp 0 ittot

are written off after exhaustive collection efforts occur and the receiv able is deemed uncolleetlble In dddlthl] Iecel\dble
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and its exposure to bad debts is not significant. AtFor the years ended December
31,2023 and 2022 , the Company has assessed the probable loss and made and-- an 262+-allowance for expected credit
losses of $ 217 , ne-outstanding-475 and nil on accounts receivable, respectively are-90-days-ormorepastdue-. NOTE 7—8
— LOANS REEEFVABEES- RECEIVABLE , NET The Company’ s tean-loans pertfelio-receivable, net was as follows: As
of Decembel 31, 2023 2022 %92—1—Re51dent1al Meftgage-mortgage loans $ 1, 605,531 $ 1, 589, 871 $3;908, 925 Personal

; 3 4] ess: allowance for ean-expected credit losses —( 76
1, -7’-99—229 ) — Loans ﬁeew&b}es» recelvable net $1 604 302 $ 1 589, 871 $3;908;925Reelassifying-Classifying as:
Current portion $ 549,461 $ 517, 479 $423-6H-Non- current portion 1, 054, 841 1, 072, 392 3785, 3441 oans reeetvables—-
receivable , net $ 1, 604,302 $ 1, 589, 871 F- 26 $3;908;925-The interest rates on loans issued ranged between 9. 00 % and
10. 50 % (2022: 9. 00 %202+-6-25% to 10. 00 %) per annum for the year ended December 31, 26222023 . Mortgage loans
are secured by collateral in the pledge of the underlying residential reat-estate-properties owned by the borrowers . As of
December 31, 2023, the net carrying amount of the loans receivable was $ 1, 604, 302, which included an interest
receivable of $ 40, 100 . Mortgage loans are made to either business or individual customers in Hong Kong for a period of 3-1
to 25 years , which are fully collateralized and closely monitored —Fhe-foHowing-table-presents-the-aettvity-inr-the-aHowanee
for counterparty creditworthiness, with such collateral having a fair value in excess of the carrying amount of the tean
loans as tosses-for-the-fisealyears=As-of December 31, 2023 and 2022 . As of December 31, 26242023 2022 Balance at
beginning of year $ — $ 76, 799 $-88-Allowance for expected credit losses 1 . 436-225 — Written- off — (76, 799) 44637
Forelgn translation adjustment 4 — Balance at end of yeal $ 1 -—$—76— 229 $ — Estimated allowance 799-For-the-years




Alewanee-fordoan-losses is estimated-determined on quarterly a-bi—annaat-basis based-, in accordance with the CECL
model, for general credit risk of the overall portfolio, which is relied on an assessment of specific evidence indicating
doubtful collection, historical loss experience, loan balance aging and prevailing economic conditions. F=25-Age-Analysis-If
there is an unexpected deterioration of Leansby-Classtoans-a customer’ s financial condition or an unexpected change
in economic conditions, including macroeconomic events, the Company will assess the need to adjust the allowance for
expected credlt losses Any such resultlng ad]ustments would affect earnmgs in the perlod that adjustments are made

a1 He—t se-they —theyearsendedare—wel—l-
seeufed—&nd—m—the—pfeeess—e-ﬁeeﬂeet-reﬁs-e-ﬁDcccmbu »1 2023 and 7() %ea—l—Wrt-h-rn- the Company has assessed the

probable loss and made an allowance for expected ucdn tefm—losses of $1, 225 589—8—’/—1—55—3—998—925—1135{—61%—39-%9—&&?3-
—66-89-days—96-or-mere-days-due-and nil stiH-ae Y

han G $ $ pterest-on loans lcccl\dblc : respectlvely NOTE 9
— NOTES RECEIVABLE NET On February 24 2023 the Company entered into a subscription agreement and a
convertible loan note instrument (collectively the “ Agreements ) with Investment A. Pursuant to the Agreements, the
Company agrees to subscribe an aggregate amount of $ 1, 673, 525 notes, in batches, which are payable on or before
January 31, 2024 and bears a fixed interest rate of 8 % per annum. The maturity date of the notes receivable is April 30

f f f i i i srdtes :Aso[Dcccmbu 31, Gfed-rt—gf&deséea%
2023 %92—1—Pass—$—l— the Company subscrlbed $ Sés() 8—7—l—$—3—086 notes As of December 31 ., 968-2023 , 925-OAEM-the net

carrying amount of the notes receivable was $ 557, 003, which including an interest receivable of $ 34, 665. F
Substandard—Doubtful—27 As of December 31, 2023 Balance at beginning of year $ — Allowance for expected credit
losses 69, 581 Foreign translation adjustment 180 Balance at end of year $ 69, 761 In accordance with ASC Topic 326, the
Company accounts for its allowance for expected credit losses on notes receivable using the CECL model. Periodic
changes to the allowance for expected credlt losses are recognlzed in the consohdated statements of operatlons and
comprehensive Loss-loss . For 6 3 O g-the year
ended December 31, 2622-2023 , the ( ompany has evaluated the probable losses on the notes receivable and made an
allowance a—reftu&da-ble—eames-t—elepesﬁ—e%#—84—mﬁheﬂ— or the—pufehase-expected credit losses of 4,158,963 -shares-of

: 75 69 6—56-milhienatthe-historteat
, 581 %%m

istett i h dingly N()TE9—I:9NG-—"PE—R—M—I—N3VLE—S¥M-EN5[—S—10—
DEPOSIT PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES NET Long—ternrinvestments-Deposit, prepayment and
other receivables . net consisted of the following: As of December 31, 2023 2022 Deposits $ 710, 702 $ 364, 490
Prepayments 1, 026, 767 104, 262 Other receivables 850, 361 163, 207 2, 587, 830 631, 959 Less: allowance for expected
credit losses (818, 248) (42, 173) Deposit, prepayment and other receivables, net $ 1, 769, 582 § 589, 786 As of December
31, 2023 2022 Balance at beginning of year $ 42, 173 § 25, 650 Allowance for expected credit losses 774, 070 16, 509
Foreign translation adjustment 2, 005 14 Balance at end of year $ 818, 248 $ 42, 173 In accordance with ASC Topic 326,
the Company accounts for its allowance for expected credit losses on deposit and other receivables using the CECL
model. Periodic changes to the allowance for expected credit losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has evaluated the
probable losses on the deposit and other receivables and made an allowance for expected credit losses of $ 774, 070 and $
16, 509. F- 28 NOTE 11 — LONG- TERM INVESTMENTS, NET Long- term investments, net consisted of the



following: As of December 31, Ownership interest 2023 Ownership interest 2022 Ovnership-interest2024-Marketable equity
securities: Investment C 0. 00 % * $ 595 0. 46 % $ 2, 443, 593 6479%$F795-479-Non- marketable equity securities:
Investment A 8. 37 % 5, 7826 , 6783-703 8 . 5537 % 5, 796-717 , H5-678 Investment B 3. 63 % 543-342 , 000 3. 36-63 % +
513 ., 000 276848 Investment D 4. 47 % # 16, 880, 384 4. 92 9% 16, 030, 943 5439%+F+H2362-Investment E , related
party4 00 % 522, 559-531 4. 00 % 523-522 , 269-557 Investment F 4. 00 % 2, 152,251 4. 00 % 11, 805, 589 -—Total 25, 723,
869 34, 589, 767 25—496%—34—Net canymg value b 25 724 464 $ 37,033, 360 * Less than 0-$—3H92—9—1—3—eqrrt-y—Met-hed-

m&fkefab-}e—seetﬁ%tes,—dle dccounted for at -fa-nethelr current market leue Wlth chdnoes in fair value recoomzed n net Heote
{loss ¥ Puring-the-year-ended-Deeember-3+2024;-Investment C was listed and publicly traded on Nasdaq Stock Exchange .
During in-Mareh2021-and-there-- the year ended December 31, 2023, was-a-transfer-inteo-LevelH-fromtevel 3in-the fair
vatuie-hierarehy-Company sold 993, 108 shares of [nvestment C at the average market price of $ 4. 01 per share . as
resulting with a result-realized gain of a-ehange-in-marketdiquidity-$ 1, 543, 543 . As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and
2024, Investment C was recorded at fair value of $ 595 and $ 2, 443, 593 ﬁﬂd—$—7—7~9§—47-9— which were tmded ata closmg
price of $ 9 15 and $ 2. 46 ﬁﬂd—$—7—8§-per shale Iespectl\ cly —Forth

Marketable Equity Securmes lnvestments in non- mdlketdble eqmty securities cormst of inv estments in hmlted lldblllty
companies in which the Company’ s interests are deemed minor and long- term, strategic investments in companies that are in
various stages of development, and investments in a close- ended partnership funds which concentrated in the healthcare sector.
These investments do not have readily determinable fair values and, therefore, are reported at cost, minus impairment, if any,
plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of
the same issuer. Management assesses each of these investments on an individual basis, subject to a periodic impairment review
and considers qualitative and quantitative factors including the investee’ s financial condition, the business outlook for its
products and technology, its projected results and cash flow, financing transactions subsequent to the acquisition of the
investment, the likelihood of obtaining subsequent rounds of financing and cash usage . The Company is not required to
determine the fair value of these investments unless impairment indicators existed . When an impairment exists, the
investment will be written down to its fair value by recording the corresponding charge as a component of other income
(expense), net. Fair value is estimated using the best information available, which may include cash flow projections or other
available market data. Subsequently on February 5, 2024, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement with
an independent third party to sell all of its equity interest in Investment I for a purchase price of $ 2. 15 million and the
transaction was completed on February 19, 2024. F - 28-29 The following table presents the movement ehanges-in-fatr-valie

of non- marketable equity securities as of whieh-are-measured-usingLevel 3+nputs-at-December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624
As of December 31, 2023 2022 202+-Balance at beginning of year § 34, 589, 767 $ 25, 496, 534 -$—39—4-1-6—469—Add1t10ns 288,

581 16, 228, 690 3—424—79+Gh&&ge—fre&r&evel—3—te—beveH—@9—}94—}96)—Adjustments Upward adjustments — 2, 137, 021
3:-53+464-Downward adjustments ( note) (10, 092, 729) ( 6, 898, 549) —Foreign exchange adjustment 938, 250 (2, 373, 929 ¥
684-994-) Balance at end of year § 25, 723, 869 $ 34, 589, 767 -$£§—496é34—( umulative unrealized gains and losses,
included in the carrying value of the Company’ s non- marketable equity securities: As of December 31, 2023 2022 262+
Downward adjustments (including impairment) $ ( 37, 347, 329) $ (27, 254, 600 3}$-20,356;,05+) Upward adjustments $-6,
209, 357 6 $4-, 672209 , 336-357 Total $ (31, 137, 972) $ (21, 045, 243) Investment neeme-loss, net is recorded as other
tneeme-expense in the Company s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, and consisted of the
following: For the Years-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 202+-Marketable equity securities: Unrealized gain ( loss )
from the changes in fair value — Investment C $ 272 $ (5, 330, 652) $-42-Realized gain from sale of Investment C 1 , 398-543
, HH-543 — Non- marketable equity securities: Unrealized (loss) / gains (including impairment) — Investment F (9, 922, 184)
2,137, 021 3;:-53+464-Unrealized (dosses—- loss) (including impairment) — Investment B (170, 545) (756, 478) Unrealized
(loss) (including impairment) — Investment A — and-B-(6, 898-142 , 549-071 ) —Realized-gains—Investee B—39,122;485
Dividend income 1, 670, 045 1, 154, 749 —Investment €loss Hreeme-, net $ ( 6, 878, 869) $ (&, 937, 431) Downward
adjustments represent unrealized loss (including impairment) of Investment B and F of $ 170, 545 and $ 9, 922, 184 for



the year ended December 31, 2023, respectively (2022: unrealized loss (including impairment) of Investment A and B of $
6,142, 071, and $ 756, 478 respectively). F- +36-- 30 ,—255,—2—32—N(’)TE +6—12 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and u]uipmull consisted of the following: As of December 31, 2023 2022 202+-As cost: Land and building $ 1, 885,
786 $ 7, 881, 202 $3;888;450-Furniture, fixtures and equipment 39, 743 13, 412 +6;868-Computer equipment 243, 314 164,
536 69,—2-87—1\/10101 vehicles 108, 989 108, 994 +69-2 | +43-277, 832 &, 168, 144 2566848 ess: accumulated depreciation (
556, 548) (808, 728) (4452903 -Property and equipment, net $ 1, 721,284 $ 7, 359, 416 $3-Depreciation expense for the
years ended December 31 , 653-2023 and 2022 were $ 261 , 458 During-323 and $ 392, 873, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company purehased-an-sold one of its office premises to fromr-the-sharcholderthroughthe

- an P¥E-independent third party for a consideration of $ 6. 13 million and a gain on disposal of

aequisittonof FRHE-and-
$ 664, 816 was recogmzed Whieh—wefe—pfemtts}yheﬁﬁfeﬂed-byﬂae—s%mfehe}deﬁ The pﬂfehase—pﬂee-ofﬁce premlse was

Deumbu 31 2023 022 Mortgage borrowmgs &ﬂd—%@%—l—wefe—S %92—1 80484‘3-&ﬂd—$-45- 3-83—950 $ 4, respeetively—INOTE
H—BORROWINGS477, 254 Short- term borrowings, related party 5, 000, 000 — Total $ 6, 804, 950 $ 4, 477, 254
Mortgage Borrowings In September 2022, the Company obtained a mortgage loan of $ 4, 457, 104 (equlvalent to HK § 34,
800, 000) from a finance company in Hong Kong, which bears interest at a fixed rate of 10. 85 % per annum, is-was repayable
in September-October 2023 and-seenred-. The loan was pledged by a fixed charge on an office premises owned by the
Company. In October 2023, the loan was fully settled with earrying-ameunt-the completion of $-5-the sale of the office
premises (see Note 12) . 7mittterrtoeated-In February 2023, the Company obtained a mortgage loan of $ 1, 793, 001
(equivalent to HK $ 14, 000, 000) from a finance company in Hong Kong , which bears an average interest rate at 13 . 75
% per annum and becomes repayable in February 2024. The loan was pledged by a fixed charge on an office premises
owned by the Company. Short- term Borrowings In September 2023, the Company obtained a short- term borrowing of
$ 5,000, 000 from the Company’ s major shareholder’ s ultimate holding company, which bears interest at a fixed rate of
12. 00 % per annum, repayable in October 2023. The borrowing is secured by a lien on the partial equity interest in
Investment D owned by the Company. In October 2023, November 2023, December 2023 and February 2024, the
Company entered into certain supplementary agreements to renew and extend the maturity to November 2023,
December 2023, January 2024 and March 2024, respectively. F- 31 NOTE +2—14 — FORWARD SHARE PURCHASE
LIABILITY Fhe-forward-share-purehase-tability-( FSP Liability ) During the year ended December 31, 2023, pursuant to
the sale of shares by investors and early termination of the Meteora Backshop Agreement (see Note 5), FSP liability 2}
was fully settled with a loss of $ 378, 895 recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
The FSP liability as of December 31, 2022 under the Meteora Backstop Agreement is valued by an independent valuer using a
Black- Scholes model, which is considered to be Level 3 fair value measurement. The following mble pfeseﬁts— present &

Level 3 [dll value ﬁaeas-ufeﬁ&eﬂ’fs— measurement 0[ he FSP lldbllll\ - As of December 31, 2022 Neveﬂ‘rber—H—lnpul ShdlL
price $ 1. 54 $5-FH-Risk- free interest rate 4. 16 % 4-—+6-%-Volatility 52-19-9%-52. 19 % Exercise price $ 12. 34 $42-25Term
0. 61 years For the ycar 6-ended December 31, 2023, the change in fair value of FSP liability of $ 82, 182 was charged to
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss . 75-NOTE 15 — LEASE Operating lease right- of- use
(“ ROU ”) asset and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over
the lease term. ROU asset represents the Company’ s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease
liabilities represent the Company’ s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Generally, the implicit rate
of interest (“ discount rate ) in arrangements is not readily determinable and the Company utilizes its incremental
borrowing rate in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company’ s incremental borrowing rate is a
hypothetical rate based on its understanding of what its credit rating would be. The operating lease ROU asset includes
any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. During the ycar ended December 31, 2023, the Company has
entered into a commercial operating lease with an independent third party for the use of an office in Hong Kong. The
lease has an original term exceeding 1 year, but not more than 3 years with an option to renew a further term of 3 years.
At lease inception, after consideration, the Company was certain that the renewal option would be exercised, after the
original term. The operating lease is included in “ Right- of- use asset, net ” on the consolidated balance sheets and
represents the Company’ s right to use the underlying asset during the lease term. The Company’ s obligation to make
lease payments are included in “ Lease liabilities ” on the consolidated balance sheets. Supplemental balance sheet
information related to the operating lease was as follows: As of December 31, 2023 Operating lease: Right- of- use asset
12, 512, 58S Less: accumulated depreciation (1, 004, 432) Right- of- use asset, net $ 11, 508, 153 Lease liabilities: Current
lease liabilities 1, 229, 329 Non- current lease liabilities 10, 646, 053 Total lease liabilities $ 11, 875, 382 Operating lease
expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $ 1, 496, 286 and nil, respectively, is included in other
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. F- 32 Other
supplemental information about the Company’ s operating lease as of December 31, 2023 are as follow: Weighted



average discount rate 6. S8 % Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 5. 42 Maturities of operating lease
liabilities as of December 31, 2023 were as follows: For the year ended December 31, Operating lease 2024 §$ 1, 942, 181
20251, 942, 181 2026 2, 676, 638 2027 3, 201, 250 2028 3, 201, 250 Thereafter 1, 333, 854 Total minimum lease payments
14, 297, 354 Less: imputed interest (2, 421, 972) Total operating lease liabilities $ 11, 875,382 NOTE +33—16 —
WARRANT LIABILITIES Private warrants The private warrants are accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 480
and are presented as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 225, 000
private warrants outstanding. The fair ¥alses— value of the private warrants are-is valued by an independent valuer using a
Binominal pricing model. The warrants were classified as Level 3 at-the-inttialmeasurement-date-due to the use of unobservable
inputs. £-36-The key inputs into the Binominal pricing model were as follows at their measurement dates: As of December 31,
2023 2022 NevemberH4;-Input Share price $ 0. 49 $ 1. 54 $5-HRisk- free interest rate 4. 46-04 % 4. 16 % Volatility 52-48 .
49-66 % 52. 19 % Exercise price $ 11. 50 $ 11. 50 Warrant remaining life 4-3 . 9 years 54. 9 years As 01‘ December 31, 2023
and 2022 and-uperr-the-elosing-of Business-Combinationr, the aggregate value of the private warrants was nil and §$ 4, 548 and
$143;-500-, respectively. The changes in fair value for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $ 4, 548 and $ 8,
952, respectively. Warrants — Class A In December 2023, the Company consummated the private placement and
received cash proceeds in exchange of 2, 643, 300 ordinary shares and 528, 660 warrants to be issued. These warrants
have an exercise price of $ 1. 00 per share and shall be exercised with more than $ 500, 000 per tranche (see Note 17). F-
33 NOTE 17— SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has authorized shares of
200, 000 000 ordinary shares w1th a par value $ 0. 001 Ordlnary Shares transactlons for the yeal ended December 31

-Sh&res—@ﬁ—t-he—@lesmg—Bafe— pulsuant to the Business C ombmdtlon (as descnbed in Note 4-5 ), the following share transactions
were completed: @ 4, 825, 000 public and private rights were automatically converted to 482, 500 ordinary shares of AGBA. e
792, 334 ordinary shares of AGBA were issued to settle the outstanding payables. ® 555, 000 ordinary shares of AGBA were
issued to Apex Twinkle Limited as the finder fee in connection with the Business Combination. @ 53, 835, 000 ordinary shares
of AGBA were issued to TAG as consideration for the Business Combination and 1, 665, 000 ordinary shares, representing as 3
% holdback shares were reserved. InaddittontperrOrdinary Shares transactlons for the year e’:estﬂg—e-ﬁt-he—Bﬂsmess
€embm&ﬁeﬂ—puﬁﬁ&&He—ﬂ%e—teiﬁs-e-P&te—Frﬂ%h%me&ded=—ended v Artieles-of-Assoetation
December 31, 2023 (ii) On March 21, 2023 , the Company mefeased—rts—&ut-heﬂzed-lssued 2, 173 913 ordlnary shafe—shares
fremrto Apex Twinkle Limited to partially settle the finder fee payable. (iii) On May 22, 2023, the Company issued 946,
100 ordinary shares -0606;-666-to 266-the directors and officers of the Company under the Share Award Scheme (the “
Scheme ) for compensating the contributions of prior services and performance. These shares were approved and
granted previously in December 2022. (iv) On June 6 , 666-2023, the holdback shares of 1, 665 , 000 ordinary shares wwith
were fully released and issued. (v) On December S, 2023, the Company issued 600, 000 ordinary shares to Williamsburg,
an independent third party, as a parvalte-$-0-commitment fee under the equity purchase agreement dated September 7,
2023 . 96+—As-of(vi) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued 4, 900, 000 ordinary shares to
certain consultants to compensate their services rendered. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 68, 661, 998 and
58, 376, 985 ordinary shares issued and outstanding , respectively. Ordinary Shares To Be Issued (vii) On November 7,
2023, the Company entered into certain term sheets among and-- an institutional investor, the Company’ s Chief
Executive Officer, Mr. Ng Wing Fai, and the Company’ s management team for the private placement with an offering
price at $ 0. 70 per ordinary share. In December 2023, the Company consummated the private placement with an
independent institutional investor and received gross proceeds of $ 1, 665-850 ., 666-310 in exchange of (i) 2, 643, 300
ordinary shares , and (ii) warrants purchase up to 528, 660 ordinary shares at a purchase price of $ 0. 70 per ordinary
share. The warrants have an exercise price of $ 1. 00 per share and shall be exercised with more than $ 500, 000 per
tranche. (viii) In December 2023, the Company settled the accrued salary of $ 1. 43 million with an aggregate of 2, 210,
984 ordinary shares to the directors and officers of the Company at the current market price ranging from $ 0. 442 to $
0. 70 per share. Subsequently in February 2024, the Company issucd under435, 484 shares for the reserve-settlement of
the accrued salary . Publig Warrants Each public warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one- half (1 /2) of one ordinary

share at a price of $ 11. 50 per full Shdle subjed to ddjustment as discussed herein —"Phe—waffaﬂts-beea-me-e*efersab-}e%éays

exercise its warrants only foraw hole number of shares This means thdt only an even numbel of w dnants may be exercised at
any given time by a warrant holder. F- 3+-34 Once the warrants become exercisable, the Company may call the outstanding
warrants (including any outstanding warrants issued upon exercise of the unit purchase option issued to Maxim Group LLC) for
redemption: @ in whole and not in part; @ at a price of $ 0. 01 per warrant; ® upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of
redemption, e if, and only if, the last sales price of the ordinary shares equals or exceeds § 16. 50 per share for any 20 trading
days within a 30 trading day period ending three business days before the Company send the notice of redemption, and e if, and
only if, there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to the ordinary shares underlying such warrants at the time



of redemption and for the entire 30- day trading period referred to above and continuing each day thereafter until the date of
redemption. If the Company calls the warrants for redemption as described above, the management of the Company will have
the option to require all holders that wish to exercise warrants to do so on a “ cashless basis. ”” In such event, each holder would
pay the exercise price by surrendering the whole warrants for that number of ordinary shares equal to the quotient obtained by
dividing (x) the product of the number of ordinary shares underlying the warrants, multiplied by the difference between the
exercise price of the warrants and the “ fair market value ” (defined below) by (y) the fair market value. The * fair market value
” shall mean the average reported last sale price of the ordinary shares for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day
prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants. Whether the Company will exercise our
option to require all holders to exercise their warrants on a “ cashless basis ” will depend on a variety of factors including the
price of our ordinary shares at the time the warrants are called for redemption, the Company’ s cash needs at such time and
concerns regarding dilutive share issuances. Private Warrants The private warrants are identical to the public warrants, except
that the private warrants and the ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of the private warrants were not transferable,
assignable or salable until after the completion of the Business Combination, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally,
the private warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis and will be non- redeemable so long as they are held by the initial
purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the private warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their
permitted transferees, the private warrants will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same
basis as the public warrants. The private warrants are accounted as liabilities ;-and remeasured to fair value on a recurring basis,
with changes in fair value recorded #e-in the consolidated statements of operations (see Note 43-16 ). As of December 31, 2023
and 2022 and-2024-, there were 4, 600, 000 public warrants and 225, 000 private warrants outstanding. Warrant- Class A Each
warrant entitles the holder e%a—&ght—ts—at&ernat—tea-l—ky—eem*eﬁed—to purchase one- tenthfifth (1 / +6-5 ) of an-one ordinary share
at a price of $ 0 atton ot Yponr-70 per full share. The warrants will
be exercisable six months after the e}esmg—lssuance date for a perlod of Business-Combination;4;-825-five years after the
exercise date. The warrants have an exercise prlce of $ 1. 00 per share and shall be exercised with more than $ 500 , 000
per tranche righ : Feonverted . AS T—here—were—ne—eu’fst&ndmg
rights-as-of December 31, 2—92—2—2023 528, 660 warrants are to be 1ssued under Warrant- Class A, in connection with the
private placement . Forgiveness of Ameuﬁt—Amounts Due to Shareholder-the Holding Company During the year-years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, FAG-the holding company of the Company agreed to forgive the-Company-a debt of $ 12,
593 384 and $ 6 m-l-l-l-leﬁ- 000, 000, m aégreg"lte respectlvely representmg certain ameunt-amounts due to it and treat as

Share Award Scheme (—Immedlately

followmg the consummatlon of LSehenae’—)—te—reeeg-mze—t-he—ee-ntﬂbut-teﬁs—te—t-he—Bus1ness Combination by-the-eligible

g ed-mamber-of-the Company’ s shareholders approved the
Scheme, whlch became effectlve on September 14 2022 Subsequently, on February 24, 2023 the Company reglstered

fhe—yea-lkeﬂded-BeeembeHH@Q—Z—was%H{—per—share— The fdn value of the orddey shcues s_rdnted éuﬂ-ng—under the year

scheme is measured based on the closing price of the Company’ s ordinary shares as reported by Nasdaq Exchange on the date
of grant. For those ordinary shares vested immediately on the date of grant, the fair value is recognized as share- based
compensation expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. On May 22, 2023, the Company
issued 946, 100 ordinary shares to compensate the contributions of prior services and performance of the eligible
employees, directors and officers, which was approved and granted previously in December 2022. Restricted Share Units
(“ RSUs ”) In December 2022, the Company approved and granted S, 000, 000 ordinary shares as RSUs to employees
and consultants as additional compensation under the Scheme. These RSUs typically will be vested over one to four years
period from 2023 to 2026 . For the RSUs, the fair value is recognized over the period based on the derived service period
(usually the vesting period), on a straight- line basis. The valuations assume no dividends will be paid. The Company has
assumed 10 % forfeitures forrestrieted-share-units-. AtDuring the year ended December 31, 26222023 , the Company
recorded $ 1, 856, 732 share- based compensation expense, which is included in the personal and beneﬁt expenses in the



consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2023 , total unrecognized compensation
remaining to be recognized in future periods tetaed-$42-33-mithen-for RSUs and-totaled $ 1. 9 million. they-They are

expected to be Iecogmzed over the w elghted average peuod of2-1. —7—67 years —"Pheh@eﬁ%p&ﬂy—feeeféed—$—2,—98-8,—7—2§—sh&fe-

eonsolidated-statements-ofoperations-—. A summary of the dctl\ ities for the (ompany S RSUs as offer—t-he—ye&r—eﬂéeé
December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follow: ¥earended-As of December 31,2023 2022 Number of RSUs Weighted Average
Grant Price Number of RSUs Weighted Average Grant Price Outstanding, beginning of year -5, 000, 000 $ 2. 47 — $ —
Granted — $ — 5, 000, 000 $ 2. 47 Vested (346, 542) $ 2. 47 — $ — Forfeited (3, 343, 730) $ (2. 47) — $ — Outstanding, end
of year 1, 309, 728 $ 2. 47 5, 000, 000 § 2. 47 F- 33-36 NOTE 18 — OPERATING EXPENSES Commission Expense
Pursuant to the terms of respective contracts, commission expense represents certain premiums from insurance or
investment products paid to agents. Commission rates vary by market due to local practice, competition, and
regulations. The Company charged commission expense on a systematic basis that is consistent with the revenue
recognition. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $ 37, 287, 519 and $ 18, 823,
458 commission expenses, respectively. Personnel and Benefit Expense Personnel and benefit expense mainly consisted of
salaries and bonus paid and payable to the employees of the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company reversed the annual bonus of $ 3. 6 million that was already accrued for the year ended December 31, 2022.
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $ 27, 217, 822 and $ 21, 928, 504 personnel
and benefit expense, respectively. Legal and Professional Fees Legal and professional fees mainly consisted of certain
professional consulting services in legal, audit, accounting and taxation, and others. During the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $ 13, 601, 274 and $ 1, 265, 866 legal and professional fees, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $ 333, 332 and nil legal and professional
fees, related party, respectively. The Company incurred different types of expenditures under other general and
administrative expenses. They primarily consist of depreciation of property and equipment and management fee
expenses which are allocated for certain corporate office expenses. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Company recorded $ 9, 467, +6-146 —and $ 4, 905, 636 other general and admlmstratlve expenses, respectlvely F-
37 NOTE 19 — NET (—L()SS )—I—NGGM—E—PER SHARE As Omrth : e

ated-statements-ofchanges-tirsharcholde inee-the Company Ieponed anet loss for the ye&ﬁyears ended
Degember 31,2023 and 2022, 1t was required by ASC 26() to use basic weighted- average shares outstanding when calculating
diluted net loss per share for the year-years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, as the potential dilutive securities are anti-
dilutive. For the ¥ears-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2624-Numerator: Net £loss Hnreeme-attributable to the Company’
s shareholders §$ ( 49, 206, 019) $ (44, 520, 635) -$—96—46H2—3—Denommdt01 Weighted average erdinary-shares outstanding -
Basic and diluted 65, 265, 397 56, 084, 858 55;-500;-000-Diluted-56;,-084;-858-55;:-560;,-600-Net loss Hneeme-per share -
Basic and diluted $ (0. 75) $ (0. 79) -$—1—74—Bi-1-ufed—$—€9—7-99—$—1—74-F0r the syear-years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
diluted weighted average ordinary shares outstanding is equal to basic weighted average ordinary shares, due to the Company’ s
net loss position. Hence, no ordinary shares equivalents were included in the computation of diluted net loss per share since
such inclusion would have been antidilutive. The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding have been excluded from
the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding, because such securities had an antidilutive impact: Y-ears-ended
As of December 31, 2023 2022 2624+-Shares to be issued (Note 17):- 3 % Holdback shares — 1, 665, 000- Private
placement 2, 643, 300 —- Settlement of accrued salary 2, 210, 984 — Public and private warrants (Note +4-17 ) 4, 825, 000 =
4, 825, 000 Warrant — Class A (Note 17) 528, 660 — Shares award granted-outstanding (Note +5-17 ) 1, 309, 728 5, 946, 100
—8-Total 11 , 74-517, 672 12,436 , 100 —=NOTE 4720 — INCOME TAX EXPENSE The provision for income tax
expense consisted of the following: For the ¥ears-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2024+-Current tax $ 332,275 $ 118,
073 $23:565;445 Deferred tax (45, 737) 6, 532 —Income tax expense $ 286, 538 § 124, 605 $23:-565;445F-34-The effective
tax rate in the periods presented is the result of the mix of income earned in various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad range of
income tax rate. The Company’ s subsidiaries mainly operate in Hong Kong that are subject to taxes in the jurisdictions in which
they operate, as follows: British—VrgirIstands-The Company is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is not subject to
taxation. In addition, upon payments of dividends by these entities to their shareholder, no British Virgin Islands withholding tax
will be imposed. The Company’ s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong are subject to the Hong Kong prefits-Profits taxTax at
the income tax rates ranging from 8. 25 % to 16. 5 % on the assessable income arising in Hong Kong during its tax year. For
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Hong Kong profits tax is calculated in accordance with the two- tiered
profits tax rates regime. The applicable tax rate for the first HK $ 2 million of assessable profits is 8. 25 % and assessable
profits above HK $ 2 million will continue to be subject to the rate of 16. 5 % for corporations in Hong Kong, effective
from the year of assessment 2018 / 2019. F- 38 The reconciliation of income tax rate to the effective income tax rate based on
{loss Hreeme-before income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-are as follows: For the
Fears-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 %92—1—(—LOSS Yreeme-before income taxes $ ( 48, 919, 481) $ (44, 396, 030) $H9;
568;-968-Statutory income tax rate 16. 5 % 16. 5 % Income tax expense at statutory rate ( 8, 071, 714) (7, 325, 345) 95794;
$86-Income not subject to taxes ( 2, 563, 028) ( 71, 468 H4H5476-) Non- deductible items:- Share —based compensation 1, 853,
779 344, 640 — Investment loss sret-1, 135, 013 1, 474, 676 25837253~ Change in fair values — ef-warrant-habtlties-and



FSPHiabiity-888, 251 A ; 6 d tof 6 6 i
feeegmzed—l—e%—(—l%é—&?@)—Under (eveﬁ—provmon of prior years 220 570 31 284 (—3-8—Change in valuatlon allowance 7 732
939y Net-operatingloss2-, §95-994 4 | 822 733457 686-582 Tax holiday (21, 076) (21, 838) 23;862-Other — (18, 177) Hs
442-Income tax expense $ 286, 538 $ 124, 605 $23,-505,445-The following table sets forth the significant components of the
deferred tax liabilities and assets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 : As of December 31, 2023 2022 2624
Deferred tax liabilities: Accelerated depreciation $ — $ 45, 858 Deferred tax liabilities S —— $ 45, 858 As of December 31,
2023 2022 Deferred tax assets, net: Net operating loss carryforwards $ 8,909, 692 $ 5, 461, 370 2,483,436 ess: valuation
allowance ( 8,909, 692) (5, 461, 370) {2483;436)—Deferred tax Habilittes-assets , net : § — 45,8585 —As— The
movement of valuation allowance is as follows: For the years ended December 31, 2023 2022 and-Balance as of beginning
of the year $ (5, 461, 370) $ (2, 483, 436) Additions (3, 448, 322) (2, 977, 934) Balance as of end of the year $ (8, 909, 692) $
(5, 461, 370) As of December 31, 26242023 and 2022 , the operations incurred $ 54. 0 million and $ 33 —-mitherand-$15-.
1 million, respectively of cumulative net operating losses , which can be carried forward to offset future taxable income. Net
operating loss can be carried forward indefinitely , but cannot be carried back to prior years. There are no group relief provisions
for losses or transfers of assets under Hong Kong tax regime. Each company within a corporate group is taxed as a separate
entity. The Company has provided for a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets on the expected future tax
benefits from the net operating loss carryforwards as the management believes that it is more likely that not all of these assets
will be realized in the future. The valuation allowance is reviewed annually. F35-Uncertain tax positions The Company
evaluates the uncertain tax position (including the potential application of interest and penalties) based on the technical merits,
and measure the unrecognized benefits associated with the tax positions. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-, the
Company did not have any significant unrecognized uncertain tax positions. The Company did not incur any interest and
penalties related to potential underpaid income tax expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-262+-and
also did not anticipate any significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months from December
31,2022-2023 . F- 39 NOTE +48—21 — SEGMENT INFORMATION ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, establishes
standards for reporting information about operating segments on a basis consistent with the Company’ s internal organizational
structure as well as information about geographical areas, business segments and major customers in financial statements for
detailing the Company’ s business segments. Currently, the Company has four business segments comprised of the related
following products and services yas-fetews— Segments Scope of Business Activities Distribution Business Facilitating the
placement of insurance, investment, real estate and other financial products and services to our customers, through licensed
brokers, in exchange for initial and ongoing commissions received from product providers, including insurance companies, fund
houses and other product specialists. Platform Business- Providing access to financial products and services to licensed brokers.-
Providing operational support for the submission and processing of product applications.- Providing supporting tools for
commission calculations, customer engagement, sales team management, customer conversion, etc.- Providing training
resources and materials.- Facilitating the placemem of investment products for the fund and / or unsecured loans to
creditworthy customers. produety d ch ; ees— Providing the lending services
whereby the Company makes secured and / or un@ecured loans to credltworthy eustomerse-- customers. —and- Solicitation of
real estate sales for the developers— developer , in exchange for commissions . Fintech Business Managing an ensemble of
fintech investments Healthcare Business Managing an ensemble of healthcare - related nvestment-investments The four
business segments were determined based primarily on how the chief operating decision maker views and evaluates the
operations. Operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to
be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance. Other factors, including market separation and customer specific
applications, go- to- market channels, products and services are considered in determining the formation of these operating
segments. F- 36-40 The following tables present the summary information by segment for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 and-2621+: For the year ended December 31, 2023 Distribution Business Platform Business Fintech Business
Healthcare Business Total Revenue, net- Interest income $§ — $ 157,190 $ — $ — $ 157, 190- Non- interest income 48,
886, 928 5, 145, 069 — — 54, 031, 997 Total revenue, net 48, 886, 928 5, 302, 259 — — 54, 189, 187 Commission expense
35, 884,443 1, 403, 076 — — 37, 287, 519 Depreciation 1, 045 232, 479 27, 799 — 261, 323 Income (loss) from operations
5, 886, 741 (10, 531, 655) (39, 200, 408) — (43, 845, 322) Investment loss, net — — (6, 878, 869) — (6, 878, 869) Total
assets as of December 31, 2023 $ 16, 301, 055 $ 23, 546, 029 $ 26, 219, 352 $ 522, 531 $ 66, 588, 967 For the year ended
December 31, 2022 Distribution Business Platform Business Fintech Business Healthcare Business Total Revenue, net- Interest
income $ —$ 176, 175 $ — $——$ 176, 175- Non- interest income 24, 610, 309 6, 293, 743 4, 896 —— 30, 908, 948 Less:
inter- segment — (4, 896) — (4, 896) Total revenue, net 24, 610, 309 6, 469, 918 ———31, 080, 227 Commission
expense 16, 839, 870 1, 983, 588 ——— 18, 823, 458 Depreciation 884 391, 104 885 —— 392, 873 Loss from operations (4,
960, 505) (10, 767, 796) (12 622,796) — (28 351 097) lnveitment loss, net — (8 937,431) — (8, 937, 431) Total
assets as of 6 6 ended December 31,20624-2022
. ” A . . $3-596
556 198 $ 59 001 756 $ 38 140 822 $ 522 -$-—$—$—96—1— 557 $ 522——Nen-—tn’eerest—rneeme—9%9%§§—9%7—7%%6-—l—9—101 597-

$4—2%+9—399—A11 of the Company s Cuetomerq and opelatlon% are based in Hong Kong F 41 NOTE -1-9—22 — RELATED
PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS In support of the Company’ s efforts and cash requirements, it may rely on
advances from related parties until such time that the Company can support its operations or attains adequate financing through
sales of its equity or traditional debt financing. There is no formal written commitment for continued support by the shareholder.



Amounts represent advances or amounts paid in satisfaction of liabilities. Related party balances consisted of the following: As
of December 31, 2022-202+-Balance with related parties: Accounts receivable (a) $ 1, 094, 225 $ 272, 546 Borrowings (b) $

2385, -892—Nen—000 000 $ — Amounts due to the holdlng company (c) $ 2, 906 261 $ 6, 289, 743 Long term 1nvestment
marketable-equityseeurities— [nvestment E W 6
due-to-shareholder( b-d ) 6-$ 522 , 289-531 § 522 557 %ewab}e—&em—ﬂ&e—sh&fehe}def%%a) Accountq

receivable due from related parties represented the management service rendered to two individual close- ended investment
private funds registered in the Cayman Islands, which is controlled by the holding company. (b) Borrowing is obtained from
the Company’ s major sharcholder of ultimate holding company . The amount was secured, interest- bearing and
repayable by the end of March 2024 ( b-see Note 13 ) . (¢c) Ameunt-Amounts due to sharehelder-the holding company are
those trade-and-nontrade payables arising from transactions between the Company and the sharehelder-holding company , such
as advances made by the sharehelder-holding company on behalf of the Company, advances made by the Company on behalf
of the shafehe}éefholdlng company and allocated shared expense-expenses paid by the shareholder-holding company . 37
5 During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 , amounts due to the holding
company of $ 12. 6 million and $ 6. 0 million, respectively, were forgiven (see Note 17). (d) The Company purchased 4 %
equity interest in Investment E from a related party in May 2021 , based on historical cost. The Company has a common
director with Investment E. F- 42 In the ordinary course of business, during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
, the Company involved with transactions, either at cost or current market prices and on the normal commercial terms among
related parties. The following table provides the transactions with these parties for the pertods-years as presented (for the
portion of such period that they were considered related): For the years ended December 31, 2023 2022 202+TFransaetion-with

related parties:=-Asset management service income (e-e ) $ 970, 143 $ 969, 912 $-947-675-Management fee-income-—100,483
-I-nterest—rneen&e—en—debt—seeu%rﬁes—%@%—é%%—( ommission e*peﬁses— expense (ef ) — 48,398 -1-8—1—359—Redempﬁen—e-f

-I-ﬂves{-meﬁt—E-é%}—Z@—Pmchaqe of non- marketable equlty iecurlty — Inveqtment F ( e—g ) —09, 668 568 -—’Pfa-nsaeﬁeﬁ—wrt-h—t-he
hareholder—tnteres A ; Office rental and operating fee-fees eharge-( £h ) 6,
039, 520 3, 190 064 2—463%5—3—Gene1a1 and admlnlqtratlve expense allocated (gi) 1,724 2, 645, 731 867Legal and
professional fees (j) 333 , 267-332 — Purchase of investment from the sharehetder-holding company (hk ) — 6, 560, 122 -
Purchase of office building from the shareholder-holding company (+1 ) — 5, 995, 249 —Declaration of special dividends to the
sharehelder-holding company (+m ) $ — $ 47, 000, 000 $—e-e ) Under the management agreements, the Company shall
provide management service to the portfolio assets held by two individual close- ended investment private funds in the Cayman
Islands, which is controlled by the sharehelder-holding company , for a compensation of asset management service fee income
at the predetermined rate based on the respective portfolio of asset values invested by the final customers. ( &f ) Commission
fee on insurance brokerage and asset management referral at the predetermined rate based on the service fee. (e-g ) The
Company purchased 4 % equity interest in Investment F from a related party in October 2022, based on its historical carrying
amount. (£h ) Pursuant to the service agreement, the Company agreed to pay the office and eperating-administrative expenses
to the shareholder-holding company for the use of office premises, including, among other things, building management fees,
government rates and rent, office rent, and lease- related interest and depreciation that were actually incurred by the sharehelder
holding company . Also, the shareholder-holding company charged back the reimbursement of legal fee and debt collection
fee in the ordinary course of business. ( g1 ) Certain amounts of ether-general and administrative expenses were allocated by the
sharehotder-holding company . ( £j) On September 19, 2023, the Company entered into an advisory services agreement
with a related company, which owned by the Chairman of the Company, for a monthly fee of $ 83, 333. The service will
be terminated by either party upon 90 days prior written notice. (k ) The Company purchased 4, 158, 963 shares of
Investment A from the holding company sharcholderat-the-histerteatearrying-ameonnt-and the transaction was completed tron
April 20,2022 based on the historical cost to the holding company . (+1 ) The Company purchased an office premises
building from the shareholder-holding company in January 2022, based on its historical carrying amount. (Fm ) On January
18, 2022, TAC approved to declare and distribute a special dividend of $ 47 million to TAG Holdings Limited, the shareholder
who represented 1 ordinary share of TAC. The dividends were paid by offsetting the receivable due from the shareholder
amotuntedto-$29,-5655195-and the remaining balance was paid by cash. The special dividend distribution was made due to the
investment income from the sale of Nutmeg in September 2021. Apart from the transactions and balances detailed above and
elsewhere in these accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company kas-had no other significant or material
related party transactions during the years presented. F- 3843 NOTE 23 — 20——CONCENTRAHONS-OF-RISK Fhe-AND
UNCERTAINTIESThe Company is exposed to the following eeneentrattons-ofrisk and uncertainties : (a) Concentration
riskFor Major-eustomersFor-the year-years ended December 31,2023 and 2022, the customers who accounted for 10 % or
more of the Company’ s revenues and its outstanding receivable balances at year- end dates, are presented as follows: For the
Fear-year ended December 31, 2622-2023 As of December 31, 2022-2023 Customer Revenues Percentage of revenues
Accounts receivable Customer A $ 6-14 , 816-451 , 65222772 27 % $ 365-1 ., 844092, 414 Customer B $ 5, 8§23-960 , 66519
681 11 % $ 432-61 . 858-455 Customer C $ 5, 923,008 11 % $ 1, 634 For the year ended December 31, 20242022 As of
December 31 , 2022 there-was-no-single-eustomer-Customer whe-aeeounted-for1+0-Revenues Percentage of revenues
Accounts receivable Customer D $ 6, 816, 652 22 %, ormore-of the-Company—sreventes—$ 305, 841 Customer A §$ 5, 823,
065 19 % $ 432, 858 All of the Company’ s major customers are located in Hong Kong. (b) Credit risk Financial instruments
that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts and-receivable,
loans reeetvables— receivable, and notes receivable . Cash equivalents are maintained with high credit quality institutions, the
composition and maturities of which are regularly monitored by management. The Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board pays
compensation up to a limit of HK $ 500, 000 (approximately $ 64, 050) if the bank with which an individual / a company hold




its eligible deposit fails. As of December 31, 20222023 , cash and cash equivalents of $ 6-1 . 49 million and fund held in
escrow of $ 29-16 . 5-8 million were maintained at financial institutions in Hong Kong, of which approximately $ 34-18 . 72
million was subject to credit risk. While management believes that these financial institutions are of high credit quality, it also
continually monitors their credit worthiness. For accounts and-receivable, loans reeetvables—- receivable, and notes receivable ,
the Company determines, on a continuing basis, the probable losses and sets up an allowance for expected credit doubtful
aeeounts-andloan-losses based on the estimated realizable value. Credit of money lending business is controlled by the
application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. F- 44 The Company uses internally- assigned risk grades to
estimate the capability of borrowers to repay the contractual obligations of their loan agreements as scheduled or at all. The
Company’ s internal risk grade system is based on experiences with similarly graded loans and the assessment of borrower
credit quality, such as, credit risk scores, collateral and collection history. Individual credit scores are assessed by credit bureau,
such as TransUnion. Internal risk grade ratings reflect the credit quality of the borrower, as well as the value of collateral held as
security. To minimize credit risk, the Company requires collateral arrangements to all mortgage loans and has policies and
procedures for validating the reasonableness of the collateral valuations on a regular basis. Management believes that these
policies effectively manage the credit risk from advances. The Company’ s third- party customers that represent more than 10 %
of total combined loans reeetvables— receivable . and their related net loans reeetvables— receivable balance as a percentage of
total combined loans reeetvables— receivable . as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and262+-were as follows: As of December
31,2023 2022 262+-Customer E €-59-6-%-CustomerbB-37 .—4—%—15—. 3 % 37 €ustemerE3+. 4 6%13-0-% Customer F 30. 9
% 31. 6 % Customer G 31. 8 % 31. 0 %+2-6-"% (c) Economic and political risk The Company’ s major operations are
conducted in Hong Kong. Accordingly, the political, economic, and legal environments in Hong Kong, as well as the general
state of Hong Kong’ s economy may influence the Company’ s business, financial condition, and results of operations. £-39-(d)
Exchange rate risk The Company cannot guarantee that the current exchange rate will remain steady —; Fherefore-therefore ;
there is a possibility that the Company could post the same amount of profit for two comparable periods and because of the
fluctuating exchange rate actually post higher or lower profit depending on exchange rate of HKD converted to US $ and
Sterhng on that date The exchange rate could fluctuate dependrng on changes in pohtrcal and economic envrronments without

L1qu1d1ty risk L1qu1d1ty rrsk is the risk that the Company W111 not be able to meet its ﬁnancral obhgatrons as they become due.
The Company’ s policy is to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet its liabilities when they become due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’ s reputation. A key risk in
managing liquidity is the degree of uncertainty in the cash flow projections. If future cash flows are fairly uncertain, the
liquidity risk increases. F- 45 NOTE 2+—24 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Litigation — From time to time,
the Company is involved in various legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. However, the Company
currently is not aware of any legal proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, operating results, or cash flows. As at-of December 31, 26222023 , the
Company involved in the following legal proceedings: —Action Case: HCA702 /2018 On March 27, 2018, the writ of summons
was 1ssued agarnst the Company and seven related companres of the former shareholder by the Plarntrff On Thts—aeﬁeﬂ—&l-}eged

-Beeeﬂaber—3—l,—292—2,—1ﬂ—F ebruary 23, 2023, the Court granted leave for thrs action be set down for trial of 13 days, Whteh—and the
period-has-yet-to-be-fixed-trial will commence on November 25, 2024 . [ cgal counsel of the Company will continue to handle
in this matter. At this stage in the proceedings, #-the Company is unable to determine the probability of the outcome of the
matter or the range of reasonably possible loss, if any. Action Case: HCA765 /2019 On April 30, 2019, the writ of summons
was issued against the Company’ s subsidiary, three related companies and the former directors, shareholders and financial
consultant by the Plaintiff. This action alleged the-deceit and misrepresentation from an inducement of the fund subscription and
claimed for compensatory damage of approximately $ 2 million (equal to HK $ 17. 1 4millien— million ). The case is on- going
and parties have yet to attempt mediation. Legal counsel of the Company swill-eentinte-continues to handle #rthis matter. At
this stage in the proceedings, #t-the Company is unable to determine the probability of the outcome of the matter or the range of
reasonably possible loss, if any. Action Case: HCA2097 and 2098 / 2020 On December 15, 2020, the writs of summons were
issued against the Company and the former consultant by the Plaintiff. This action alleged the misrepresentation and conspiracy
causing the loss from the investment in corporate bond and claimed for compensatory damage of approximately $ 1. 67 million
(equal to HK $ 13 million). The Company previously made $ 0. 84 million as contingency loss for the year ended December 31,
2021. Parties participated in a mediation held on March 25, 2022 and negotiated for settlement through without prejudice
correspondence, no settlement was reached. Fhere-—-- The case is aﬂ—ttp-—eerﬂ-tﬂg—ease—maﬂagemeﬂt—he&ﬂﬂg—o - going July25;
2623-and legal counsel of the Company will continue to handle this matter. At this stage in the proceedings, #+-the Company is
unable to determine the probability of the outcome of the matter or any-farther-petential-the range of reasonable possible loss,
if any. F-Action Case: HCA1957 / 2023 On December 15, 2023, the Company received an order from the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, demanding the Company to pay and settle the outstanding rent / mesne
profit, management fees, air - conditioning charges, additional air- conditioning charges, government rates and interest
in an aggregated amount of $ 1, 383, 424 (equivalent to HK $ 10, 799, 560) to the landlord of the office premises in four
instalments scheduled from January 15, 2024 to March 31, 2024 together with legal costs of $ 6, 46-405 (equivalent to HK
$ 50, 000). The Company makes a provision for a-the liability relating to legal matters when it is both probable that a liability
has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least each fiscal
quarter and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, estimate settlements, legal rulings, advice of legal counsel and other
information and events pertaining to a particular matter. Legal fees are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.



Forward-Share-F- 46 Sale and Purchase Agreement — Pursuant to the MeteoraBaekstop-Agreement-agreement dated April 5,
2023, entered with Sony Life Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“ SLS ), an independent third party , the Company is committed to
purchase #p-100 % equity interest in Sony Life Financial Advisers Pte. Ltd. for a cash consideration of SGD2, 500, 000
(equivalent to $ 1, 882, 000). On December 28, 2023, the Company and SLS entered into a second supplementary
agreement to extend the closing date of the transaction from December 31, 2023 to March 31, 2024. Nasdaq Compliance
— On September 20, 2023, the Company received a written notice (the “ Notice ) from Nasdaq, notifying that the
Company had publicly traded under $ 1. 00 per share for a period of 30 consecutive trading days or more, which failed
to comply with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550 (a) (2 ) and Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810 (c) (3) (A). The Notice had no
immediate effect but , before March 18, 2024, the Company was required to regain compliance by trading at least $ 1.
566-- 00 per ;-666-shares— share for a minimum of 10 consecutive trading days. Otherwise, after the date, subject to other
requirements and conditions, the Company may proceed to delisting procedures. As of the date of the consolidated
financial statements, the Company is still consecutively trading under $ 1. 00, directors of the Company are investigating
actions, where appropriate, to regain the compliance, by March 18, 2024. On March 20, 2024, Nasdaq has granted an
additional 180 calendar days period or until September 16, 2024, to the Company to regain the compliance. NOTE 25 —
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS On January 3, 2024, the Company received a written notice from Nasdaq, notifying that the
Company had not maintained a minimum Market Value of Listed Securities (“ MVLS ) of at least $ 35 million, which
failed to comply with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550 (b) (2). The Notice had no immediate effect but, before July 1, 2024, the
Company was required to regain compliance by having a minimum MVLS of at least $ 35 million for 10 consecutive
trading days. Otherwise, after the date, subject to other requirements and conditions, the Company may proceed to
delisting procedures. As of the date of the consolidated financial statements, the Company was granted by Nasdaq with
an additional 180 days, by September 16, 2024 to regain the compliance. On February 5, 2024, the Company entered into
a purchase and sale agreement with an independent third party to sell all of its equity interest in Investment F for a
consideration of $ 2. 15 million. This transaction was completed on February 19, 2024. On February 26, 2024, the
Company issucd and-outstanding-1, 723, 744 ordinary shares to fromrMeteorainnine-months-following-the €losing-directors
and officers of Business-Combination{seeNote-4)-the Company to compensate the services and performance at the
current market prices . NOTE-On March 12, 2024 and March 22 —SUBSEQUENTEVENTS-, 2024, the Company issued
2,000, 000 and 105, 615 ordinary shares to certain consultants to compensate their services rendered at the current
market price, respectively. On March 22, 2024, the Company issued 1, 900, 000 ordinary shares to certain employees and
advisor of the Company to compensate the services and performance at the current market price. [n accordance with ASC
Topic 855, “Subsequent Events 2~ which establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur
after the bdldnce sheet date but betme the consolidated financial statements are issued, the Company has evaluated all events or
tmnsactlons that ocuured after December 31, %922—2023 up to the ddte that the audlted consolidated financial statements were

PARENT ONLY FINAN( IAL INF()RMATION The Company pen‘ormed a test on the 1est11eted net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S- X Rule 5- 04 and concluded that it was
applicable for the Company to disclose the financial statements for AGBA Group Holding Limited, the parent company. The
Company did not have significant capital and other commitments, long- term obligations, or guarantees as of December 31, 2023
and 2022. Certain information and footnote disclosures generally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with

U. S (JAAP have been Condensed and omltted F—%ﬁFefmeﬂy—lﬁaeﬂraﬁ%GBMeqbﬂst&eﬂ—Eﬁﬂ&ed)N@?ES@@JPHE

e-Ps-h&fes)—The following plesents eondensed parent company only hndncml mfounatlon of AGBA (Jroup Holdmo lelted
Condensed balance sheet-sheets As of December 31, 2023 2022 ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 129, 660
$ 85, 955 Restricted cash — 15, 356, 580 Amounts due from the holding company 133, 070 — Amounts due from
subsidiaries 908, 811 — Deposit, prepayments, and other receivables 4583, 620 1, 715 Total current assets 1, 625, 161 15, 444,
250 Non- current assets: Investments in subsidiaries 13 13 Total non- current assets 13 13 TOTAL ASSETS $1, 625,174 § 15,
444,263 LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT Current liabilities: Other pasables— payable and accrued liabilities
$3,738,639 8 6,577,351 Amounts due to subsidiaries 13 13 Amounts due to the related companies — 1, 327, 107 Forward
share purchase liability — 13, 491, 606 Total current liabilities 3, 738, 652 21, 396, 077 Long- term liabilities: Warrant
liabilities — 4, 548 Total long- term liabilities — 4, 548 TOTAL LIABILITIES 3, 738, 652 21, 400, 625 Commitments and
contingencies —(Note 24) Shareholders’ deficit: Ordinary shares, $ 0. 001 par value; 200, 000, 000 shares authorized, 68, 661,
998 and 58, 376, 985 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 68, 662 58, 377 Ordinary
shares to be issued 4, 854 1, 665 Additional paid- in capital 19, 507, 136 1, 867, 335 Accumulated deficit (21, 694, 130) (7, 883,
739) Total shareholders’ deficit (2, 113, 478) (5, 956, 362) TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT §$ 1, 625,




174 $ 15, 444, 263 F- 42-48 Condensed Statement-Statements of Operation-Operations For the year-years ended December 31,
2023 2022 Operating cost and expenses: Share- based compensation expense $ (9, 932, 762) $ ( 2, 088, 725) Other general and
administrative expenses (3, 764, 618) (479, 407) Total operating cost and expenses ( 13, 697, 380) (2, 568, 132) Loss from
operations ( 13, 697, 380) ( 2, 568, 132) Other income (expense): Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 4, 548 8, 952

Change in fair value of forward share purchase liability ( 82, 182) (5, 392, 293) Loss on settlement of forward share
purchase agreement (378, 895) — Sundry income 343, 518 67, 734 Total other expense, net (113, 011) (5, 315, 607) Loss
before income taxes (13, 810, 391) (7, 883, 739) Income tax expense —— NET LOSS $ (13, 810,391) $ ( 7, 883, 739) ¥
43-Condensed Statement of Cash Flows For the year-years ended December 31, 2023 2022 Cash flows from operating
activities: Net loss $ (13, 810, 391) $ ( 7, 883, 739) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Share- based compensation expense 9, 932, 762 2, 088, 725 Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (4, 548) (8, 952) Change
in fair value of forward share purchase liability 82, 182 5, 392, 293 Loss on settlement of forward share purchase agreement
378, 895 — Change in operating assets and liabilities: Deposits, prepayments, and other receivables ( 17, 035) ( 1, 715) Other
payables and accrued liabilities 1, 161, 288 (839, 181) Net cash used in operating activities (2, 276, 847) (1, 252, 569) Cash
flows from financing activities: (Repayment to) Advanees-advances from related companies (933, 655) 1, 338, 524 Settlement
of forward share purchase agreement (13, 952, 683) — Proceeds from private placement 1, 850, 310 — Cash proceeds
from dueto-reverse recapitalization , net of redemption — 15, 356, 580 Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
(13, 036, 028) 16, 695, 104 Net change in cash, cash equivalent and restricted cash (15, 312, 875) 15, 442, 535 BEGINNING OF
YEAR —15, 442,535 — END OF YEAR $ 129,660 $ 15, 442, 535 As of December 31, 2023 2022 Reconciliation to amounts
on consolidated balance sheets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 129, 660 $ 85, 955 Restricted cash — 15, 356, 580 Total cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash $ 129, 660 $ 15, 442, 535 AGBA—Gfeﬂp—I-Ie-}dmg—I:td—()O 0000006£atse-000000065265397 0. 75
0. 7965265397 0. 75 0. 79false F¥2622-FY2023 - 01- 01 2023- 12- 31agba: OrdinaryShares0001ParValueMember2023- 01-
01 2023- 12- 31agba:
WarrantsEachWarrantExercisableForOnehalfOfOneOrdinaryShareFor1150PerFullShareMember2023- 01- 01 2023-
12- 312023- 06- 302024- 03- 262023- 12- 312022- 12- 31us- gaap: RelatedPartyMember2023- 12- 31us- gaap:
RelatedPartyMemberZOZZ 12- 312022 - 01- 01 2022 -4%-—34%92%—94—93%92%—93—}9%92%-4%-—34%9%}-4%-—34%9%}—%
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e-symbeols an W hibi SGDExhlblt 2 1 List of Sle%ldldllCSNdnlL of
subsidiary Back(*lound Effective ownership TAG lnlunallonal Lmnud (““ TIL ) @ British Virgin Islands company -
Investmentheolding-100 % owned by AGBA e Investment holding TAG Asset Partners Limited (“ TAP ) @ British Virgin
[slands company etavestmenthetding-100 % owned by TIL e Investment holding OncPlatform International Limited (* OIL
) e HongKong Heﬂg—léeﬂg—uompanv s Investmenthelding-100 % owned by TAP e Investment holding TAG Asia Capital
Holdings Limited (*“ TAC ™) e British Virgin Islands company eJnvestmenthetding-100 % owned by AGBA e Investment
holding OnePlatform Wealth Management Limited (“ OWM ) e HongKong Heng¥eng-company 99. 89 % owned by OIL e
Provision of insurance and mandatory provident fund schemes brokerage services 99—89-OnePlatform International Property
Limited (“ OIP ”) ¢ HongKong company 100 % owned by OIL OnePlatformInternationalProperty Limited (-0
HongKongeompany-e Provision of overseas real estate brokerage services OnePlatform Asset Management Limited (“

OAM ”) e HongKong company 100 % owned by OIL OnePlatformAsset ManagementEimited-(OAM>)-o Licensed by the

Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong eempany-e Provision of investment advisory, funds dealing, introducing




broker, and asset management services Kerberos (Nominee) Limited (“ KNL ) ¢ HongKong company 100 % owned by
OAM e Provision of escrow services Maxthree Limited (“ Maxthree ”) e British Virgin Islands company 100 % owned
by OIL kerberos-Nominee}-o Investment holding OnePlatform Credit Limited (“ KNE-OCL ) e HongKong Hengkeng
company e-Previsten-efeserow-serviees-100 % owned by OAM-Maxthree ® Registered under the Hong Kong Money
Lenders Ordinance e Provision of money lending services Hong Kong Credit Corporation Limited (** Maxthree HKCC ”)
e HongKong company 100 % owned by OCL e Registered under the Hong Kong Money Lenders Ordinance e
Prov1s1on of money lendmg services Trendy Reach Holdmgs L1m1ted (« TRHL ’) @ British Virgin lshnds compdny -

-}eﬁd-mg—seﬁﬂees—l()() % ow ned by Maxthree Heﬂg—Keﬂg—Gred-rt—Gerpef&tteﬁ—o Investment holdlng Profit V1s1on Limited (*

HKEEPVL ”) e Hong Kong company ePrevistenref meneylendingserviees-100 % owned by O€ETFrendyReach- TRHL o
Property 1nvestment -He}ehﬂgs—~ holdlng TAG Technologles lelted ( SHH-I-L—TAGTL ’) @ British Vlrgm Islands company

{-nvestmeﬂt—rn—ﬁnaﬂeia{—teehﬂe}egy—busmess—l()() % ow ned by TAC e Investment in ﬁnanclal technology busmess AGBA
Group Limited (“ AGL ) e« HongKong Heng¥eng-company 100 % owned by TAGTL e Operating as cost center for the

Company Tandem Fintech Limited (“ TFL ) ¢ HongKong company 100 % owned by TAC TAGTETandemFinteeh

e Operating an online insurance comparison platform AGBA Innovation Limited (*
AGBA Innovation ) ¢ HongKong company 100 % owned by OIL FAC-AGBAInnevationtimited-(“AGBAInnevation)
+Hongkong-eompany-® No operations since inception FinLiving Limited (“ FLL ) « HongKong company 100 % owned
by AGBA Innovation OH=FinkivingEimited-e-HongKong-eompany-e No operations since inception +66-%-ewned-by
Exhibit 23. 1 AGBA Group Holding Limited fnnovationExhibit23—+Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S- 1 (No. 333- 271456) and
Form S- 8 (No. 333-270016) of AGBA Group Holding Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively the “ Company ), of our
report dated Aprit-3-March 28 , 2023-2024 , which appears in the Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No.: 001- 38909) filed
with the U. S. Securities Exchange Commission (“ SEC ) on Apri3-March 28 , 2623-2024 , with respect to the consolidated
balance sheet-sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss yreeme-, changes in shareholder’ s equity, and cash flows for the two- year period ended December
31,2622-2023 , and the related notes included herein. /s / WWC, P. C. San Mateo, California WWC, P. C. Apri-3-March 28 ,
%92—3—2024 Cemhed Publlc Accountdnts PCAOB ID No. 1 171Exhlb1t 26 %%H%BEP—E—N—BENT—REGI—STE—RE—B—P—U-BHG

Group Holdmg Lumted eﬁ—-Fefm For the Perlod October 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 None Use the checkbox to
indicate if any officer or director reporting pursuant to Sectlon 16 (a) of the Exchange Act (15 U S -S—Fl-}e—Ne— 3—3—3—
27061+6-0fC. 78p (a)) purchased our-- or sold shares or rep 3 ata paragraph
as-to-the-other Company-units of the class of the registrant ' s abrl-rty—equlty securltles that are reglstered pursuant to
eontinue-section 12 of the Exchange Act and subject of a publicly announced plan or program within four (4) business
days before or after the registrant’ s announcement of such repurchase plan or program or the announcement of an
increase of an existing share repurchase plan or program. 0 Execution Date Class of Shares Total Number of Shares
Purchased Average Price Paid per Share Total Number of Shares Purchased as part of Publicly Announced Plans or
Programs Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under Publicly Announced Plans or
Programs Total Number of Shares Purchased on the Open Market Total Number of Shares Purchased that are Intended
to Quahfy for the Safe Harbor in Rule 10b 18 Total Number of Shares Purchased Pursuant to a Plan that gemg—eeﬂeern—

pfeeedures—vvt&rrespeet—to Satlsfy aﬂy—ﬁﬂaneml—statemeﬁtsmeﬂaerated—byfefefeﬁee-feﬁhe Affirmatlve Defense Condltlons
pertods-after-the-date-of etr-dismissal—Rule 10b5- 1¢----——-- Exhibit 31. 1 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 28082F- 2002 T, Wing Fai NG, certify
that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of AGBA Group Holding Limited; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a. Designed such
disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c¢. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s



disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any
change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a. All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb. Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting. Date: Apri-3-March 28 , 2023B¥2024By : / s / Wing Fai NG Name: Wing Fai NG
Title: Group Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director (Principal Executive Officer) Exhibit 31. 2 CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFcERE-- OFFICER I, Shu Pei Huang, Desmond, certify that: Date: Aprd-3-March 28 | 2623-2024
By: / s/ Shu Pei Huang, Desmond Name: Shu Pei Huang, Desmond Title: Acting Group Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer) Exhibit 32. 1 PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report of AGBA Group Holding Limited (the “
Company ) on Form 10- K for the period ended December 31, 2622-2023 (the “ Report ), Wing Fai NG, Group Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, pursuant to 18 U. S. C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: a. The Report fully complies with
the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; andb. The information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. The foregoing
certification is being furnished solely pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of
section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of a separate disclosure document. Exhibit
32. 2 In connection with the Annual Report of AGBA Group Holding Limited (the “ Company ’) on Form 10- K for the period
ended December 31, 2022-2023 (the “ Report ), Shu Pei Huang, Desmond, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to
the best of his knowledge, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act
0f 2002, that: Exhibit 97. 1 AGBA GROUP HOLDING LIMITED [ “ the Company ” ]| CLAWBACK POLICY
Introduction The Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”) believes that it is in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders [ to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that
reinforces the Company’ s pay- for- performance compensation philosophy. The Board has therefore adopted this policy
which provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in the event of an accounting restatement resulting
from material noncompliance with financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws (the “ Policy ).
This Policy is designed to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “ Exchange Act ). This
Policy shall be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, the Compensation Committee, in which case
references herein to the Board shall be deemed references to the Compensation Committee. Any determinations made by
the Board shall be final and binding on all affected individuals. Covered Executives This Policy applies to the Company’
s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Board in accordance with Section 10D of the Exchange Act
and the listing standards of the national securities exchange on which the Company’ s securities are listed, and such
other senior executives / employees who may from time to time be deemed subject to the Policy by the Board | (“ Covered
Executives ”). Recoupment; Accounting Restatement In the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting
restatement of its financial statements due to the Company’ s material noncompliance with any financial reporting
requirement under the securities laws, the Board will require reimbursement or forfeiture of any excess Incentive
Compensation received by any Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the
date on which the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement. Incentive Compensation For purposes of
this Policy, Incentive Compensation means any of the following; provided that, such compensation is granted, earned, or
vested based wholly or in part on the attainment of a financial reporting measure: ® Annual bonuses and other short-
and long- term cash incentives. ® Stock options. e Stock appreciation rights. e Restricted stock. e Restricted stock units.
o Performance shares. ® Performance units. Financial reporting measures include: ® Company stock price. ® Total
shareholder return. ® Revenues. ® Net income. ® Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
(EBITDA). e Earnings per share. @ “ Non- GAAP financial measures > for purposes of Exchange Act Regulation G and
17CFR 229. 10. Excess Incentive Compensation: Amount Subject to Recovery The amount to be recovered will be the
excess of the Incentive Compensation paid to the Covered Executive based on the erroneous data over the Incentive
Compensation that would have been paid to the Covered Executive had it been based on the restated results, as
determined by the Board. If the Board cannot determine the amount of excess Incentive Compensation received by the
Covered Executive directly from the information in the accounting restatement, then it will make its determination
based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting restatement. Method of Recoupment The Board will
determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recouping Incentive Compensation hereunder which may include,
without limitation: (a) requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive Compensation previously paid; (b) seeking recovery of
any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer, or other disposition of any equity- based awards; (c)
offsetting the recouped amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive; (d))
cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and / or (e) taking any other remedial and recovery action
permitted by law, as determined by the Board. No Indemnification The Company shall not indemnify any Covered
Executives against the loss of any incorrectly awarded Incentive Compensation. Interpretation The Board is authorized



to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the
administration of this Policy. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the
requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any national securities exchange on which the Company’ s securities are listed. Effective Date
This Policy shall be effective as of the date it is adopted by the Board (the “ Effective Date ) and shall apply to Incentive
Compensation that is approved, awarded or granted to Covered Executives on or after that date. Amendment;
Termination The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems
necessary to reflect final regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 10D of the
Exchange Act and to comply with any rules or standards adopted by a national securities exchange on which the
Company’ s securities are listed. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time. Other Recoupment Rights The Board
intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Board may require that any employment
agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement entered into on or after the Effective Date shall, as a condition
to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Executive to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any
right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment
that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity
award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company. Impracticability The
Board shall recover any excess Incentive Compensation in accordance with this Policy unless such recovery would be
impracticable, as determined by the Board in accordance with Rule 10D- 1 of the Exchange Act and the listing standards
of the national securities exchange on which the Company’ s securities are listed. Successors This Policy shall be binding
and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal
representatives.



